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We accomplished many of our goals
in fiscal 2005 and believe the
-Company is positioned for continued
progress in fiscal 2006.

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

Last year we stated that our primary objective was to restore Tommy Hilfiger to a high-
growth, high-return company. While we still have a significant amount to accomplish,
this goal remains firmly in place. In fiscal 2005, we made considerable strides in achiev-
ing many of our objectives, including growing our European business, restructuring the
U.S. wholesale operation, reinvigorating our product assortment, and evolving the
Company into a multi-brand, multi-channel enterprise. These steps are crucial to pasi-

tioning the Company for improved operating performance over the long term.

EUROPE: SOLID MARKET POSITIONING

One of our biggest success stories is our European division, where we continue to
experience significant growth. In fiscal 2005, Europe grew at a very solid clip, as
evidenced by an approximate 21% revenue increase in constant currency.

Growth continues to be multi-dimensional, fueled by revenue increases in new
and existing wholesale accounts, an expanding retail base, and penetration in
underserved markets such as Eastern Europe, Russia, France, and Scandinavia.
Germany and Spain remain our largest markets, accounting for approximately 40% of
our European sales.

In April 2005, we purchased our ltalian distributor so that we would be better
positioned to grow our presence in Italy. We believe there is a tremendous opportuni-
ty to capture increased share in both the retail and wholesale segments in this market.

We expect Tommy Hilfiger Europe to remain a primary growth vehicle in the
upcoming year, as we benefit from premium brand positioning, a pan-European distri-

bution strategy and a highly experienced management team.

UNITED STATES: STEPS TO RESTORE GROWTH
A well-defined quality and value equation has contributed 1o the stronger performance
in our U.S. Company stores. These stores produced positive same store comparables
beginning in the third fiscal quarter, after several consecutive years of comparable store
declines. We repositioned their merchandise mix by eliminating the young men's and
juniors’ departments, while intensifying the men's and women's assortments. We also
improved inventory management so that goods are flowing more quickly to the sales
floor. We expect these actions will continue to result in healthy margins and strong cash
flows in fiscal 20086.

We recognize that a turnaround in the U.S. wholesale business has taken longer
than we originally expected. Nonetheless, we've made numerous changes, which

we expect will improve our performance. We appointed Lynn Shanahan, a 14-year
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Licensing. As a result, all relevant functions of the U.S. wholesale department store
business — from product design to production to marketing to retail account services
to domestic licensing — now directly fall under this position. We believe that this oper-
ating model, which closely, mirrors the successful business structures in our European
and Canadian divisions, will result in greater efficiencies, improved customer relations,
increased accountability and, ultimately, increased profitability.

As previously announced, we closed the Young Men's Jeans division as of Fall
2005. Our decision reflects the stronger market demand for more sophisticated pre-
mium denim washes rather than promotional commodity jeans. We will concentrate our
denim offering in the Men’s Sportswear division. Men's sportswear will be comprised
of an integrated offering of three collections — casual sportswear, denim, and dress
casual, )

Additionally, we plan to launch Crest for women, a new dress casual collection,
in Spring 2006. We believe this product line will offer a tremendous opportunity to
meet our customers’ needs, which are not presently addressed by our Tommy Hilfiger

casual collection.

IMPROVED OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCIES

During the year, we announced the appointment of Bob Rosenblatt to the position of
Chief Operating Officer iand Group President. With 25 years experience in the
retail business, Bob is a terrific addition to our team and great partner for us. He is
focused on creating an éfficient operating and sourcing platform to support disci-
plined and profitable future growth. Bob is also leading our efforts to develop and test

new retail concepts.

Tommy Hilfiger Europe
is positioned to achieve
increased market share
and growth over the
next several years.

We have taken many steps to improve operating efficiencies throughout the year.
The Company closed its' Secaucus, New Jersey, distribution facility both to reduce
excess capacity and to concentrate operations within distribution facilities that are in
close proximity to each other. In addition, we relocated and consolidated the majority
of our employees within New York City — design, production, merchandising, market-
ing and administrative functions — into the historic Starrett-Lehigh building. We believe

this will improve efficiency, creativity and collaboration among teams.
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In the second half of fiscal 2005, we also took measures to better align the
expense infrastructure of the U.S. wholesale business with its current revenue base.
We expect this streamlining, along with the new operating model in the U.S. wholesale
division, will result in approximately $40 million of cost savings in fiscal 2006. These
savings will be somewhat offset by our investment in retail stores for H Hilfiger and the

development of the Karl Lagerfeld brand.

FOCUS ON NEW BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

In January 2005, we acquired the Karl Lagerfeld trademarks and business. This is an
important first step in our global expansion plan towards becoming a multi-brand, multi-
channel enterprise. Our goal is to formally introduce the Lagerfeld brands in the U.S.
during the second half of fiscal 2006. We believe the strength of the Lagerfeld name,
combined with the power of our operational infrastructure, will enable the Company to
penetrate multiple product categories within the upscale apparel segment over the
next several years,

In reviewing our brand strategy, it became evident that the H Hilfiger line was not
appropriately positioned within the department store channel. Within our own retail
stores, this upscale line has been successful due to the control we exert over the
assortment, sales staff and store environment. Therefore, we have decided to position
H Hilfiger as a specialty store concept. H Hilfiger is part of an overall strategy to test
various retail formats — between 5 and 10 stores — in the second half of fiscal 2006.
We expect to rollout retail stores in a totally different way than we have done in the

past. We have a clear focus on smaller farmats, differentiated product, and have pro-

We are committed to
reconnecting with the core
Tommy Hilfiger customer
and delivering product
that epitomizes “fresh
American style’

vided for capital investments and occupancy costs that will be consistent with a long-
term and profitable, retail growth strategy.

In Fall 2004, we made our initial foray into the world of e-commerce with the
launch of a micro site featuring watches, golf apparel and fragrance. We have since
launched a new comprehensive e-commerce site with a much broader assortment of
wholesale and licensing product. We are optimistic that e-commerce can be an impor-

tant contributor to both revenue and profit over the next several years.



U.S. ATTORNEY INVESTIGATION
In late September 2004, the Company learned that the U.S. Attorney's Office
(*USAQ") had commenced an investigation into Tommy Hilfiger USA (“THUSA"), a
wholly owned subsidiary’ of Tommy Hilfiger Corporation (“THC"). The investigation
focused on the appropriateness of the buying office commission rate paid by THUSA
to a non-USA subsidiary iof the Company. We were pleased to announce in August
2005 that the Company had executed a non-prosecution agreement with the USAQ,
which concluded that criminal charges were not warranted, and therefore, the investi-
gation was concluded. In connection with this resolution, THUSA agreed, among other
things, to file amended tax returns for four years reflecting a reduced buying office
commission rate and paid the IRS approximately $18.1 million of additional taxes and

interest.

FISCAL 2005 FINANCIAL RESULTS
We are pleased to enclose a copy of our annual report on Form10-K, which includes

our financial results for fiscal 2005.

H Hilfiger specialty

store concept will serve
as the blueprints for
important growth vehicles
in the years ahead.
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ENHANCING SHAREHOLDER VALUE

As we look ahead to fiscal 20086, our priorities are clear. We will allocate resources to
sustain the positive momentum in Europe, to position the U.S. wholesale business
for growth, to expand our retail presence, including new store concepts, to further
develop the e-commerce platform, and to build our Karl Lagerfeld business.

We would like to thank each of our employees for their hard work, dedication and
commitment during this challenging period. Their efforts have been critical to the suc-
cess of the initiatives that we have implemented this year. And to our shareholders, your

continued support has been truly appreciated.

Sincerely,
DAVID F. DYER THOMAS J. HILFIGER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFIGER AND PRESIDENT HONORARY CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND

PRINCIPAL DESIGNER
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TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION DIRECTORS

Back Row, left to right:
David Tang

Founder of China Clubs
(Hong Kong, Beijing and
Singapore) and Shanghai
Tang Stores

David F. Dyer

Chief Executive Officer
and President

Tommy Hilfiger Corporation

Thomas 1. Hilfiger
Honorary Chairman of the
Board and Principal Designer
Tommy Hilfiger Corporation

Joel J. Horowitz
Non-Executive Chairman
of the Board

Front Row, left to right:
Mario L. Baeza
Founder of Baeza & Co.
Chairman of TCW / Latin
America Partners, L.L.C,

Robert T. T. Sze

Former Partner of
PriceWaterhouse Hong Kong
Director of Asia Satellite
Telecommunications
Holdings Limited

Jerri L. DeVard

Senior Vice President of
Brand Management and
Marketing Communications of
Verizon Communications

Clinton V. Silver
Former Deputy Chairman
and Managing Director of
Marks & Spencer plc
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
| WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 :
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005,

[l Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934

For the transition period from to . ,
Commission file number 1-11226

TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION

{Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

British Virgin Islands ) 98-0372112
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
ineorporation or organization) Identification No.)

9/F, Novel Industrial Building
850-870 Lai Chi Kok Road

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon
Hong Kong Not Applicable
{Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (852) 2216-0668

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
- Name of each exchange on

Title of each class which registered
Ordinary Shares, $0.01 par value per share New York Stock Exchange
Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc. 6.85% Notes due 2008 New York Stock Exchange
Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc. 9.00% Senior Bonds due 2031 New York Stock Exchange
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
None
(Title of class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yes [ ] No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part ITI of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule
12b-2). Yes No ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act): Yes [] No

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant based upon the
closing price on the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter was
$906,201,446.

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s stock as of October 31, 2005: Ordinary Shares, $0.01
Par Value~—92,146,434 shares.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information for the purpose of “Safe Harbor”
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
Such statements are indicated by words or phrases such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,” “believe”
and similar words or phrases. Such statements are based on current expectations and are subject to certain risks
and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control including, but not limited to, the overall level of
consumer spending on apparel; the financial strength of the retail industry generally and the Company’s
customers, distributors and licensees in particular; changes in trends in the market segments and geographic areas
in which the Company competes; the level of demand for the Company’s products; actions by our major
customers or existing or new competitors; the effect of the Company’s strategy to reduce U.S. distribution in
order to bring supply and demand into balance; changes in currency and interest rates; changes in applicable tax
laws, regulations and treaties and changes in economlc or political conditions or trade regulations in the markets
where the Company sells or sources its products, as well as other risks and uncertainties set forth in the
Company’s publicly-filed documents, including this Annual Report on Form 10-K, (including those set forth
under the heading “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1 of this document). Should one or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially
from those anticipated, estimated or projected. The Company disclaims any intention or obligation to update or
revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

Tommy Hilfiger Corporation (“THC” or the “Company”; unless the context indicates otherwise, all references
to the “Company” include THC and its subsidiaries), through its subsidiaries, designs, sources and markets men’s
and women’s sportswear and activewear, jeanswear and childrenswear. The Company’s brands include Tommy
Hilfiger and Karl Lagerfeld. Through a range of strategic licensing agreements, the Company also offers a broad
array of related apparel, accessories, footwear, fragrances and home furnishings. The Company’s products are
distributed through (i) leading department and specialty stores throughout the United States, Canada, Europe,
Mexico, Central and South America, Japan, Hong Korig, South Africa, India, Australia and other countries in the
Far East, and (ii) the Company’s own network of specialty and outlet stores in the United States, Canada and
Europe. THC was.incorporated as an International Business Company in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) in
1992, and is also registered and licensed as an external International Business Company in Barbados.

As of March 31, 2005, the Company was envaged in four reportable segments U.S. Wholesale,
International Wholesale Retall and Licensing:

* The U.S. Wholesale segment consists of men’s and women’s sportswear and activewear, junior
jeanswear and childrenswear, which are designed and sourced under various Tommy Hilfiger
trademarks for wholesale distribution in the United States.

* The International Wholesale segment consists of men’s and women’s sportswear and activewear,
jeanswear and childrenswear, which are designed and sourced under various Tommy Hilfiger
trademarks for wholesale distribution in Europe and Canada.

* "The Retail segment consists of the operations relating to the Company’s 200 stores, consisting of outlet
and specialty store formats in the United States, Europe and Canada. Products sold at these stores
consist of men’s and women’s sportswear and activewear, jeanswear and childrenswear, which are
designed and sourced under various Tommy Hilfiger trademarks.

* The Licensing segment consists of the services relating to the licensing of Tommy Hilfiger trademarks for
specified products in specified geographic areas which are sold in department and specialty stores worldwide.
Such products include a broad array of related apparel, accessories, footwear, fragrances and home products.
The licensing segment also includes the operations of the Company’s Far East buying offices.

Additional operating units that are not aggregated in the above defined reportable segments include
E-Commerce, the Karl Lagerfeld businesses and corporate activity.

Brands

The Company positions its apparel collections, including products produced under licensing arrangements,
under two primary brands: Tommy Hilfiger and Karl Lagerfeld. Mr. Thomas J. Hilfiger, the Company’s
Honorary Chairman and Principal Designer, and Mr. Karl Lagerfeld provide leadership and direction for the
design process pertaining to their respective brands, which use their names. The Company also utilizes design
teams that are responsible for each brand and respective product classifications. Within each brand, the Company
designs, markets and sources several collections under various labels, which further define the market positioning
and target specific customer segments as follows:

Tommy Hilfiger:

The Tommy Hilfiger brand combines fresh American style with unique details to give time-honored classics an
updated look for customers who desire high quality, designer apparel at competitive prices under the following labels:

* Flag: Targeted at the 25 to 55 year old consumer, with a focus on the 30 year old customer. The Flag
collection is comprised of casual sportswear for men and women, that emphasize the “classics with a
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twist” styling. Additionally, a childrenswear line is designed under this label. The Flag collection is
positioned in the better apparel market, and sold in department stores and specialty stores worldwide.

Crest: Targeted at the 25 to 55 year old consumer, with a focus on the 30 year old customer. The Crest
collection is comprised of tailored clothing and dress furnishings, as well as dress casual sportswear for
men. A dressier line for children is also designed under this label. The collection is positioned in the
better apparel market, and is sold in department stores and specialty stores in the U.S. and Canada.

Denim: Targeted at the 20 to 43 year old consumer, the Denim collection is comprised of casual
sportswear, with a focus on premium denim related separates for men and women. The collection is more
fashion forward than the Fiag and Crest collections, and s positioned at the upper end of the better apparel
market. The Denim collection is sold in department stores and specialty stores in Europe and Canada.

Tommy Jeans: Targeted at the 15 to 22 year old consumer, the Tommy Jeans collection is comprised of
casual sportswear with a focus on denim related separates for the junior market. The collection is edgier
and more trend conscious than other labels under the Tommy Hilfiger brand. Tommy Jeans is sold
within department stores and specialty stores within the United States, and positioned in the better status
apparel market. The Tommy Jeans collection is also marketed under the Tommy Gir{ label in Japan.

Sport: Targeted at the 20 to 40 year old consumer, the Sport collection is comprised of activewear for
men and women. The collection is sold in department stores and specialty stores in Europe.

H Hilfiger: Targeted at the 29 to 45 year old consumer, the H Hilfiger collection is comprised of
sophisticated sportswear for men and women that cater to a complete range of lifestyle occasions.

H Hilfiger is positioned at the upper end of the better apparel market and was sold exclusively in
Federated Department Stores in the U.S. through Spring 2005. The collection is also available in certain
of the Company’s specialty stores worldwide. Effective with the Fall 2005 collection, H Hilfiger will no
longer be distributed in the U.S. department store channel. The Company will transition H Hzlﬁger
solely to a specialty store concept.

Karl Lagerfeld:

The Lagerfeld brand combines modein styling and contemporary elegance for customers who desire luxury,
designer apparel under the following labels: :

Lagerfeld Gallery: Targeted at the 29 to 45 year old consumer, Lagerfeld Gallery is a luxury, women’s
ready-to-wear and accessories collection, which is positioned within the designer apparel market.
Lagerfeld Gallery is sold in boutique specialty stores and upscale department stores worldwide.

Lagerfeld: Targeted at the 25 to 45 year old consumer, the Lagerfeld collection is comprised of licensed,
contemporary lines for men and women, with an emphasis on fashionable and more trend driven
apparel. Lagerfeld men’s is positioned within the designer apparel market, and is sold within specialty
stores in Europe and Asia. The women’s Lagerfeld collection is sold under the KL lugerfeld label, and
is distributed only in Asia.

Merchandising Strategies

The Company generally organizes the Tommy Hilfiger brand, mcludmg products produced under hcensmo
arrangements, into three primary merchandising categories: Core, Core Plus and Fashion.

.

,u

Core: The Core category is comprised of the Company’s “seasonless” or basic products in classic solid
colors. Core items do not have fixed selling periods and are made available for sale by the Company
during each season. As a result, the Company and its wholesale customers generally maintain Core
items in stock throughout the year. As compared to Core Plus and Fashion products, Core items allow
for longer selling periods at regular prices, more flexible shipping deadlines, and greater reorder
capabilities. The Company receives orders from its large customers for Core products on an electronic
data interchanges (“EDI”) system, which expedites orders. See “Information Technology”.
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Core Plus: The Core Plus category is comprised of a broad seléction of “seasonal” basics or updated
classics, which are derived from Core, but offer a greater variety of fabrics, colors and patterns. The
Core Plus line also incorporates certain Fashion products that had previously been successful at retail.
The Company sells four different seasonal groups of Core Plus products each year. As compared to
Fashion items, Core Plus items allow for longer selling penods at regular prices and greater reorder
capablhtles .

Fashion: The Fashion category represents the most updated component of the Company’s-product line.
Fashion items consist of product classifications coordinated, around a seasonal theme. The Company
offers Fashion products under at least two themes per season, four seasons per year, thereby creating a
constant flow of new merchandise in the marketplace. The Karl Lagerfeld brand products, including
products produced under licensing arrangements, are generally merchandised as a fashion category.

Retailing

The Company has developed a significant retail presence through outlet and specialty store formats under
the Tommy Hilfiger brand in the United States, Canada and Europe.

The outlet and specialty store formats are as follows:

Qutlet stores: The Company’s outlet stores, or “Company Stores”, are located primarily in major outlet
centers. The Company principally stocks its Company stores with first-quality products manufactured
specifically for its customers. The Company believes its Company stores are an integral part of its retail
strategy as this format provides.an additional channel of distribution for Tommy Hilfiger products, and
enables the Company to better target value oriented consumers.

Specialty stores: The Company’s specialty store‘forma't‘ provides the Company with a single format to
showcase the image and products of its brands, including an array of the Company’s licensed products.

The following is a summary of the Company’s retail stores by type and geographic location as of March 31,
2005 and March 31, 2004: .

As of March 31, 2005 As of March 31, 2004
Outlet  Specialty Total  Outlet  Specialty Total
United States . .. ..... e e - 126 2. 128 114 3 117
Canada ............. ... . ... 17 17 34 7 17 24
Europe ............. e 16 22 38 1 15 26
Total ........... e L1594 200 132 35167

The above table excludes free stvanding and outlet stores ownéd and operated by licensees and third-party
distributors located in Europe, Mexico, Central and South America, Japan, Hong Kong, South Africa, India,
Australia and other countries in the Far East, which numbered 275 at March 31, 2005 and 222 at March 31, 2004.

Licensing and Distributorships

The Company enters into licensing and distribution agreements with respect to certain products and
geographic regions if the Company believes such arrangements provide more effective manufacturing,
distribution and marketing of such products than could be achieved in-house. The Company continually pursues
new opportunities in product categories which are believed to be complementary to its existing product lines, and
in geographic territories that will enhance its international presence.



As shown in the table below, the Company maintains numerous license arrangements with companies which
are among the industry leaders in their respective categories.

The Company maintains the following product licenses:

Product Category

Tommy Hilfiger brand:
Men’s socks (U.S., Canada)

Men’s neckwear (U.S., Canada)
Men’s belts, small leather goods and
jewelry (U.S., Canada, Mexico)
Men’s suits, sport coats, dress slacks,

top coats, formal wear (U.S.)
Men’s dress shirts (U.S., Canada)

Men’s fragrance (worldwide)
Men’s golfwear (U.S., Carribean)
Men'’s tailored clothing (Canada)

Men’s eyewear (worldwide)
Women’s fragrance (worldwide)

Men’s footwear (U.S., Canada, Mexico,

Australia, South Africa, Asia)
Children’s socks (U.S., Canada)
Boy’s blazers (U.S.)

Men’s sunglasses (worldwide)

Children’s footwear (U.S., Canada,
Mexico, Australia)

Boy’s neckwear (U.S., Canada)

Linens, bedding and bath products
(U.S., Canada, Mexico)

Women’s footwear (U.S., Canada,
Mexico, Australia, South Africa,
Asia)

Women’s robes and sleepwear (U.S.,
Canada)

Wormnen'’s sunglasses (worldwide)

Women's socks (U.S., Canada)

Women's handbags, belts, small leather

goods and sportbags (U.S., Canada)

Children’s sunglasses (worldwide)
Men’s tailored clothing (Europe)
Women’s eyewear (worldwide)
Children’s eyewear (worldwide)
Women’s jewelry (U.S., Canada)

Women'’s intimate apparel (U.S.,
Canada)

Women’s golfwear (U.S., Carribean)

Men’s and Women's watches
(worldwide)

Women’s swimwear (U.S., Canada)

Licensee

Mountain High Hosiery, Inc.
Superba, Inc.
Swank, Inc.

Hart Schaffner & Marx (Hartmarx)
Corporation

Oxford Industries, Inc.

Aramis, Inc. (Estee Lauder)

Oxford Industries, Inc.

Empire Clothing Manufacturing Co.,
Inc.

Viva Optique, Inc.

Aramis, Inc. (Estee Lauder)

The Stride Rite Corporation

Mountain High Hosiery, Inc.
Calvin Clothing LLC (formally
Alperin, Inc.)

Viva Optique, Inc.

The Stride Rite Corporation

Superba, Inc.
Revman Industries, Inc.

The Stride Rite Corporation

Russell-Newman, Inc.

Viva Optique, Inc.

Mountain High Hosiery, Inc.
Tommy Hilfiger Handbags & Small
Leather Goods, Inc. Dickson Limited
(Broad Gain Investments Limited)
Viva Optique, Inc.

Strellson AG

Viva Optique, Inc.

Viva Optique, Inc.

Victoria & Co. Ltd. (Jones Apparel
Group, Inc.) ‘

VF Intimates (formally Bestform
Inc.) (VF Corporation)

Oxford Industries, Inc.

Movado Group, Inc.

‘Jantzen, Inc. (Perry Ellis

International, Inc.)
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Available at Retail®

Holiday 1992
Spring 1993
Fall 1993 (Fall 2001 relaunch)

Fall 1994

Fall 1994
Spring 1995
Holiday 1995
Fall 1995

Fall 1996
Fall 1996
Spring 1997

Spring 1997
Spring 1997

Fall 1997
Fall 1997

Holiday 1997
Summer 1998

Holiday 1998

Holiday 1998

Holiday 1998
Holiday 1998
Fall 1999

Fall 1999
Fall 1999
Spring 2000
Spring 2000
Spring 2000

Fall 2000

Holiday 2000
Spring 2001

Spring 2001®




Product Category

Men’s and Women’s footwear
(Europe)

Men’s socks (Europe)
Women'’s socks and tights (Europe)

Children’s socks and Girl’s tights
(Europe)
Infant and Toddler booties (Europe)

Men’s leather outerwear (U.S.,
Canada)

Men’s, Women’s and Children’s
jewelry (Mexico, Central America,
South America) :

Men’s and Boy’s underwear;
Women’s intimates; Men’s,
Women’s and Children’s
sleepwear, loungewear and robes
(Europe) .

Women’s handbags and small leather
goods, wallets and key fobs; Men’s
bags and small leather goods,
attaches and portfolios; luggage -
and backpacks (Europe)

Women’s Swimwear (Japan)

Men’s underwear (Japan)

Men’s and Women’s Hats and Caps
(Japan)

Luggage, garment bags, travel
accessories, backpacks on non- -
exclusive basis, and duffles (U.S.)

Men’s underwear (China)

Karl Lagerfeld brand:

Men’s sportswear (worldwide, except
Japan, Americas)

Women’s ready-to-wear (Japan)

Eyewear (worldwide, except Japan,
U.K,, Ireland)

Eyewear—sunglasses (Japan)

Women’s formal wear (Japan)

Eyewear (UK., Ireland)

Men’s neckwear (worldwide) -

Women’s bodywear (worldwide)

Women’s bandanas, oblongs, pocket
handkerchiefs, scarves, shawls
(worldwide)

(> Date reflects season when licensed product first became or will be available at retail within the geographic

region
) License terminated June 30, 2005

Licensee

Tommy Hilfiger Footwear Europe
GmbH (Hamm Shoe & Accessories
Company GmbH & Co. KG)
Croenert Italiana SpA / C.C. -
Croenert Creazioni Gmbh
Croenert Italiana SpA / C.C.
Croenert Creazioni Gmbh
Croenert Italiana SpA / C.C.
Croenert Creazioni Gmbh
Croenert Italiana SpA / C.C.
Croenert Creazioni Gmbh

Winlit Group Ltd.

Joskes AR S.Ade CV

Schiesser AG

Finduck S.R.L. (Mandarina Duck)

Nikki Co., Ltd.
Volta 92 Co., Ltd.
Kurihara Corporation

Fair Trade International, Ltd.
(Olivet)

Chuﬁg Shing

Fashion Design Herrenmode
GmbH

- King & Co.

Régé & Associés S.A.

Murai Inc. (sublicense)
Tokyo Soir Co. Ltd.
International Eyewear Ltd.
(sublicense)

Hofmann & Co. AG
Wolford AG

Hofmann & Co. AG

Available at Retail®
Spring 2002

Fall 2002

Fall 2002

Fall 2002

~ Fall 2002

Fall 2003

Spring 2004

Fall 2004

Spring 2005

- Spring 2005

Spring 2005
Spring 2005

Fall 2005

Fall 2005

Fall/Winter 1990

Fall/Winter 1992
1998

2001
Fall/Winter 2001
2002

Fall/Winter 2003
Fall/Winter 2003
Spring/Summer 2004



The Company maintains the following geographic territory licenses:

Geographic Territory Distributor

Tommy Hilfiger brand:
Central and South
America, Caribbean

Aramis, Inc.
Movado Group, Inc.
Viva Optique, Inc.

Japan

Aramis, Inc.
Viva Optique, Inc.

Mexico Baseco SA de CV

Aramis, Inc.
Movado Group, Inc.
The Stride Rite
Corporation

Viva Optique, Inc.

Asia Pacific TH Asia Pacific Ltd.

Aramis, Inc.
Movado Group, Inc.
The Stride Rite
Corporation

Australia
PTY, Ltd.
Aramis, Inc.
The Stride Rite
Corporation

American Sportswear S.A.

Tommy Hilfiger Japan Inc.

Tommy Hilfiger Australia

Product Category Available at Retail®

Men’s sportswear, jeans, 1989

underwear; Women’s sportswear,

-intimates, socks; Junior jeans;

bags; belts; footwear; hosiery;

jewelry; swimwear; Children’s
sportswear

Men’s and Women’s fragrance
watches

sunglasses

Men’s sportswear, jeans; ‘ 1992
Women’s sportswear, socks;
Junior jeans; bags; belts; hosiery;
intimates; jewelry; footwear;
watches; Children’s sportswear
Men’s and Women’s fragrance
sunglasses

Men’s sportswear, jeans, dress 1995
shirts, underwear; Women’s

sportswear, socks; Junior jeans;

bags; hosiery; socks; swimwear;

Children’s sportswear '

Men’s and Women'’s fragrance

watches

footwear

eyewear and sunglasses

Men’s sportswear, jeans, 1998
underwear; Women’s sportswear,

intimates, socks; Junior jeans;

bags; belts; hosiery; jewelry;

swimwear; Children’s sportswear

Men’s and Women’s fragrance
watches
footwear

Men’s sportswear, jeans, 2003
underwear; bags; hosiery
Men’s and Women’s fragrance

footwear




Geographic Territory Distributor - Product Category ) Available at Retail®

Korea SK Networks Men’s sportswear, jeans, dress 2003
‘ shirts, underwear; Women’s
sportswear, socks; bags; belts;
footwear; hosiery; jewelry;

watches
Aramis, Inc. Men’s and Women’s fragrance
India GVM International Ltd. Men'’s sportswear, underwear; 2004

Women'’s sportswear, Junior
jeans; footwear; home; socks;

watches

South Africa Kap International Brands Men’s sportswear; Women'’s 2004
(RSA) (PTY) Ltd. sportswear

Karl Lagerfeld brand: ‘

China ~‘Superior Holding Ltd. Men’s sportswear; Women'’s Fall/Winter 1998
(Springfield Fashion) ready-to-wear

Taiwan Superior Holding Ltd. Men’s sportswear; Women'’s Fall/Winter 1998
{Springfield Fashion) ready-to-wear

) Date reflects season when licensed product first became or will be available at retail within the geographic
region

Wholesale Business

In the United States, the Company’s wholesale distribution is primarily in major department and specialty
retail store locations. The Company’s department store customers include major United States retailers such as
Federated Department Stores (including Macy’s, Bloomingdale’s and those stores previously owned by May
Department Stores, which were acquired by Federated Department Stores in August, 2005), Dillard’s Department
Stores, Belk Stores and Saks, Inc. (including Carson Pirie Scott and Proffitt’s). In addition, the Company sells
substantially all its out-of-season products to certain discount retailers. The net revenue from discount retailers
represented less than 15% of the Company’s total net revenue for each of the last three fiscal years.

In Europe and Canada, the Company’s wholesale sales are more broadly distributed. On a country basis, the
Company’s revenues in Europe are highest in Germany and Spain, although, no country represents more than 7%
of consolidated revenue. The customer base in Europe is comprised principally of independent specialty retail
stores, while independent specialty retail and chain stores represent approximately 45% of the customer base in
Canada. In addition, the Company utilizes third-party distributors who operate stores in select countries including
Belgium, Spain, Japan, Hong Kong, Chile and Brazil.

Advertising, Public Relations and Marketing

The Company believes that advertising to promote and enhance its brands, products and image is important
to its long-term growth strategy. Advertising by the Company, its licensees, and most of its distributors is
coordinated by the Company, and appears in magazines, newspapers, outdoor media and on television. Selected



personal appearances by Mr. Hilfiger and Mr. Lagerfeld and corporate sponsorships are also utilized as
advertising and public relations mediums. The Company employs an advertising and public relations staff, as
well as outside agencies to implement these efforts. Most of the Company’s licensees and distributors are
required to contribute to the advertisement and promotion of Tommy Hilfiger products a percentage of their net
sales of Tommy Hilfiger products or a percentage of their net purchases of Tommy Hilfiger products through the
Company’s buying offices (depending on the terms of the license or distributorship agreement), generally subject
to minimum amounts. .

The Company’s marketing campaigns are developed and directed principally from its executive offices in
New York, Montreal and Amsterdam. The Company maintains showroom facilities and sales offices in the U.S.,
Canada and Europe.

In December 1999, the Company’s website, www.tommy.com, was launched as a marketing vehicle to
complement the ongoing development of the Tommy Hilfiger lifestyle brand. It was initially designed to
strengthen the Company’s relationship with customers, with the added benefit of driving traffic and sales in the
Company’s existing retail venues. During fiscal 2005, the website was expanded and the Company began to offer
a small assortment of its licensed products directly to consumers. During July 2005, the E-Commerce website
was relaunched with a much broader offering of the Company’s apparel and licensed products.

Production & Sourcing

The Company contracts with third parties for the manufacture of its products, thus allowing the Company to
maximize production flexibility, and avoid significant capital expenditures, work-in-process inventory buildups
and the costs of managing a large production work force. The Company imports most of its finished goods
because it believes it can import higher quality products at lower costs than could be achieved through
production in the U.S., Europe or Canada, its major markets. Management maintains extensive relationships with
leading manufacturers throughout the world. Production in North American Free Trade Agreement (“NAFTA”)
countries (the United States, Mexico and Canada) has approximated 20% of the cost of products purchased
annually over the past three years with Mexico accounting for approximately 18%. Production in China
represents approximately 15% of the cost of products purchased during fiscal 2005, and less than 10% during
fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003. No other country from which the Company imports accounts for more than 10% of
the total cost of products purchased annually.

The Company’s products are manufactured according to plans prepared each year, which reflect prior years’
results, current fashion trends, economic conditions, and management estimates of product performance. In
certain cases, the Company separately negotiates with suppliers for the purchase of required raw materials by its
contractors in accordance with the Company’s specifications. The Company limits its exposure to holding excess
inventory by committing to purchase a portion of total projected demand, and based upon its experience, the
Company has been able to satisfy its excess demand through reorders. The Company believes that its policy of
limiting its commitments for purchases early in the season reduces its exposure to excess inventory.

The Company also utilizes its own buying offices in Hong Kong and India to perform product development,
sourcing, production scheduling and quality control functions for its apparel and licensed products and contracts
with various third party buying entities that perform similar services in other countries.

The Company employs a centralized production department whose primary function is (i) to identify and
research new fabric resources and manufacturing capabilities for the Company on a worldwide basis, (ii) to
control or reduce global manufacturing costs, while maintaining the Company’s quality standards, and (iii) to
monitor the Company’s contract manufacturing facilities to ensure compliance with the Company’s Code of
Conduct. See “Quality Control”. In addition, the Company maintains divisional production teams that identify
ways to develop new designs and products in a more efficient and cost effective manner.
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Pursuant to the World Trade Organization (“WTQO”) Agreement, effective January 1, 2005, the United
States and other WTO member countries removed quotas on goods from WTO members. However, as the
removal of quotas resulted in an import surge from China, the United States took action in May 2005 and
imposed safeguard quotas on certain categories of goods. On June 10, 2005, in response to the surge of Chinese
imports into the European Union (“EU”), the EU Commission signed a Memorandum of Understanding with
China in which certain products will be subject to constraints. These quotas may affect our ability to import
product from China. The Company continually monitors duty, tariff, quota-related developments and geopolitical
conditions, and seeks to minimize its potential exposure to these risks through, among other measures,
geographical diversification of its manufacturing sources, and the maintenance of its buying offices.

Quality Control

The Company’s quality control program is designed to ensure that purchased goods meet the Company’s
standards. The Company inspects prototypes of each product prior to cutting by the contractors, and performs
two in-line inspections, as well as a final inspection prior to shipment. Company employees and independent
agents also continually inspect products manufactured by contractors to maintain the Company’s standards. All
finished goods are shipped to the Company’s New Jersey facilities for U.S. distribution, its Montreal facility for
Canadian distribution, or its Tegelen, The Netherlands facility for European distribution. While the Company’s
return policy permits customers to return defective products for credit, less than 1% of the Company’s shipments
in fiscal 2005 were returned as defective under this policy.

The Company maintains a Code of Conduct for labor standards and factory conditions in its contract
manufacturing facilities. A program to monitor compliance with the Code is administered by Company
employees and an outside law firm. Through the law firm, the Company has been working with third-party
auditing organizations since 1997. During this time, audits have been performed at more than 630 factories in
more than 45 countries where Tommy Hilfiger goods have been produced.

Information Technology

The Company believes that high levels of automation and technology are essential to maintain its
competitive position, and the Company continues to invest in computer hardware, systems applications and
networks to enhance and speed the apparel design process, to support the sale and distribution of products to its
customers and to improve the integration and efficiency of its operations. The Company utilizes computer-aided
design stations for the design teams, which provide timely translations of designs into sample depictions varying
in color, cut and style. The Company electronically communicates product designs, specifications and purchase
requirements between its sales offices, distribution facilities, buying offices and third-party factories. The
Company also uses an EDI system to receive on-line orders from its customers, and a related electronic method
to accumulate sales information on its products. This technology enables the Company to provide valuable sales
information and inventory maintenance information services to its customers who have adopted such technology.
The Company’s 10 largest customers communicate with the Company through EDI technology. The Company
also maintains a business to business website to service its specialty store customers who do not have EDI
capability.

Distribution

In the United States, wholesale and retail distribution currently occurs at three major New Jersey facilities, -
located in Dayton and Cranbury, which total approximately 896,000 square feet. The facilities are leased and
operated by the Company and principally staffed by an independent contractor who charges the Company on the
basis of the number of items processed, with stipulated hourly fees for special services, authorized overtime and
transfers of inventory. The Company maintains its distribution management group and certain administrative
functions at these facilities. The Company’s former distribution center in Secaucus, New Jersey was subleased to
a third-party during fiscal 2005. The Company believes it has excess distribution capacity in New Jersey, which
it intends to rationalize as the current leases expire.
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The Company’s Canadian wholesale and retail distribution is processed through a 260,000 square foot
facility located in Montreal, Quebec.

The Company’s European wholesale and retail distribution currently occurs at two facilities located in
Tegelen and Venlo, The Netherlands totaling approximately 450,000 square feet.

Credit and Collection

The Company owns all of its wholesale customer accounts receivable and collects the majority of its
receivables from U.S. customers through a credit company subsidiary of a large financial institution pursuant to
an agreement whereby the credit company pays the Company after the credit company receives payment from
the Company’s customer. The credit company establishes maximum credit limits for each customer account. If
there are no adjustments for customer allowances and the receivable becomes 120 days past due or the customer
becomes bankrupt or insolvent, the full amount of the receivable is payable by the credit company. The Company
has a similar arrangement with another large financial institution for credit services to its Canadian subsidiary. In
addition, TH Europe has an agreement with a European credit insurance company from whom it obtains credit
insurance on an individual customer basis. In all cases, the Company believes that the credit risk associated with
such financial institutions is minimal.

The Company also grants credit directly to certain select customers in the normal course of business without
participation by a credit company. In such cases, the Company monitors its credit exposure limits to avoid any
significant concentration of risk. At March 31, 2005, approximately 63% of the Company’s accounts receivables
were covered by credit insurance, bank guarantees or other means.

Bad debts as a percentage of net sales were less than 0.1% in each of the Company’s last three fiscal years.

Trademarks

The Company owns and utilizes the following principal trademarks: TOMMY HILFIGER® TOMMY
JEANS® TOMMY® TOMMY GIRL® HILFIGER ATHLETICS® TH® TOMMY SPORT®™ H HILFIGER™
and TOMMY.COM® the distinctive flag logo, crest design and green eyelet device, and the signature tartan
design and Ithaca striping. Tommy Hilfiger Licensing, Inc. (“THLI"), an indirect subsidiary of THC, has
registered or applied for registration of these and other trademarks for use in the United States and in numerous
other countries. THLI is a party to an agreement with Mr. Hilfiger that restricts, without Mr. Hilfiger’s consent,
(i) the sale, lease, license or other conveyance of the Trademarks, (ii) the amendment of the license agreement
between THLI and Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc., a subsidiary of THC (“TH USA”), or (iii) the creation of any
lien on the Trademarks, until Mr. Hilfiger’s death or until termination of Mr. Hilfiger’s employment with TH
USA without the consent of TH USA.

Acquired in January 2005, the Company also owns and utilizes the following principal trademarks: KARL
LAGERFELD, LAGERFELD GALLERY, LAGERFELD, LG, KL, the L vignette and the fan vignette. Asian
and Western Classics B.V. (“A&W"), an indirect subsidiary of THC, has registered or applied for registration of
these and other trademarks for use in the United States and numerous other countries.

The Company regards its trademarks and other proprietary intellectual property rights as valuable assets in
the marketing of its products and brands and continues to renew its registrations in the United States and other
countries, inter alia, in Canada, Europe, Asia, and South and Central America.

Backlog

The Company generally receives orders approximately three to five months prior to the time the products
are delivered to stores. Thus, at March 31, 2003, the Company’s backlog of orders represents a significant
portion of the Company’s expected wholesale shipments through September 30, 2005. At March 31, 2005, the
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Company’s backlog of orders, was approximately $500 million, compared to approximately $679 million at
March 31, 2004. The Company’s backlog depends upon a number of factors, including the timing of “market
weeks” during which a significant percentage of the Company’s-orders are received and the timing of shipments.
Accordingly, a comparison of backlog from period to period is not necessarily meaningful and may not be
indicative of eventual actual shipments or net revenue expected to be realized from such shipments. The
Company has provided its outlook for fiscal 2006 net revenue in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Forward Outlook” in Item 7.

Employees

At March 31, 2005, the Company had approximately 3,200 full-time employees and 2,600 part-time
employees. Virtually all of the Company’s part-time employees were employed in the Company’s retail stores.
None of the Company’s employees is a member of a union, with the exception of certain employees in France, ..
who are subject to collective bargaining agreements. The Company considers its relations with its employees to
be excellent. :

Reports

The Company makes available, free of charge through its website, www.tommy.com, its annual report on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon
as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and
Exchange Commission. These reports are also available on the Securities and Exchange Commission’s website at
www.sec.gov. No information contained on any of our websites is intended to be included as part of, or
incorporated by reference into, this annual report on Form 10-K.

Risk Factors

The following risk factors should be réad carefully in connection with evaluating the Company’s business
and the forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K. Any of the following risks could materially
adversely affect the Company’s business, operating results or financial condition-and could cause actual results
or events to differ matenally from those ant1c1pated

Competition

The apparel industry is highly competitive. The Company competes with numerous domestic and foreign
designers, brands and manufacturers of apparel, accessories and other products. Some of these designers and
manufacturers are significantly larger.and have greater resources than the Company Management believes that the
Company’s ability to compete effectively depends upon its continued flexibility in responding to market demand
and its ability to offer fashion conscious consumers a wide variety of high quality apparel at competitive prices.

Changés in Fashion Trends

The Company believes that its success depends in substantial part on its ability to anticipate, gauge and
respond to changing consumer demand and fashion trends in a tlmely manner. The Company attempts to
minimize the risk of changing fashion trends and product acceptance by closely monitoring retail sales trends.
However, if fashion trends shift away from the Company’s products, or if the Company otherwise misjudges the
market for its product lines, it may be faced with a significant amount of unsold finished goods inventory or other
conditions which could have a material adverse effect on the Company.

Uncertainties in Apparel Retailing

The apparel industry historically has been subject to substantial cyclical variations, and a recession in the -
general economy or uncertainties regarding future economic prospects that affect consumer spending habits
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could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations. The Company’s current credit and
collection arrangements seek to mitigate the risk of bankruptcy of a customer which continues to operate and
carry the Company’s products. However, financial problems of a retailer could cause the Company’s credit
companies to limit the amount of receivables of such retailer that the Company may assign to the credit
companies and credit insurance company, which may cause the Company to curtail business with such retailer or
require the Company to assume more credit risk relating to such customer’s receivables.

Dependence on Customers Under Common Control

The Company’s department store customers include major United States retailers, certain of which are
under common ownership. When considered together as a group under common ownership, sales to the
department store customers which were owned by Federated Department Stores, Dillard’s Department Stores and
May Department Stores accounted for approximately 9%, 6% and 6%, respectively, of the Company’s fiscal
2005 consolidated net revenue. In February 2005, Federated Department Stores and May Department Stores
announced a merger, which closed in August 2005. A decision by the controlling owner of a group of department
stores to modify those customers’ relationships with the Company-—for example, by decreasing the amount
purchased from the Company, focusing on promotion of its private label brands rather than the Company’s
products, ceasing to carry certain of the Company’s products, modifying floor space allocated to apparel in
general (or for our products specifically) or requiring economic terms that are less favorable to the Company than
the economic terms of the Company’s current relationship with those department stores—could have a material
adverse effect onithe Company. )

Sourcing

The Company does not own or operate any manufacturing facilities and is therefore dependent upon third
parties for the manufacture of all of its products. The inability of a manufacturer to ship orders of the Company’s
products in a timely manner, including as a result of local financial market disruption which could impair the
ability of such suppliers to finance their operations, or to meet quality standards, could cause the Company to
miss the delivery date requirements of its customers for those items, which could result in cancellation of orders,
refusal to accept deliveries or a reduction in purchase prices, any of which could have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. In addition, travel restrictions arising due to
health concerns or other factors could limit the Company’s ability to select and monitor its suppliers, which could
have an adverse effect on the Company’s quality standards and ability to meet customer orders. Finally, the
violation of labor or other laws by a manufacturing or licensing partner of the Company or the divergence of that
manufacturer’s or licensing partner’s labor practices from the labor practices generally accepted in the United
States, could interrupt or constrain the entity’s ability to ship orders of the Company’s products in a timely
manner and could damage the Company’s reputation. The Company has no long-term formal arrangements with
any of its suppliers and historically has experienced only limited difficulty in satisfying its raw material and
finished goods requirements. Although the Company believes it could replace such suppliers without a material
adverse effect on the Company, there can be no assurance that such suppliers could be replaced in a timely
manner, and the loss of such suppliers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s short-term
operating results.

In addition, the Company’s business is subject to risks associated with imports, as the Company imports
most of its finished goods. Total production outside the United States accounts for approximately 90% of the
Company’s total costs of products purchased annually. The Company’s production in NAFTA countries (i.e., the
United States, Mexico and Canada) amounts to approximately 16% of the cost of products purchased annually.
Production in China represents approximately 15% of the cost of products purchased during fiscal year 2005.
Pursuant to the World Trade Organization (“WTQO”) Agreement, effective January 1, 2005, the United States and
other WTO member countries removed quotas on goods from WTO members. However, as the removal of
quotas resulted in an import surge from China, the United States took action in May 2005 and imposed safeguard
quotas on certain categories of goods. On June 10, 2005, in response to the surge of Chinese imports into the
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European Union (“EU”), the EU Commission signed a Memorandum of Understanding with China, pursuant to
which certain products will be subject to restraints. These quotas, as well as the imposition of other regulations
by foreign jurisdictions relating to imports or exports, may affect our ability to import products in the future.

Licensing Partners

Approximately 4% ofthe Company’s net revenue and 42% of income from operations for fiscal 2005 was
derived from licensing revenue received from its licensing partners. Many of the risks associated with the
Company’s own operations also apply to the businesses and operations of its licensing partners. Specifically, the
licénsing partners may face risks affecting their ability to adequately finance their operations, manage their labor
forces or sustain favorable relationships with their customers. Adverse effects on these licensing partners relating
to any such risks may, depending on their magnitude, materially adversely affect the Company’s short-term
operating results. In addition, although the Company believes that, in most circumstances, the existing licensing
partners could be replaced, the Company’s failure or inability to do so in any given circumstance may adversely
affect its revenues and short term operating results.

Intellectual Property

‘'The Company considers its trademarks and other proprietary intellectual property rights to be significant to
its business. Although the Company continuously seeks to ensure the protection of its intellectual property, it
may not be able to prevent, among other things, the imitation of our products by third parties or to successfully
resolve other challenges involving its intellectual property rights, and any of these matters may adversely affect
the Company’s results of operations.

Tax Matters

THC was incorporated in 1992 as an International Business Company in the BVI and is also registered and
licensed as an external International Business Company in Barbados, where it has established residency for tax
purposes. In addition, certain of THC’s non-United States subsidiaries are incorporated in the BVI and other
countries and are subject to taxation in those or other countries where the applicable statutory tax rates are
substantially lower than those applicable to the Company’s United States subsidiaries. As a result, the
Company’s overall effective tax rate is materially affected by the relative level of earnings in the various taxing
jurisdictions to which the Company’s earnings are subject. THC has not provided for tax on the undistributed
retained earnings of these non-United States subsidiaries, as the Company has invested or expects to invest the
'undistributed earnings indefinitely in those businesses.

The Company is a tax resident of Barbados and therefore was entitled to the benefits of an income tax treaty
between Barbados and the United States. In July 2004, the United States and Barbados signed a protocol to the
treaty, which was ratified by the U.S. Senate in October 2004, and ratified by the government of Barbados in
December 2004. As a result, the benefits the Company was entitled to under the treaty, which contributed
approximately $10 million to net income in fiscal 2005, and approximately $12 million of net income in each of
the fiscal years 2004 and 2003, have been eliminated as to future periods.

The Company is periodically examined by various federal, state and local and international taxing
authorities. The tax years under examination vary by jurisdiction. The Company regularly considers the
likelihood of assessments in each of the taxing jurisdictions and has established tax allowances which represent
management’s best estimate of the potential assessments. The resolution of any of these tax matters could differ
from the amount reserved. While that difference could be material to the results of operations and cash flows for
any affected reporting period, it is not expected to have a material impact on consolidated financial position or
consolidated liquidity.

A significant shift in the relative sources of the Company’s earnings, or changes in tax treaties, laws, rules
or interpretations, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and cash flow.
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Hong Kong Tax Matters

The Company initiated discussions in May 2005 with the Hong Kong Inland Revenue’ Department (“IRD”)
in an effort to resolve any issues concerning whether its wholly-owned subsidiary Tommy Hilfiger (Eastern
Hemisphere) Limited (“THEH”) is subject to profits tax in Hong Kong, and if so, the portion of THEH’s income
that is subject to that tax. Several domestic and international subsidiaries of the Company pay buying office
commissions to THEH, a British Virgin Islands corporation pursuant to contracts to provide or otherwise secure
through third parties certain services, including product development, sourcing, produetion scheduling and
quality control functions. In the course of these discussions, the Compariy made a settlement offef to the IRD to
resolve this issue that was not accepted and discussions are ongoing. Accordingly, there can be no assurance as to
the ultimate resolution of this matter, although the Company does not beheve that the final resolution will have a
matenal effect on the Company’s f1nanc1al position.

International Operations

The Company’s ability to conduct business and capitalize on growth opportunities in international markets
is subject to risks associated with international operations, including the challenges of complying with a variety
of foreign laws and regulations, unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and new tariffs, taxes or other
barriers to some international markets. The Company is also subject to general political and economic risks in
connection with the Company’s international operations, including political instability, changes in diplomatic and
trade relationships and general economic or currency fluctuations in specific countries or markets. - - .

The Company cannot predict whether quotas, duties, taxes or other similar restrictions will be imposed by
the United States, the European Union or other countries upon the import or export of the Company’s products in
the future, or the effect any of these actions would have on the Company’s business, financial condition or results
of operations. Changes in regulatory, geopolitical policies and other factors may adversely affect the Company’s
business in the future or may require the Company to modify our current business practices. :

Impact of Potential Future Acquisitions

From time to time, the Company has pursued acquisitions to further diversify its revenue and earnings base.
If one or more acquisitions results in the Company becoming substantially more leveraged on a consolidated
basis, the Comipany’s flexibility in responding to changes in economic, business or market conditions may be
adversely affected. The Company’s pursuit of acquisitions may be constrained by Mr. Hilfiger’s employment
agreement with the Company, in effect since 1992, which provides in part that TH USA and its subsidiaries
cannot enter into any line of business without the consent of Mr. Hilfiger if he shall reasonably determme that
such line of busmess would be detnmental to the Tommy Hilfiger trademarks.

Role of Mr. Tommy Hilfiger and Mr. Karl Lagerfeld

Mr. Hilfiger has been designing clothes under the Tommy Hilfiger trademarks since 1984 and has provided
design leadership to the Company, most recently as its Principal Designer, since its inception. Mr. Hilfiger is
therefore closely identified with the brand that bears his name, as well as with the Company in general. Similarly,
Mr. Lagerfeld provides leadership and direction for the design processes pertaining to the Company’s Karl
Lagerfeld brand. The Company anticipates significant opportunities for its Karl Lagerfeld brand, and 1s 1nvest1ng
significantly for that brand’s long-term success in the United States and abroad. The Company has developed and
maintained essential design teams which it believes are capable of sustaining the design process for Tommy
Hilfiger brands in the event of loss of services of Mr. Hllﬁger Similarly, design teams are being developed to
support and sustain the design process for Karl Lagerfeld brands in the event of loss of services of Mr. Lagerfeld.
However, the loss of the services of either Mr. Hilfiger or Mr. Lagerfeld, or any negative public perception with
respect to or relating to the Company’s loss of either of them could adversely affect the Company and its
businesses. -
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The principal executive offices of THC are located at 9/F, Novel Industrial Building, 850-870 Lai Chi Kok
Road, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong. TH USA’s principal executive offices are located at 601 West
26t Street, New York, New York 10001.

The general location, use, ownership status and approximate size of the principal properties which the
Company currently occupies are set forth below:

Approximate
Ownership Area in
Location % Status Square Feet
HongKong ............. [ Registered headquarters and principal _
~ buying office of THC Leased 48,000
New York, New York ............. USA headquarters and sales offices Leased 304,000
New York, New York ............. Design, production and administrative
offices Owned® 115,000
New York, New York ............. Showrooms Owned® 170,000
Dayton, New Jersey .............. Distribution and administrative offices Leased 341,000
Secaucus, New Jersey ............. " Distribution and administrative offices Leased® 324,000
Cranbury, New Jersey ............. Distribution and administrative offices Leased 443,000
Cranbury, New Jersey ............. Distribution center ] Leased 112,000
Montreal, Quebec ................ Distribution, sales and administrative
" offices and showrooms _ Leased 260,000
Amsterdam, The Netherlands .... ... European headquarters Leased 80,000
Tegelen, The Netherlands .......... Distribution center Leased 235,000
Venlo, The Netherlands ........... Distribution center - Leased 215,000

(1) Office Building at 485 Fifth Avenue was under contract of sale at year end. Closing of this transaction
occurred on May 17, 2005.
(2) Office Building at 25 West 39th Street is under contract for sale Closing of this transaction is expected to
- occur in the third quarter of fiscal 2006.
(3) Former Secaucus facility-has been sub leased for the remainder of the lease term (August, 2007).

A table summarizing the Company’s retail stores, all of which are leased; by type and geographic location as
of March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004 is presented under “Business—Retailing” in Itern 1. The Company’s
outlet and specialty stores average approximately 5,700 square feet.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
U.S. Attorney’s Office Investigation

On September 24, 2004, TH USA announced that it had received a grand jury subpoena issued by the U.S.
Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York (“USAQ”) seeking documents generally related to
domestic and/or international buying office commissions since 1990 and that certain of TH USA’s current and
former employees had received subpoenas. Several domestic and international subsidiaries of the Company pay
buying office commissions to THEH, a British Virgin Islands corporation which is a wholly-owned and
consolidated subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to contracts to provide or otherwise secure through third
parties certain services, including product development, sourcing, production scheduling and quality control
functions. The USAQ investigation was focused on the appropriateness of the commission rate paid by the
Company’s-subsidiaries to THEH, as well as other related tax matters.

In October 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company formed a Special Committee of independent
directors to conduct an independent investigation into matters arising out of the governmental investigation. The
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Special Committee retained Debevoise & Plimpton LLP as legal counsel, with a team headed by Mary Jo White,
former U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New York. The Special Committee reported on its investigation
to the Board in March 2005 and to the USAO in April 2005. The Special Committee found that the Company had
a good faith basis for adopting the buying office commission rate paid by the Company’s subsidiaries to THEH.
The Special Committee did identify certain questions about Hong Kong tax matters and supported the
Company’s determination to engage the IRD in discussions regarding whether THEH was subject to profits tax
in Hong Kong. The Special Committee made recommendations to the Company to enhance procedures for tax
matters, including transfer pricing, and to review its buying office structure. The Company’s management has
adopted all of the Special Committee’s recommendations.

After the Special Committee made its report, the Company in May 2005 initiated discussions with the
USAO about the possible resolution of the investigation on a civil basis, and the Company also initiated
discussions with the IRD in an effort to resolve any issues concerning whether THEH is subject to profits tax in
Hong Kong.

On August 10, 2005 the Company announced that it had resolved the previously announced investigation by
executing a non-prosecution agreement with the USAQO. The USAO has concluded that criminal tax charges are
not warranted and closed its investigation. In addition, the USAO has agreed that it will not criminally prosecute
TH USA, or its parent or affiliates for any offenses relating to underpayment of Hong Kong taxes as a result of
activities attributed to THEH.

The non-prosecution agreement with the USAQ is subject to certain understandings, including that TH USA
file amended U.S. federal income tax returns for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2001 through 2004 reflecting a
reduced buying office commission rate for those four years, adopt and implement the recommendations of the
Special Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, adopt and implement an effective ethics and
compliance program, and provide information to the IRD for it to evaluate whether THEH or its Hong Kong
subsidiary owe any Hong Kong taxes to the IRD. TH USA also agreed for a period of three years to provide the
USAO, upon request, with information so that the USAO can monitor TH USA’s compliance with the
agreement.

On August 22, 2005, TH USA filed the amended tax returns required under the non-prosecution agreement.
As a result of the reduction in the buying office commission rate and other unrelated adjustments that were also
reflected in the amended tax returns, TH USA paid approximately $15.4 million in additional federal income
taxes and $2.7 million in interest for the four years covered by the amended tax returns, taking into account the
effect of changes in other tax attributes, including net operating loss carry forwards.

As previously disclosed, the Company initiated discussions in May 2005 with the IRD with respect to the
potential Hong Kong profits tax liability of THEH. In the course of these discussions, the Company made a
settlement offer to the IRD to resolve this issue that was not accepted, and discussions are ongoing. Accordingly,
there can be no assurance as to the ultimate resolution of this matter, although the Company does not believe that
the final resolution will have a material effect on the Company’s financial position.

Following the Company’s September 24th announcement of the investigation, approximately eleven
purported shareholder class action lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District
of New York against the Company, as well as certain current and former officers and directors of the Company.
The Court has consolidated the purported shareholder class action lawsuits, and has appointed lead counsel and
lead plaintiffs. The lead plaintiffs filed a consolidated, amended complaint on May 13, 2005. On August 1, 2005,
the Company filed a motion to dismiss the complaint. On September 30, 2005 the Company and lead plaintiffs
agreed to a new schedule, which the Company expects to be so ordered by the Court, pursuant to which lead
plaintiffs filed a Second Consolidated Amended Complaint on October 31, 2005. The Company currently expects
to file a new motion to dismiss by December 5, 2005 and that a hearing on such motion by the Company will be
scheduled by the Court for early 2006. The Company intends to defend itself vigorously against plaintiffs’
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claims. Since the case is in its very early stages, the Company is unable to predict its outcome. Accordingly, the
Company has not recorded any provision for potential loss associated with this matter.

The Company and its subsidiaries are otherwise involved from time to time in other routine legal matters
incidental to their business. In the opinion of the Company’s management, based on advice of counsel, the
resolution of these other matters will not individually or in aggregate have a matenal effect on the Company’s
financial position, results of operations or its cash flows. . ‘

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

“Not applicable

PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Tommy Hilfiger Corporation’s Ordinary Shares, par value $0.01 per share (the “Ordinary Shares”), are
listed and trade_d on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), under the symbol “TOM.” As of October 31,
2005, there were approximately 1,500 record holders of the outstanding Ordinary Shares.

The following table sets forth, for each of the periods indicated, the hlgh and low sales prices per Ordinary
Share as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape.

High Low
Fiscal Year ended March 31, 2005
Fourth Quarter ....... B $11.99 $ 9.57
Third Quarter ......... e 11.55 8.47
Second QUAITEr . ...\ v vttt e ©15.52 9.40
First Quarter .. ......o .t e e 18.25 13.45
Closing price at March 31,2005 ........... ... ......... ... ... 11.70
Fiscal Year ended March 31, 2004
Fourth Quarter .............. e $17.41 $12.73
Third QUarter ... .....cuitiiit e i e 16.60 11.95
Second Quarter . ... it e 13.05 8.89
First Quarter ... ..o e 9.69 6.87
Closing price at March 31,2004 .......... ... ... ... ... .. ... 17.00

THC has not paid any cash dividends since its initial public offering in 1992, and has no current plans to pay
cash dividends. Future dividend policy will depend on the Company’s earnings, capital requirements, financial
condition, restrictions imposed by agreements governing indebtedness of THC and its subsidiaries, availability of
dividends from subsidiaries, receipt of funds in connection with repayment of loans to subsidiaries or advances from
operating subsidiaries, tax laws and other factors considered relevant by the Board of Directors of THC. During the
fiscal year covered by this report, the Company did not repurchase any of its Ordinary Shares. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” in
Item 7 for a description of certain restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries of THC to pay dividends.

On June 18, 2003, the Company received notice from the NYSE that the Company has been identified as a
late filer. This is a result of our late filing of the Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005. Under the
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NYSE Listing Standards, the “LF” indicator has been added to the information provided by the NYSE on the
consolidated trading tape. This indicator wiil-be removed at such time as the Company becomes current with all -
of its periodic reportmg requirements.

Equlty Compensatlon Plan Information

The followmg table sets forth information regarding the Company s equity compensatlon plans as of March’
31, 2005.

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for

Number of Securities to be Future Issuance Under Equity
Issued Upon Exercise of Weighted-Average Exercise Compensation Plans
Qutstanding Options, Price of Qutstanding Options, (Excluding Securities
Plan Category(1) Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
() b) ©
Equity Compensation Plans
Approved by Security
Holders 2} .............. ' 7,031,281 . 12.68 2,063,130
Equity Compensation Plans Not o
Approved by Security _ ) o
Holdersv () ' 1,506,390 25.03 ‘ —
Total ............. . 8,537,671. 1486 2,063,130

(1) For descriptions of the Company’s equity compensation plans, see Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial
~ Statements in Item 8 and “Executive Compensation—Stock-Based Plans” in Item 11.

(2) Includes the 1992 Stock Incentive Plans (except as described in footnote 3), the 2001 Stock Incennve Plan,
the 2003 Incentive Compensation plan, and the Directors Option Plan (all as defined under “Executive
Compensation—Stock-Based Plans” in Item 11).

(3) Securities included in this category are attributable solely to certain increases in the number of Ordmary
Shares authorized and reserved for issuance under the 1992 Stock Incentive Plans that were not approved by
the Company’s shareholders.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following selected financial data have been derived from the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements. The information should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
related Notes thereto that appear elsewhere in this Annual Report and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2005 @ 2004 @ 2003 @ 2002 @ 2001

(As Restated) ® (As Restated) ©® (As Restated) © (As Restated) ©
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Statement of Operations Data:

Netrevenue .............. e $1,780,770 $1,876,897  $1,889,055 $1,877,721  $1,881,935
Costofgoodssold.................. 957,264 1,012,156 1,058,356 1,073,089 1,116,321
Grossprofit ....................... 823,506 864,741 830,699 804,632 765,614
Total operating expenses ............ 711,306 666,674 862,197 618,107 570,494
Income (loss) from operations ........ 112,200 198,067 (31,498) 186,525 195,120
Interest and other expense ........... 29,753 31,902 . 47,124 41,265 41,412

Interestincome .................... 7,138 3,577 6,717 10,062 17,450

Income (loss) before income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in :
accounting principle .............. 89,585 169,742 (71,905) 155,322 , 171,158

Provision for income taxes ........... 3,934 38,922 16,857 29,771 48,151
Income (loss) before cumulative effect

of change in accounting principle . . . . 85,651 130,820 (88,762) 125,551 123,007
Cumulative effect of change in

accounting principle .............. — — (430,026) — —
Netincome (loss) .................. $ 85651 $ 130,820 $ (518,788) $ 125,551 $ 123,007
Basic earnings (loss) per share ........ $ 093 $ 144 $ 5.74) $ 1.40 $ 1.35
Weighted average shares outstariding - 91,683 90,692 90,387 89,430 91,239
Diluted earnings (loss) per share ...... $ 093 $ 143 §$ 574) % 140 § 1.34
Weighted average shares and share

equivalents outstanding ........... 92,265 91,329 90,387 90,000 91,534

As of March 31,

2005 2004 @ 2003 & 2002 @ 2001

(As Restated) & (As Restated) © (As Restated) © (As Restated) ©
(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents ........... $ 480,987 $ 414,548 $ 420,826 $ 387,247 $ 318,431
Working capital ................... 660,976 649,205 487,182 561,294 574,273
Total a8sets ... ... 2,158,059 2,047,914 2,034,175 2,610,742 2,352,708
Short-term borrowings, including

current portion of long-term debt . .. . 359 738 171,276 63,474 50,000
Long-termdebt .................... 343,987 351,474 351,707 576,744 529,495
Shareholders’ equity . . ... P 1,324,269 1,207,171 1,025,442 1,484,712 1,344,837
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Fiscal 2005 included charges related to (a) the U.S. Wholesale restructurin g, (b) the exit of the U.S. Young

Men’s Jeans and Wholesale H Hilfiger businesses, (c) the adjustment of carrying value of certain in-store
shops within U.S. department stores as a result of impairment, and (d) the USAQO investigation. These
charges, which totaled $34,504 before taxes, included $3,045 for lease termination costs, $5,100 for the
write-down of certain inventory (included in cost of goods sold), $3,047 in severance provisions, $5,000 for
the impairment write-down of in-store shops, $2,330 of additional margin support (included in revenue),
$1,900 of other exit costs and $14,082 of legal costs. Fiscal 2005 effective tax rate is lower than prior years.
See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K.

Fiscal 2004 included net charges related to (a) the closure of-four specialty retail stores, (b) the repositioning
of the U.S. Young Men’s Jeans business in March 2004, (c) the adjustment of carrying value of certain in-
store shops within U.S. department stores as part of the Company’s strategy to reduce over distribution, (d)
other cost reduction initiatives and (e) the settlement of a trademark counterfeiting and infringement
litigation against Goody’s Family Clothing, Inc. These net charges, which totaled $6,776 before taxes and
included $3,482 for lease buyouts, $720 for the write-down of retail store inventory (included in cost of

~ goods sold), $6,083 in severance provisions, $4,330 for the write-down of in- store shops, including certain

shops in the Young Men’s Jeans division, and $3,161 for the impairment of stores in the Retail segment,

-were offset by an $11,000 settlement received from Goody’s Family Clothing, Inc.

Fiscal 2003 results include a $430,026 cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle for tJhe .
adoption, on April 1, 2002, of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets” {“SFAS 142”) and a related deferred tax charge of $11,358. As a result, the
Company benefited by approximately $32,000, when compared to prior fiscal years, from the non- '
amortization of goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles under SFAS 142. Results also included a goodwill
impairment charge of $150,612 and $78,186 of i impairment charges related to the closure of 37 U S.
specialty stores.

Reflects the acquisition in July 2001 of the Company ] European licensee, Tommy Hllﬁger Europe B.V.
See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.

As more fully described in Item 7, the Company has corrected its fiscal 2002 and 2001 financial statements
as follows;

+ For Hong Kong tax matters by recording additional income tax provisions of $3,481 and $3,168 in fiscal
~ years 2002 and 2001 respectively, and a decrease to the March 31, 2000 retained earnings of $2,684.

»  For intercompany expense-allocation and certain other tax matters by recording additional income tax
provisions of $6,035 and $3,507 in ﬁscal years 2002 and 2001, respectively, and a $469 reduction to
retained earnings as of March 31, 2000.

«  For lease accounting corrections by reducing pretax income for fiscal years 2002 and 2001 by $1,417
and $2,257, respectively, reducing net income for fiscal 2002 and 2001 by $887 and $1,406,
respectively, and reducing retained earnings as of March 31, 2000 by $174.

*  For certain other accrual and reserve adjustments pretax income increased (decreased) for fiscal years
. 2002 and 2001 by $2,145 and' ($43), respectively, increasing net income for fiscal 2002 and 2001 by
- $1,409 and $128, and i increasing retained earnings as of March 31, 2000 by $7,525.

s Asaresult of the adjustments noted above, working capital was decreased by $29,897 and $17,103 in
fiscal 2002 and 2001, respectively, total assets were increased by $16,291 and $10,152 for fiscal 2002
and 2001, respectively, short term borrowings, including current portion of long-term increased by $28
in fiscal 2002, and long-term debt increased by $1,457 in fiscal 2002.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (dollar amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

The Company has restated its prior year financial statements to correct its accounting for certain tax, lease
accounting and other items as detailed below. The net impact of all of these corrections is a $1,332 decrease to
fiscal 2004 net income, a $35,183 increase to fiscal 2003 net loss, a $8,994 and $7,954 decrease to net income for
fiscal 2002 and 2001, respectively, and a $4,198 increase to the March 31, 2000 retained earnings.

Tax Items

In connection with responding to the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York
(“USAO”) investigation (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), the Company performed a
comprehensive review of its income tax accounting. This review, which was done under the direction of a Special
Committee of the Board of Directors, identified certain questions about Hong Kong tax matters. In May 2005, the
Company initiated discussions with the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (“IRD”) in an effort to resolve
whether its wholly-owned subsidiary, Tommy Hilfiger (Eastern Hemisphere) Limited (“THEH”) is subject to
profits tax in Hong Kong, and if so, the portion of THEH’s income that is subject to that tax. The Company now
believes that its previously issued financial statements should have contained provisions for profits tax in Hong
Kong and has restated its financial statements by recording additional income tax provisions of $3,660, $3,651,
$3,481 and $3,168 in fiscal years 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively, and a decrease to the March 31, 2000
retained earnings of $2,684.

During fiscal 2003, the State of New Jersey instituted an Alternative Minimum Assessment (“AMA”). The
Company included the AMA in its provisions for income taxes and began to make related tax payments to the state.
In December 2004, the Company determined that the AMA was not properly applied and that the Company’s
obligations for AMA were less than previously recorded. The Company has since discussed the matter with the
State of New Jersey to validate its understanding of the law and its application and has filed for refunds of the
amounts previously paid. The Company has corrected its financial statements by reversing the related income tax
provisions of $2,925 and $3,355 in fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In addition, the Company has corrected its income tax provisions for intercompany expense allocations and
certain other tax matters by recording additional income tax provisions of $222, $3,368, $6,035 and $3,507 in fiscal
years 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and a $469 net reduction to retained earnings as of March 31, 2000.

Lease Accounting

On February 7, 2005 the Office of the Chief Accountant of the Securities and Exchange Commission issued
a letter to the Center for Public Company Audit Firms of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
regarding certain specific lease accounting issues. As a result of that letter, the Company initiated a review of the
Company’s lease accounting practices. Management and the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of
Directors determined that the Company was incorrectly accounting for certain lease accounting matters,
including rent holiday periods and the classification of landlord incentives along with the related amortization.
The Company has accordingly restated its financial statements as described below.

In periods prior to the second quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company had recorded straight-line rent expense for
certain store operating leases beginning with the commencement date of store operations rather than the lease
commencement date. Rent expense was not consistently recognized during rent holidays, occupancy periods before
the store openings, or certain leasehold build-out periods. As a result of correcting its policy, the Company has
adjusted its financial statements by increasing rent expense with a corresponding reduction in operating income, by
$2,028, $1,110, $881 and $614 in fiscal 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and a decrease to retained
earnings at March 31, 2000 of $52.

Previously, the Company had recorded tenant allowances (amounts received from a landlord to fund
leasehold improvements) as a reduction of property and equipment. These amounts should have been recorded as
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a deferred lease incentive liability. The amortization of these landlord incentives was originally recorded as a
reduction in depreciation expense rather than as a reduction of rent expense. In addition, the statements of cash
flow had originally reflected these incentives as a reduction of capital expenditures within cash flows from
investing ac_tivities rather than as cash flows from operating activities. While these adjustments have no effect on
pretax of net income, the Company has corrected its i income statement classification of these expenses by
decreasing rent expense, with a correspondmg increase to depreciation expense of $3,706 and $4,059 in fiscal
2004 and fiscal 2003, respectlvely

The Company has also reviewed the accounting for its participation in the design and construction of one of
its retail stores during fiscal 2002. Under the guidance of EITF 97-10, “The Effect of Lessee Involvement in
Asset Construction,” the Company has concluded that its historical accounting did not fully reflect its
participation in the construction of that store, which should have included additional construction costs of $1,500
with offsetting imputed debt. As a result of adjusting the original cost and related imputed debt, the Company has
adjusted its financial statements by recording a (decrease) increase to rent.expense of ($476), ($479), $404 and
$1,643 in fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003, fiscal 2002 and fiscal 2001, respectively, an increase to interest expense of
$146, $148 and $88 in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, an increase (decrease) to net income of $203,
$158, ($329) and ($1,010) in fiscal 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and a $122 decrease to Retained
earnings as of March 31, 2000. Additionally, in fiscal 2003, the Company recorded an asset impairment of its
fixed assets related to this store. Accordingly, the remaining value attributable to this adjustment was likewise .
written off in fiscal 2003 resulting in a decrease of $1,456 and $850 to pretax and net income; respectively.

Other [tems ‘

The Company has identified certain other accrued liabilities, allowances and inventory reserves tliat had
accumulated over a period of years and that were in excess of amounts required at March 31, 2005. The .
Company has corrected its financial statements by increasing (decreasing) pretax income for fiscal years 2004,
2003, 2002 and 2001 by $1,843, ($235), $2,125 and ($43), respectively. Net income for fiscal years 2004, 2003,
2002 and 2001 was also adjusted by $1,164, $85, $1,409 and $128. In addition, the Company increased its
retained earnings as of March 31, 2000 by $7,525.

See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for a summary of the effects
of the restatement of previously issued financial statements to reflect the above items. The accompanying
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations gives effect to these
restatements.

General

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Company’s Consolidated -
Financial Statements and related notes thereto in Item 8. All references to years relate to the fiscal year ended
March 31¢t of such year. - :

U.S. Attorney’s Office Investigation

As more fully described under Legal Proceedings, during fiscal 2005, thé Company was subject to an
investigation by the USAO regarding buying office commission rates paid by.its U.S. subsidiaries to THEH, as
well as other related tax matters. On August.10, 2005, the Company announced that it had entered into a non-
prosecution agreement with the USAO under which the USAO concluded that criminal tax charges were not .
warranted and closed its investigation. As part of the non-prosecution agreement, the Company agreed to amend
its U.S. Federal tax returns for fiscal years 2001 through 2004 to reflect a reduced buying office commission rate
for those years. As a result of the commission rate reduction and other unrelated adjustments that were also
reflected in the amended tax returns, the Company paid approximately $15,400 in additional federal income
taxes and $2,700 in interest for these four years, taking into account the effect of changes in other tax attributes,
including net operating loss carry forwards. As the change in the buying office commission rate is determined to
be a change in estimate, restatement of prior year tax provisions for this matter was not appropriaté.
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Business Segments

During fiscal 2005, the Company reviewed its segment reporting and determined that certain operating-
components of its previously reported Wholesale segment no longer share similar long-term economic
characteristics and should therefore no longer be aggregated. The previously reported Wholesale segment is now
divided into U.S. Wholesale and International Wholesale segments. Previously reported segment data has been
reclassified to conform to the new segment structure.

The Company has four reportable segments: U.S. Wholesale, International Wholesale, Retail and Licensing.
The Company’s reportable segments are business units that offer different products and services or similar
products through different distribution channels or geographic regions. The U.S. and International Wholesale
segments consist of the design and sourcing of men’s and women’s sportswear and activewear, jeanswear and
childrenswear for wholesale distribution in their respective geographic regions. The Retail segment reflects the
operations of the Company’s outlet and specialty stores. The Licensing segment consists of services related to
licensing the Company’s trademarks for specified products in specified geographic areas and the operations of
the Company’s Far East buying offices. The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on
segment profits. Income (loss) from Operations (“Segment Profits”) is comprised of segment net revenue less
cost of goods sold and selling, general and administrative expenses.

Business units that are not aggregated in the above mentioned reportable segments either do not qualify as a
segment or do not meet the aggregation criteria of SFAS 131 and are included in Other. Other consists of
E-Commerce, the Kail Lagerfeld businesses and corporate activity. Included in corporate activity are executive
compensation, certain marketing costs, amortization and impairment of intangibles, and other corporate
overhead.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth the Consolidated Statements of Operations data as a percentage of net revenue.
) Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
) 2005 2004 2003
Netrevenue ............c..o.vv. et et e et e e e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costof 200ds SOld . .. ..ot e 53.8 539 56.0
Gross Profit ... ..o e 46.2 46.1 44.0
Depreciation and amortization. ... ...ttt i 4.4 4.6 7.6
Other SG&A EXPENSES . ..ttt it e e 355 30.9 30.0
Goodwill impairment .. ... e e L — — 8.0
Total operating expenses ... . P e 39.9 35.5 45.6
Income (loss) from operations ...........0 ...t 63 106 (1.6)
Interest expense, net ............. SN 1.3 1.5 2.2
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting ‘

PrnCIple ... e 5.0 9.1 (3.8)
Provision for inCOME taXes ... ...ov.vvverrerrneneiiineenns e P 0.2 2.1 0.9
Income (loss) before ,cumu‘lat.ive effect of change in accounting principle ....... 4.8 7.0 4.7
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle .. ...................... — — (22.8)
Net income (I0SS) . . oottt ettt ettt 4.8 7.0 (27.5)

Items Affecting Comparability

Fiscal 2003 included charges related to (a) the U.S. Wholesale restructuring, (b) the exit of the U.S. Young
Men’s Jeans and Wholesale H Hilfiger businesses, (¢) the adjustment of carrying value of certain in-store shops
within U.S. department stores as a result of impairment, and (d) the USAOQ investigation. These charges, which
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totaled $34,504 before taxes, included $3,045 for lease termination costs, $5,100 for the write-down of certain
inventory (included in cost of goods sold), $3,047 in severance provisions, $5,000 for the impairment write-down
of in-store shops, $2,330 of additional margin support (included in revenue), $1,900 of other exit costs and
$14,082 of legal costs.

In fiscal 2005, the Company reduced the commission rate paid to the buying office by its subsidiaries. This
decrease in commission had the effect of decreasing intercompany revenue by approximately $9,200 at the
buying office (reported in the Licensing segment), with corresponding decreases in cost of sales at the affected
consolidated subsidiaries, with no net impact on consolidated pretax results.

The fiscal 2005 tax provision includes the cumulative impact of adjusting the buying office commission rate
for the years 2001 through 2004 in connection with the resolution of the USAQO investigation which has resulted
in a tax provision of approximately $12,000 after taking into account previously established reserves for this
matter. In addition, the Company recorded a tax provision of approximately $9,200 for the settlement of several
state tax audits related to the income of Tommy Hilfiger Licensing, Inc. (“THLI”). The current year tax provision
also includes several items which have significantly lowered the effective tax rate. The effective rate is generally
attributable to the relative level of earnings in the various taxing jurisdictions in which the Company operates.
During the current year, the Company experienced a pretax operating loss in the United States and pretax income
in other jurisdictions that have lower tax rates. Owing to the different tax rates between these jurisdictions, the
recognition of a net operating loss in the U.S., results in a net reduction to the current year tax provision. In
addition, several significant tax credits and benefits have been recognized in the current year. During fiscal 2003,
the Company had concluded that certain state tax assets were unlikely to be utilized, and increased that year’s tax
provision to establish valuation reserves against those assets. Due to changes to the Company’s earnings
projections, the utilization of tax credits and state deferred tax assets has been reviewed during the current year.
Based on this review, the Company has concluded that foreign tax credits should be recognized and that the
previously established valuation reserves on certain deferred tax assets, are no longer required. Accordingly,
foreign tax credits of approximately $16,000 and the reversal of valuation allowances of approximately $14,000
have been recorded as a reduction to the current year tax provision. As a result of these tax benefits the current
year tax provision and effective rate have been reduced. See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for more information.

Fiscal 2004 included net charges related to (a) the closure of four specialty retail stores, (b) the repositioning
of the U.S. Young Men’s Jeans business in March 2004, (c) the adjustment of carrying value of certain in-store
shops within U.S. department stores as part of the Company’s strategy to reduce over distribution, (d) other cost
reduction initiatives and (e) the settlement of a trademark counterfeiting and infringement litigation against
Goody’s Family Clothing, Inc. These net charges, which totaled $6,776 before taxes and included $3,482 for
lease buyouts, $720 for the write-down of retail store inventory (included in cost of goods sold), $6,083 in
severance provisions, $4,330 for the impairment write-down of in-store shops, including certain shops in the
Young Men’s Jeans division, and $3,161 for the impairment of stores in the Retail segment were offset by an
$11,000 settlement received from Goody’s Family Clothing, Inc.

In fiscal 2003, the Company recorded charges of $79,642 before taxes related to the closure of all but seven
of its U.S. specialty stores and the impairment of fixed assets of the seven U.S. specialty stores that the Company
continued to operate. These charges consisted of; $38,929 for the impairment of leasehold improvements, store
fixtures and other assets of stores that were closed; $24,263 for estimated lease termination costs; $2,600 for the
write down of inventory (included in cost of goods sold); $764 for other expenses, including employee costs, and
$13,086 for an impairment charge to write down to fair value the fixed assets and leasehold improvements at the
seven stores that remained open.

On April 1, 2002, the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 142,

“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 142 requires that goodwill, including previously
existing goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, not be amortized but that they be tested for
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impairment at adoption and at least annually thereafter. The Company performed its initial test upon adoption
and performs its annual impairment review during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, unless a triggering event
warrants earlier analysis. '

Upon adoption of SFAS 142 in the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company recorded a non-cash, non-
operating charge of $430,026 to reduce the carrying value of its goodwill to fair value. This charge is reflected as
the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company performed its first annual impairment review of goodwill and intangible assets under SFAS
142 during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. As a result of this review, the Company recorded a non-cash charge
of $150,612 in operating expenses for the impairment of goodwill, principally in its U.S. Wholesale segment.
These charges had no effect on the Company’s credit facilities and financial covenants that existed at that time,
or cash flows. Impairment testing was conducted in fiscal 2004 and 2005 and no impairments were indicated in
those years.

Prior to April 1, 2002, the Company recorded deferred tax liabilities relating to the difference in the book
and tax basis of intangible assets, principally trademark rights. As a result of adopting SFAS 142, those deferred
tax liabilities could no longer be used to support the realization of certain deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the
Company recorded a one-time non-cash deferred tax charge totaling $11,358 in order to establish a valuation
allowance against those deferred tax assets. This charge was included in the Company’s provision for income
taxes in fiscal 2003.

The Company consolidates entities whose functional currencies include the Euro and the Canadian dollar.
Comparability to prior years is impacted as a result of changes in these exchange rates. The average annual Euro
to U.S. dollar exchange rates for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 approximated 1.26, 1.18 and 1.00, respectively, and
the average annual Canadian to U.S. dollar exchange rates for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 approximated 0.78,
0.74 and 0.65, respectively. The table below shows the impact of these rate changes versus the prior year on the
respective income statement captions.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004

Impact of Euro exchange rates on:

REVENUE ..ttt e $34,540 $58,898

Grossmargin . ... e 19,292 31,681

Operating eXpenses .........ovvviniiinnieeinnan., 14,561 23,935

Operating inCome . .. ..., C 4732 7,746
Impact of Canadian dollar exchange rates on:

Revenue ... .. 8,460 8,262

GroSS MArgIn . ..ottt e et 4,156 3,527

Operating eXpenses ... ....veeernernnneeeennanen.. © 3,061 2,430

Operatingincome ........ ... ..o, . 1,095 1,097
Impact of all exchange rates on: :

Revenue ............................ T, 43,000 67,160

Gross margin ........ e 23,448 35,208

Operating 8XpeNSes .. ... .o.uveunernennen e 17,622 26,365

Operating inCome . .. ....v.ittrienn i 5,827 8,843

Fiscal 2005 versus Fiscal 2004

Overview

The Company’s net revenue declined 5.1% in fiscal 2005 to $1,780,770 compared to $1,876,897 in fiscal
2004, despite the $43,000 favorable impact of translating the stronger foreign currencies in fiscal 2005, when
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compared to fiscal 2004. A decline in U.S. Wholesale net revenue was partially offset by increases in the
International Wholesale, Retail and Licensing segments, along with favorable foreign currency translation rates.
Fluctuations in net revenue in each of the segments were primarily volume related and are further described
below under Segment Operations.

Gross profit as a percentage of net revenue remained basically constant at 46.2% in fiscal 2005, compared to
46.1% in fiscal 2004. Decreased gross margins in the U.S. Wholesale segment were offset by higher
contributions to total net revenue from the International Wholesale, Retail and Licensing segments, which
generate higher gross margins than the U.S. Wholesale segment. The Company also benefited from an increase in
gross margin from the International Wholesale and Retail segments when compared to the prior year. The
Company’s gross margins may not be directly comparable to those of its competitors, as income statement
classifications of certain expenses may vary by company. '

Operating expenses increased 6.7% in fiscal 2005 to $711,306, compared to $666,674 in fiscal 2004.
Approximately $21,000 of this increase was due to the items affecting comparability as noted above and $17,622
was the result of the higher exchange rates. Increases in the International Wholesale and Retail segment expenses
were partially offset by decreases in the U.S. Wholesale segment and a decrease of approximately $16,000 in
Corporate incentive compensation and marketing expenses. As a percentage of net revenue, operating expenses
increased to 39.9% in fiscal 2005, as compared to 35.5% in fiscal 2004. This increase results from the net
increases noted above and also to the decrease in net revenue when compared to last year.

Interest and other expense decreased 6.7% in fiscal 2005 to $29,753, as compared to $31,902 in fiscal 2004.
The decrease primarily resulted from the repayment upon maturity of $151,091 principal amount of the 6.50%
notes that were due June 1, 2003 (the “2003 Notes”) and the repurchase of $7,530 principal amount of 6.85%
notes maturing on June 1, 2008 (the “2008 Notes™) during the second quarter of fiscal 2005.

Interest income increased 99.6% in fiscal 2005 to $7,138, as compared to $3,577 in fiscal 2004. The
increase was caused by higher average invested cash balances and higher interest rates earned on these balances.
Interest rates earned on invested cash balances for fiscal 2005 and 2004 approximated 1.57% and 0.99%,
respectively.

In fiscal 2005, the Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $3,934 on income before taxes of
$89,585 compared to a provision for income taxes of $38,922 on income before taxes of $169,742 in fiscal 2004.
The effective rate for fiscal 2005 was 4.4% compared to 22.9% in fiscal 2004. The effective tax rate for fiscal
2005 was substantially changed from the prior years as a result of the items described under Items Affecting
Comparability.

Segment Operations
Financial information for the Company’s reportable segments is as follows:

u.s. International
Wholesale Wholesale Retail  Licensing Other Eliminations Total

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2005

Netrevenue .................... $ 679,590 $525,085 $500,627 $119955 $ 1,318 $(45,805) $1,780,770
Income (loss) from operations . ..... (27,703) 89,049 46,418 77,407 (143,244) 70,273 112,200
Operating margin ................ 4.1)% 17.0% 9.3% 64.5%

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2004
Netrevenue .................... $ 958,933 $429,737 $425,744 5119450 $ — $(56,967) $1,876,897
Income (loss) from operations ... ... 63,720 70,296 23,355 92,327 (129,225) 77,594 198,067
Operating margin ................ 6.6% 16.4% 5.5% 77.3%

Variance
Netrevenue .................... $(279,343) $ 95,348 $74883 $ 505 $ 1,318 $ 11,162 $ (96,127)
Income (loss) from operations .. .... (91,423) 18,753 23,063 (14,920) (14,019) (7,321) (85,867)
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U.S. Wholesale Segment

U.S. Wholesale riet revenue decreased 29.1% in fiscal 2005 to $679,590 as compared to $958,933 in fiscal
2004. Within the segment, net revenue by component was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

‘ 2005 2004 Change
Menswear ............ e $230,380 $343,447 $(113,067)
WOMENSWEAT . . vttt it et ittt e v e ‘ 344,641 424,876 (80,235)
Childrenswear ... ..., 104,569 190,610 (86,041)

$679,590 $958,933  $(279,343)

Net revenue decreased as a result of lower volume during fiscal 2005, partially offset by higher unit prices,
as compared to the prior year. The lower volume was mainly driven by lower orders from the Company’s major
customers reflecting lower sales trends at retailers. In addition, the number of stores that the Company sells
through has also been reduced.

Segment profit decreased 143.5% in fiscal 2005 to a loss of $27,703, as compared to a profit of $63,720 in
fiscal 2004. This decrease is a result of the decline in net revenue discussed above and lower gross margin, ’
partially offset by lower expenses. The decline in gross margin was mainly due to higher costs associated with
new product initiatives and a higher level of price adjustments when compared to fiscal 2004. In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 20035, the U.S. Wholesale segment underwent a restructuring and incurred approximately
$14,300 of charges primarily related to the exiting of its Young Men’s Jeans and Wholesale H Hilfiger
businesses. These charges were more than offset by decreased variable expenses directly related to the lower
revenue, subsequent savings from the restructuring, lower depreciation resulting from the impairment of certain
fixed assets, and the decrease in the number of store locations as noted above.

International Wholesale Segment

International Wholesale net revenue increased 22.2% in fiscal 2005 to $525,085, as compared to $429,737
in fiscal 2004. Within the segment, net revenue by component was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 Change
MeENSWEar . ..ot e $279,501  $228,416 $51,085
WOMENSWEAT .« . ottt et e et e e e 185,755 147,504 38,251
Childrenswear .............. e 59,829 53,817 6,012

$525,085. $429,737 $95,348

Net revenue increased as a result of increased volume during fiscal 2005 and higher exchange rates. The
higher volume reflects increased penetration in European markets as the Company broadens its product offerings
and increases the number of store locations throughout Europe. Approximately $33,700 of the increase is
attributable to higher exchange rates.

Segment profit increased $18,753, or 26.7%, to $89,049 in fiscal 2005 from $70,296 in fiscal 2004. As a
percentage of net revenue, operating profit increased to 17.0% in fiscal 2005, as compared to 16.4% in fiscal
2004. The increase is attributable to increased revenue, higher gross margin and higher exchange rates, offset in
part, by a proportionate increase in selling, general and administrative expenses. The improved gross margin
resulted from a higher percentage of regular priced sales versus off-price as well as the impact of higher
exchange rates on U.S. dollar denominated inventory purchases. The increased operating expenses are reflective
of increased variable costs as a result of the increased revenues, increases in certain fixed costs in anticipation of
expansion, increased marketing, and an approximate $12,500 increase as a result of higher exchange rates.
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Retail Segment

Net revenue increased $74,883, or 17.6%, from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005, as a result of the addition of 33
stores since March 31, 2004, increased net revenue from existing stores, including those operating for the full
year in fiscal 2005 versus a partial year in fiscal 2004, and from higher exchange rates. The 33 retail stores (11 in
the U.S. and 22 internationally) that opened in fiscal 2005 contributed net revenue of $59,839 during fiscal 2003,
consisting of approximately $19,220 of revenue in the U.S. and $40,619 of international revenue. Comparable
store sales in the Company’s U.S. outlet division, its largest retail component, were slightly higher than fiscal
2004. The portion of the total increase attributable to higher exchange rates approximated $9,300. At March 31,
2005, the Company operated 200 retail stores, consisting of 159 outlet stores and 41 specialty stores, compared to
167 stores, consisting of 132 outlets and 35 specialty stores in fiscal 2004.

Segment profit increased $23,063, or 98.7%, from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005. As a percentage of net revenue,
operating profit was 9.3% and 5.5% for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. These increases result from the higher
revenues as noted above, the higher exchange rates, improved gross margins, improved performance by U.S. Retail
stores, and the fact that fiscal 2004 included $6,406 of charges relating to the closure of four specialty stores as
noted under ftems Affecting Comparability. The increased gross margins reflect improved product design and -
merchandise assortment, which has translated into higher average unit prices and lower markdowns.

Licensing Segment

Licensing net revenue increased 0.4% to $119,955 in fiscal 2005, as compared to $119,450 in fiscal 2004,
The increase primarily results from higher royalties earned from third-party licensees and the benefit of stronger
exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar conversion of royalties from those licensees operating in non-U.S.
locations. These increases were mostly offset by lower commissions on certain intercompany activity resulting
from lower volume as well as a lower buying office commission rate, as noted under ftems Affecting
Comparability. Higher royalties earned from third-party licensees included, notably, the Company’s geographic
license in Japan, licenses for optical and sunglasses, footwear in Europe, as well as watches, linens, bedding, bath
products and fragrance.

Licensing segment profits decreased by $14,920, or 16.2%, from fiscal 2004 to fiscal 2005. This decrease is
due primarily to a favorable litigation settlement of $11,000 included in fiscal 2004, as noted under Items '
Affecting Comparability. The remaining decrease is attributable to the decreased buying office commissions
partially offset by the increased third-party licensing revenue, as noted above.

Fiscal 2004 versus Fiscal 2003

Overview

Fiscal 2004 net revenue decreased slightly in fiscal 2004 to $1,876,897, as compared to $1,889,055 in fiscal
2003. A decrease in net revenue in the U.S. Wholesale segment was offset, in part, by increases in the
International Wholesale and Retail segments. Within the Retail segment, as further described below, net revenue
from stores opened since March 31, 2003 was partially offset by a decrease in net revenue due to the closing of
the 37 U.S. specialty stores mentioned above and declining comparable sales in existing stores in the Company’s
U.S. outlet division. Licensing segment net revenue in fiscal 2004 remained essentially unchanged compared to
fiscal 2003 as higher royalty income on various licensed products, as well as international licenses, offset the loss
of royalty revenue associated with the men’s underwear business, which was taken in-house on June 1, 2003.

Gross profit as a percentage of net revenue increased to 46.1% in fiscal 2004 from 44.0% in fiscal 2003. The
improvement was due to higher contributions from the International Wholesale and Retail segments, which
generate a higher gross margin than the Company’s consolidated gross margin.

Operating expenses decreased 22.7% in fiscal 2004 to $666,674, as compared to $862,197 in fiscal 2003. As
a percentage of net revenue, operating expenses decreased to 35.5% in fiscal 2004, as compared to 45.6% in
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fiscal 2003. These decreases were principally due to the fiscal 2003 impairment of goodwill of $150,612, Retail
segment charges of $77,042 related to the closure of specialty stores, offset in part by the favorable litigation
settlement of $11,000, all previously described under ltems Affecting Comparability. Operating expenses within
the International Wholesale segment increased while the U.S. Wholesale segment experienced a decrease.

Interest and other expense decreased to $31,902 in fiscal 2004, from $47,124 in fiscal 2003. The decrease
was primarily due to the repayment upon maturity in June 2003 of $151,091 principal amount of the 2003 Notes
and a lower average level of debt in fiscal 2004 as compared to fiscal 2003.

Interest income decreased 46.7% in fiscal 2004 to $3,577, as compared to $6,717 in fiscal 2003. The
decrease was due to lower interest rates earned on invested cash balances and lower average cash balances
following the repayment of the 2003 Notes.

In fiscal 2004, the Company recorded a provision for income taxes of $38,922 on income before taxes of
$169,742 compared to a provision for income taxes of $16,857 against a loss before taxes and the cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle of $71,905 in fiscal 2003. The effective rate for fiscal 2004 increased
to 22.9% of income before taxes from (23.4%) in 2003. The provision in fiscal 2003 reflects the deferred tax
charge related to the adoption of SFAS 142, the non-deductibility of the goodwill impairment and the
establishment of valuation reserves for certain deferred tax assets. The effective tax rate for all periods is
reflective of the relative level of earnings in the various taxing jurisdictions to which the Company’s earnings are
subject, as well as changes in tax laws affecting the Company’s operations.

Segment Operations
Financial information for the Company’s reportable segments is as follows:

u.s. International
Wholesale Wholesale Retail  Licensing Other Eliminations Total

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2004

Netrevenue ..............:..... $ 958,933 $429,737 $425,744  $119450 § — $(56,967) $1,876,897
Income (loss) from operations .. .... 63,720 70,296 ' 23,355 92,327 (129,225) 77,594 198,067
Operatingmargin ................ 6.6% 16.4% . 5.5% 77.3%

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 :
Netrevenue ..............0..... $1,112,593 $308,640 $405,099 $122,728 $ — $(60,005) $1,889,055
Income (loss) from operations . . . ... 76,779 41,996 (50,972) 80,746 (259,889) 79,842 (31,498)
Operating margin ................ 6.9% 13.6% (12.6)% 65.8%

Variance
Netrevenue .................... $ (153,660) $121,097 T $20,645 $ (3,278 $ — $ 3,038 $ (12,158)
Income (loss) from operations . .. ... (13,059) 28,300 74,327 11,581 130,664 (2,248) 229,565

U.S. Wholesale Segment

U.S. Wholesale segment net revenue decreased by $153,660, or 13.8%, from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004,
Within the segment, net revenue by component was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2004 2003 Change
MENSWEAT .« o\ ottt et e $343,447 $ 381,577 $ (38,130)
WOmMENSWear .. ..o oo i P 424 876 466,967 (42,091)
Childrenswear .. ....... ... . i, © 190,610 264,049 (73,439)

$958,933  $1,112,593  $(153,660)

Net revenue decreased as a result of lower average unit prices and lower volume during fiscal 2004 as
compared to the prior year. The lower average unit prices accounted for approximately 64% of the decrease,
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while lower volume accounted for the remaining 36% of the decrease. The lower average unit prices were driven
by a change in the mix between the Company’s normal off-price channels and major U.S. department store
customers. Also, the men’s underwear division, which was brought in-house in fiscal 2004, has a lower average
unit price than the overall U.S. Wholesale segment.

U.S. Wholesale segment profits decreased by $13,059, or 17.0%, from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004. As a
percentage of segment revenue, U.S. Wholesale segment profits were 6.6% and 6.9% for fiscal years 2004 and
2003, respectively. The decrease in profits is mainly attributable to the decline in net revenue, offset, in part, by
lower operating expenses as a result of cost savings plans implemented at the beginning of fiscal 2004.

International Wholesale Segment

International Wholesale segment net revenue increased by $121,097, or 39.2%, from fiscal 2003 to fiscal
2004. Within the segment, net revenue by component was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

. 2004 2003 Change
Menswear ............... e $228.416 $173,754 $ 54,662 .
Womenswear ..... P 147,504 - 97,876 49,628
Childrenswear ............c.iuiiiiiiiiiiiaean. - 53,817 - 37,010 16,807

$429,737 $308,640  $121,097

Net revenue increased due to higher average unit prices, higher volume and higher exchange rates during
fiscal 2004 as compared to the prior year (as noted above). Higher average unit prices and higher volume each
accounted for approximately 50% of the increased revenue, with the unit prices being favorably impacted by the
higher exchange rates and a higher proportion of regular price sales.

International Wholesale segment profits increased by $28,300, or 67.4%, from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004. As
a percentage of segment revenue, International Wholesale segment profits were 16.4% and 13.6% for fiscal years
2004 and 2003, respectively. Profits increased in fiscal 2004 due to the increase in net revenue, higher exchange
rates and improved margins. The improved margins were a result of the higher proportion of regular price sales
as noted above.

Retail Segment

Retail segment net revenue increased $20,645, or 5.1%, from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004. The increase was
due to net revenue from stores opened since March 31, 2003, partially offset by the closing of 37 U.S. specialty
stores between January and April 2003 and declining sales at existing stores in the Company’s U.S. outlet
division during fiscal 2004. Retail stores opened since March 31, 2003 contributed net revenue of $41,439 during
fiscal 2004, consisting of $20,671 of revenue in the U.S. and $20,768 of international revenue. Revenue
generated from the 37 U.S. specialty retail stores that were closed amounted to $657 and $31,084 during fiscal
2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively. U.S. Retail stores operate on a fiscal calendar that ends on the Saturday
closest to March 31, and in fiscal 2004, this resuited in a 53 week. The Company estimates that the extra week
contributed approximately $4,900 to net revenue.

Retail segment profits increased $74,327, from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004. As a percentage of segment revenue,
Retail segment profits were 5.5% and (12.6)% for fiscal years 2004 and 2003, respectively. In the U.S., operating
profits and operating margin increased due to the fiscal 2003 charges incurred in the Company’s U.S. specialty
retail division following the store closings mentioned above. Partially offsetting this increase was a decrease in
operating profits in the U.S. outlet division resulting from higher markdowns experienced during fiscal 2004 as
compared to fiscal 2003. Internationally, operating profits and operating margin decreased due to higher operating
expenses in Europe and Canada as those divisions expanded the infrastructure of their retail businesses.
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Licensing Segment

Licensing segment revenue decreased by $3,278, or 2.7%, from fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004. The decrease in
segment revenue was mainly due to a volume driven reduction in buying agency commissions from consolidated
subsidiaries partially offset by higher royalties earned from third-party licensees. Higher royalties earned from
third-party licensees, including the Company’s geographic license in Japan, licenses for tailored clothing and
footwear in Europe and watches, partially offset by the loss of royalties associated with the men’s underwear
business which was brought in-house on June 1, 2003. New products introduced under licenses entered into
during fiscal 2004 and 2003 contributed a de minimus amount of revenue during those years.

Licensing segment profits increased by $11,581, or 14.3%, and segment profit percentage increased from
fiscal 2003 to fiscal 2004 resulting from the $11,000 litigation settlement noted above, reduced operating
expenses at the Company’s Far East buying offices and the increase in royalty revenue, partially offset by a
reduction in buying office commissions from consolidated subsidiaries.

Forward Outlook

The Company expects consolidated revenue for fiscal 2006 to decrease in the mid to high single digit
percentage range compared to fiscal 2005 caused by order reductions among U.S. department stores and a
decline in the value of the Euro against the U.S. dollar.

The Company expects International wholesale revenue to increase in fiscal 2006 in the high single digit
percentage range from $525,085 in fiscal 2005 led by growth in Europe’s wholesale revenue in the mid teen
percentage range in local currency. The Company believes it has opportunities for continued growth within its
major European markets, as well as opportunities for increasing market share in regions where it is
underrepresented relative to its-.competitors, including Scandinavia, Italy, and France. In April 2005, the
Company acquired its Italian distributor, and plans to invest in the Italian market for future growth.

Retail revenue is expected to grow in the mid teen percentage range in fiscal 2006 from $500,627 in fiscal
2005, primarily due to revenue from new store openings in Europe, Canada and the United States. The Company
anticipates operating approximately 171 outlet stores and approximately 56 specialty stores worldwide by March
31, 2006, a projected increase of 27 stores from March 31, 2005. The Company’s revenue assumptions include a
continuation of recent positive comparable store sales trends, along with the introduction, begmmng in Spring
2006, of several new test store concepts, including four H Hilfiger retail stores.

The Company expects U.S. Wholesale revenue to decline in figcal 2006 by approximately 35% from
$679,590 in fiscal 2003, in part due to the closing of its Young Men’s Jeans and Wholesale H Hilfiger businesses
in January 2005. The H Hilfiger business has been repositioned from the wholesale channel to the retail channel,
with plans to open 4 additional stores by February 2006. Excluding Young Men’s Jeans and the Wholesale H
Hilfiger businesses, the Company expects an overall decrease in its continuing U.S. men’s, women’s and
children’s businesses in the high-twenty percent range. '

Licensing segment revenue in fiscal 2006 is expected to be generally'comparable to fiscal 2005, at $74,150
with higher international royalties and commissions, particularly from Japan and elsewhere in Asia, offset by
lower royalty income from U.S. licenses.

As the mix of the Company’s business shifts toward a higher concentration of International Wholesale and
Retail business, both gross profit and selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales are
expected to rise. Anticipated expenses for fiscal 2006 also include costs to support the development of its H
Hilfiger retail concept, the Karl Lagerfeld brand in the United States, and its E-commerce initiative and take into
account the cost savings related to the U.S. Wholesale restructuring as discussed under subsequent events.

Taking these factors into account, the Company believes operating income will be in the high single digit
percentage range of revenue for fiscal 2006, compared to 6.3% in fiscal 2005.

33




The Company projects pretax income to increase by approximately 35% in fiscal 2006 compared to its fiscal
2005 pretax results. The Company’s outlook does not include the effect of expensing stock options. The
Company will implement the new accounting rules related to stock options as required in fiscal 2007.

The Company’s estimated effective tax rate for fiscal 2006 is expected to be approximately 28% as
compared to approximately 4% in fiscal 2005. The reasons for the variance are discussed in Items Affecting
Comparability. The Company’s expected effective tax rate for fiscal 2006 is below the U.S. statutory tax rate,
principally because of lower tax rates applicable to the Company’s earnings in certain countries outside the U.S,,
such as in the Netherlands, where the Company enjoys a favorable tax ruling through March 31, 2007.

The Company believes that net income for fiscal 2006 will be comparable to or slightly higher than that of
fiscal 2005.

Capital expenditures for fiscal 2006 are anticipated to be approximately $90,000 to support the Company’s
worldwide retail expansion, additional and renovated in-store shops and fixtured areas, and operating facilities.
The retail expansion contemplates the opening of approximately 27 new retail stores, including four H Hilfiger
stores, as well as new specialty stores in various European markets.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash provided by operations continues to be the Company’s primary source of funds to finance operating
needs, capital expenditures and debt service. Capital expenditures primarily relate to construction of additional
retail stores and maintenance or selective expansion of the Company’s in-store shop and fixtured area program,
as well as improvements in facilities and information systems. The Company’s sources of liquidity are cash and
cash equivalents on hand, short-term investments and cash from operations.

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance increased from $414,548 at March 31, 2004 to $480,987
at March 31, 2005. In fiscal 2005, the Company generated net cash from operating activities of $209,479,
consisting of $112,401 of net income adjusted for non-cash items, and $97,078 of cash provided primarily by
changes in working capital. Decreases in accounts receivable and inventory are reflective of lower revenue in
fiscal 2005, while an increase in accrued expenses results from legal and tax accruals resulting from the USAO
investigation and other tax matters as noted previously. Payment of approximately $27,000 for these accruals
were made in the second quarter of fiscal 2006. During fiscal 2005, cash used in investing activities related to
capital expenditures of $89,099, which were made principally in support of the expansion of the European
business, relocation of U.S. offices and the opening of additional U.S. retail stores. In addition, the Company
paid $35,996 for acquisitions (see Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K),
and $13,117 for the purchase of short-term investments. During fiscal 2005, cash used in financing activities
primarily related to the repayment of $7,530 principal amount of the 2008 Notes and the repayment of the short-
term borrowings under TH Europe’s credit facility, offset by proceeds from the issuance of Ordinary Shares
under the Company’s employee stock option program. Foreign exchange variances had the effect of decreasing
cash by $1,641. A more detailed analysis of the changes in cash and cash equivalents is presented in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

As of March 31, 2005, the Company’s principal debt facilities consisted of $192,325 of the 2008 Notes,
$150,000 principal amount of 9% Senior Bonds due December 1, 2031 (the “2031 Bonds”) and a $300,000
revolving credit facility (the “Credit Facility”). The 2008 Notes and the 2031 Bonds (collectively, the “Notes”™)
were issued by TH USA and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by THC. The indenture under which the
Notes were issued contains covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of subsidiaries of THC to incur
additional indebtedness, restrict the ability of THC and its subsidiaries to incur indebtedness secured by liens or
enter into sale and leaseback transactions and restrict the ability of THC and TH USA to engage in mergers or
consolidations.
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The Credit Facility, as of March 31, 2005, which was guaranteed by THC, consisted of an unsecured
$300,000 TH USA three-year revolving credit facility, which would have expired on July 1, 2005, of which up to
$175,000 could have been used for direct borrowings. The Credit Facility was available for letters of credit,
working capital and other general corporate purposes. As of March 31, 2005, there were no direct borrowings
outstanding under the Credit Facility and $51,198 of the available borrowings under the Credit Facility had been
used to open letters of credit, including $20,336 for inventory that had been purchased, that is included in current
liabilities and $30,862 related to commitments to purchase inventory.

The Credit Facility contained a number of covenants that, among other things, restricted the ability of
subsidiaries of THC to dispose of assets, incur additional indebtedness, create liens on assets, pay dividends or
make other payments in respect of capital stock, make investments, loans and advances, engage in transactions
with affiliates, enter into certain sale and leaseback transactions, engage in mergers or consolidations or change
the businesses conducted by them. The Credit Facility also restricted the ability of THC to create liens on assets
or enter into sale and leaseback transactions. Under the Credit Facility, subsidiaries of THC may not pay
dividends or make other payments in respect of capital stock to THC that in the aggregate exceed 33% of the
Company’s cumulative consolidated net income, commencing with the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002, plus
$125,000, less certain deductions. In addition, under the Credit Facility, THC and TH USA were required to
comply with and maintain specified financial ratios and meet certain tests (based on the Company’s consolidated
financial results excluding the effects of changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States), including, without limitation, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, a maximum leverage ratio and a
minimum consolidated net worth test.

As a result of a delay in furnishing financial information for the quarters ended September 30, 2004 and
December 31, 2004, the Company would have been in technical default of its Credit Facility covenants had
waivers not been obtained. On November 16, 2004, the Company obtained waivers from the bank group,
extending the deadline of its quarterly financial submissions until March 15, 2005. On March 14, 2005, the
Company obtained an extension of the waivers until April 30, 2005.

- On April 20, 2005, the Company terminated the Credit Facility, and entered into a new $150,000, cash-
collateralized, 364-day, letter of credit facility (the “Letter of Credit Facility”) to be used for normal trade
financing and other general purp‘cises. No cash borrowings are available under the Letter of Credit Facility.

Certain of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries have separate credit facilities, totaling approximately
$170,898 at March 31, 2005, for working capital or trade financing purposes. As of March 31, 2005, $10,633 of
available borrowings under these facilities had been used to open letters of credit, including $3,196 for inventory
purchased that is included in current liabilities and $7,437 related to commitments to purchase inventory. There
were no short-term borrowings as of March 31, 2005 under these facilities. Borrowings under these credit
facilities bear interest at variable rates which, on a weighted average annual basis, amounted to 3.33% for the
fiscal year ended, March 31, 2005.

The Company attempts to mitigate the risks associated with adverse movements in interest rates by
establishing and maintaining a favorable balance of fixed and floating rate debt and cash on hand. Management
also believes that significant flexibility remains available in the form of additional borrowing capacity and the
ability to prepay long-term debt, if so desired, in response to changing conditions in the debt markets. Because
such flexibility exists, the Company does not normally enter into specific hedging transactions to further mitigate
interest rate risks. No interest rate hedging contracts were in place as of March 31, 2005.

The Company intends to fund its cash requirements for current operations for fiscal 2006 and the
foreseeable future from available cash balances and internally generated funds. The Company believes that these

resources will be sufficient to fund its cash requirements for such periods. The Company intends to seek an
alternate financing facility before the end of fiscal 2006.
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Seasonality

The Company’s business is impacted by the general seasonal trends characteristic of the apparel and retail
industries. The Company’s Wholesale revenue, particularly that from its European operations, is generally
highest during the second and fourth fiscal quarters, while the Company’s Retail segment generally contributes
its highest levels of revenue during the third fiscal quarter. As the timing of Wholesale product shipments and
other events affecting the retail business may vary, results for any particular quarter might not be indicative of
results for the full year, '

Inﬂation

The Company believes that inflation has not had a material effect on its net revenue or profitability in recent
years. ‘ ‘ ‘

Exchange Rates

The Company received United States dollars for approximately 60% of its product sales during fiscal 2005.
Substantially all inventory purchases from contract manufacturers throughout the world are also denominated in
United States dollars; however, purchase prices for the Company’s products may be impacted by fluctuations in
the exchange rate between the United States dollar and the local currencies of the contract manufacturers, which
may have the effect of increasing the Company’s cost of goods in the future. During the last three fiscal years,
exchange rate fluctuations have not had a material impact on the Company’s cost of goods purchased; however,
due to the number of currencies involved and the fact that not all foreign currencies react in the same manner
against the United States dollar, the Company cannot quantify in any meaningful way the potential effect of such
fluctuations on future income. The Company does not engage in hedging activities with respect to such exchange
rate risk.

The Company does, however, seek to protect against adverse movements in currency exchange rates which
might affect certain firm commitments or transactions. These include the purchase of inventory, capital
expenditures, collection of foreign royalty payments and certain intercompany commitments. The Company
enters into forward contracts, generally with maturities up to 15 months, to sell or purchase foreign currency in
order to hedge against such risks. The Company does not use financial instruments for speculative or trading
purposes. At March 31, 2005, the Company had contracts to exchange foreign currencies, principally, the Euro
and the Canadian dollar, having a total notional amount of $84,000. No significant gain or loss was inherent in
such contracts at March 31, 2005. Gains or losses on such forward contracts are recognized in other
comprehensive income on a mark-to-market basis and, ultimately, in earnings at the time the transaction
underlying the hedge is completed or recognized in earnings. While a hypothetical 10% adverse change in all of
the relevant exchange rates would potentially cause a decrease in the fair value of the contracts of approximately
$8,548, the Company would experience an offsetting benefit in the underlying transactions.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statements No. 123R,
“Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123R”), an amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95. Under FAS 123R,
all forms of share-based payment to employees, including employee stock options, would be treated as
compensation and recognized in the income statement. This statement is effective for interim periods beginning
after June 15, 2005. The SEC has delayed the implementation date to fiscal years beginning on or after June 15,
2005. The Company anticipates adopting the provisions of FAS 123R beginning April 1, 2006. The impact as to
future periods has not been assessed at this time.
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In December 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) released Issue No. 04-10, “Determining Whether
to Aggregate Operating Segments That Do Not Meet the Quantitative Thresholds™. The consensus states that
operating segments that do not meet the quantitative thresholds can be aggregated only if aggregation is consistent
with the objective and basic principles of SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and
Related Information”. SFAS No. 131 states that the segments can be aggregated only if they have similar economic
characteristics, and share a majority of the aggregation criteria (as listed in paragraph 17 of SFAS No. 131). During
fiscal 2005, the Company determined that operating components of its previously reported Wholesale segment are
no longer expected to share similar long term economic characteristics, and should therefore no longer be
aggregated. The Company believes that its segment reporting is in compliance with this EITF.

Subsequent Events
Purchase of ltalian Distributor

Tommy Hilfiger Europe B.V., has acquired the rights to full distribution and management of the Tommy
Hilfiger brand and products in Italy. The transaction includes the purchase of these rights from the existing
unrelated distributor, Fincom SPA, and marks a transition whereby the Company will directly own and operate
all Tommy Hilfiger business in Italy. The Company plans to expand the business in Italy through its International
Wholesale and Retail segments. This opportunity provides the Company with greater direct control and impact
over all areas of the business in Italy, including operations, sales and marketing. The transaction closed in April
2005 with a purchase price of approximately $22,000.

New Credit Facility

As more fully described in Liquidity and Capital Resources, on April 20, 2005, the company terminated its
existing credit facility, and entered into a new $150,000 cash-collateralized, 364-day, letter of credit facility to be
used for normal trade financing and other general purposes. The Company intends to seek an alternate facility
before the end of fiscal 2006.

Sale of Buildings

In May 2005, the Company sold its office building at 485 Fifth Avenue in New York City for net proceeds
of $45,900. The net book value of the building was $43,580 resulting in a pretax gain on the sale of $2,320.

In August 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its office building at 25 West 39% Street in
New York City for net proceeds of approximately $50,000. The net book value of this building is approximately
$30,000, which is expected to result in a pretax gain on the sale of approximately $20,000. Although this
transaction is expected to close during the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the timing of the recognition of the gain
will depend upon the Company’s continuing involvement in the building and is not expected to be recognized
until the first quarter of fiscal 2007.

Amended Tax Returns

As more fully described in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, on August 22, 2005, the
Company filed amended U.S. Federal income tax returns for fiscal years 2001 through 2004, as required in
connection with the resolution of the USAO investigation. Included with the amended returns was payment of
$18,100 for additional taxes and related interest.
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Hurricane Katrina

In August 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck the Gulf coast of the U.S. The Company’s retail outlet store in
Gulfport, Mississippi was impacted by this storm. The outlet center experienced roof damage and water _
intrusion, which resulted in damage to the store fixed assets and inventory. The landlord has begun clean up and
refurbishment of the facility. The reopening date of the center has not yet been determined. The net book value of
the fixed assets and inventory were $11 and $218, respectively. The net sales of the Guifport store were $2,329 in
fiscal 2005. The Company has property and business interruption insurance, hence does not expect to recognize a
significant impact from these damages.

U.S. Wholesale Restructuring

During October 2003, the Company completed a review of its U.S. Wholesale organization and determined
that actions were required to streamline the structure and more effectively support the current level of business.
On October 6, 2005, the Company announced a series of actions to accomplish these goals. In order to achieve
operating efficiencies, the Company terminated 135 employees. These actions are expected to result in a pretax
charge to earnings in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 of approximately $5,000 primarily related to severance
payments to the affected employees. This streamlining along with associated expense reductions is expected to
result in annual cost savings beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

See the sections entitled “Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Exchange Rates™ in Item 7, which sections
are incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2005 and 2004

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of Tommy Hilfiger Corporation is responsible for the preparation, objectivity and integrity
of the consolidated financial statements and other information contained in this Annual Report. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States and include some amounts that are based on management’s informed judgments and best estimates.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) and has expressed herein their unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which oversees all of the Company’s financial reporting
process on behalf of the Board of Directors, consists solely of independent directors, meets with the independent
registered accountants, internal auditors and management periodically to review their respective activities and the
discharge of their respective responsibilities. Both the independent registered accountants and the internal
auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee, with or without management, to discuss the scope and
results of their audits and any recommendations regarding the system of internal controls.

/s/ DavID F. DYER /s/ JOSEPH SCIROCCO
David F. Dyer Joseph Scirocco
Chief Executive Officer and President Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal executive officer) (principal financial officer)
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Report of Independent Reglstered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Tommy Hilfiger Corporation:

We have completed an integrated audit of Tommy Hilfiger Corporation’s 2005 consolidated financial
statements and of its internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005 and audits of its 2004 and
2003 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule -

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Tommy Hilfiger Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) at March 31, 2005 and 2004, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2005
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our
opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial
statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s ’
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of -
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 4

As discussed in Note 2.to the cons;)iidated financials statements the 2004 and 2003 consolidated financial
statements have been restated.

‘As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statéments, effective April 1, 2002, the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”.

Internal control over financial reportmg

Also, we have audited mdnagement’s assessment 1ncluded in Management s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that Tommy Hilfiger Corporation did not maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005, because of the effect of the Company not
maintaining effective controls over the accounting for income taxes, including the determination and reporting of
income taxes payable, deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the related income tax provision, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment
and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We
conducted our audit of intérnal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Over31ght Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effectlve internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinions.
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A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate. '

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than
a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected. The following material weakness has been identified and included in management’s
assessment. As of March 31, 2005, the Company did not maintain effective controls over the accounting for
income taxes, including the determination and reporting of income taxes payable, deferred income tax assets and
liabilities and the related income tax provision. Specifically, the Company did not have adequate personnel to
enable the Company to properly consider and apply generally accepted accounting principles for taxes, ensure
that the rationale for certain tax positions was adequately documented and appropriately communicated and
ensure that effective oversight of the work performed by its outside tax advisors was exercised. Additionally, the
Company did not maintain effective controls to review and monitor the accuracy of the components of the
Income tax provision calculations and the related deferred income taxes, and income taxes payable, including
monitoring the differences between the tax basis and the financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities to
effectively reconcile the deferred tax balances. Furthermore, the Company did not have effective controls to
identify, evaluate and accurately record provisions for profits tax in Hong Kong. This control deficiency resulted
in the restatement of the annual consolidated financial statements for 2004 and 2003, the interim consolidated
financial statements for the first quarter of 2005 and all quarters in 2004, as well as audit adjustments to.the 2005
consolidated financial statements. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in the misstatement of
income taxes payable, deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the related income tax provision, that would
result in a material misstatement to annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be
prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a
material weakness. ‘

This material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in
our audit of the 2005 consolidated financial statements, and our opinion regarding the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting does not affect our opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Tommy Hilfiger Corporation did not maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSQ. Also, in our opinion,
because of the effects of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of the
control criteria, Tommy Hilfiger Corporation has not maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of March 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued
by the COSO.

PricewaterhouseCoapers LLP
New York, New York
November 18, 2005
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TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(As Restated, (As Restated,
See Note 2) See Note 2)
NEtTEVEIUE .« ot ettt e ettt e e e $1,780,770 $1,876,897 $1,889,055
Costof goods sold .. ... .. e 957,264 1,012,156 1,058,356
Gross profit . ..o e 823,506 864,741 830,699
Depreciation and amortization ................ SN 79,679 86,304 144,447
Goodwill impairment ............. ... i — — 150,612
Other selling, general and administrative expenses ......... S 631,627 580,370 567,138
Total Operating eXpenses . . . ..o vt ir e e 711,306 666,674 862,197
Income (loss) from operations .. .............oeuvivunnnnenennns 112,200 198,067 (31,498)
Interest and other expense . . ...... e 29,753 31,902 47,124
Interestincome ............... i e 7,138 3,577 6,717
Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of change in -

accounting principle ......... . 89,585 169,742 (71,905)
Provision for income taxes . ...........c.vriir i 3,934 38,922 16,857
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting

PUNCIPle .. e 85,651 130,820 (88,762)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ................ — — (430,026)
Netincome (J0SS) ... vt ittt i e e $ 85651 $ 130,820 $ (518,788)
Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting : :

PrinCiple Per Share . . .\ttt $ 093 § 144 $ (0.98)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per share ........ $ —  $ — $ (4.76)
Net income (loss) pershare . ............ ... . it iiiirnnnn. $ 093 $ 144 § (5.74)
Weighted average shares outstanding . ........................... 91,683 90,692 90,387
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of change in accounting o

principle pershare . ............ ..ol .. e $ 093 % 143 § = (0.98)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per share ........ ‘ $ — 3 — 3 (4.76)
Netincome (10SS) PEr Shar€ . . ..\ oot eee e $ 093 $ 143 % (5.74)
Weighted average shares and share equivalents outstanding . . . .. e 92,265 91,329 90,387

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

March 31,
2005 2004
(As Restated,
See Note 2)
Assets
Current assets
Cashand cashequivalents . ........... ..., e $ 480,987 $ 414,548
Short-term INVESIMENTS . . v v vttt vttt et ettt et e et e it 40,650 27,533
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $2 768 and $2,329, respectively .. ... . 153,925 193,172
CInVentories ... ... e 203,261 207,302
DEferred taX @SSEES . . v v e e e e e 47,193 39,109
Other CUITent SSELS . ... . ..ottt - 38,029 34,270
Total CUITEnt @SSELS . .. v vttt et e e et e e 964,045 915,934
Property and equipment, at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . 250,072 241,677
Intangible assets, subject to amortization ........... ... .. .. .., 24,419 7,749
Intangible assets, not subJect to amortization . .. ... e R 643,888 634,920
GoodWill .o e e e e 264,499 238,148
Otherassets ............. e e e e e e e 11,136 - 9,486
TOtal ASSELS .« . o v vt ettt e e R L $2,158,059  $2,047,914
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt . . . . . e $ 359 % 738
Accountspayable ......... ... e e . 41,266 - . 32,718
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities - .......... e e 261,444 233,273
Total current liabilities ... ... ... i e 303,069 266,729
Long-termdebt .......... ... ... ... ... ... ... [ PR ' 343,987 351,474
Deferred tax liability ... ... ..o o e . 166,489 205,675
Other liabilities ...... e 20,245 16,865
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 10 and 11) ‘ - '
Shareholders’ equity
Preference Shares, $.01 par value-shares authorized 5,000,000; none issued . ... —_ —
Ordinary Shares, $.01 par value-shares authorized 150,000,000; issued
98,054,261 and 97,499,276, respectlvely .............................. 981 975
Capital inexcessof parvalue .................... [P SRE © 621,774 615,691
Retained earmings .. ....... ...ttt e 641,709 556,058
Accumulated other comprehensive income ........... ... . ... 0. 121,036 95,678
Treasury shares, at cost: 6,192,600 Ordinary Shares ....... FE (61,231) (61,231)
Total Shareholders’ equity ........... ... .. ... oo, 1,324,269 1,207,171
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity ................... $2,158,059 $2.047,914

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(As Restated, (As Restated,
See Note 2) See Note 2)
Cash flows from operating activities - ' ’
Netincome (1088) ..ottt e et it e e $ 85651 §$130,820 $(518,788)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities .
Depreciation and amortization .......................... . 80,631 87,437 . 145218
Deferredtaxes .. ...... v (53,881) (1,411) (2,745)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . ........ — ‘ — 430,026
Goodwill impairment .......... ..., — — 150,612
Changes in operating assets and liabilities :
Decrease (increase) in assets
Accountsreceivable ......... ... .. ... ... . ... 45,920 © 6,802 53,086
Inventories ......... . 14299 - 32,076 (33,872)
Otherassets .. ...ttt i iiennnnns .(3,663) - '(1,669) (4,153)
- Increase (decrease) in liabilities C
Accountspayable .......... ... .. ... .. ... - (3,924) (22,200) 10,698
Accrued expenses and other liabilities ............ 44,446 12,992 (2,903)
Net cash provided by operating activities . . ................ 209,479 244,847 227,179
Cash flows from investing activities ' : - '
Purchases of property and equipment . .. ......... ... ... ...... (89,099) (60,796) - (72,571)
Purchases of short-term investments,net . ..................... (13,117 (27,596) —_
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired ................. (35,996) — —_
Net cash used in investing activities . . ....... .. e (138,212) (88,392) (72,571)
Cash flows from financing activities : .
Payments on long-termdebt . ........... [ (8,289) - (152,184) (74,341)
- Proceeds from the exercise of stock options ................... 5,102 8,190 - 7177
Short-term bank borrowings (repayments), net ................. —_ (20,894) - -(53,910)
Net cash used in financing activities ...................:. (3,187)  (164,888) (1‘421,074)
Effect of exchangeratesoncash ........................ (1,641) 2,155 45
Net (decrease) increase incash . ... .. PR T 66,439 (6,278) 33, 579
Cash and cash equivalerits, beginning of period . ... . . . . ... o Re.l. 414548 420826 387,247
Cash and cash equivalents, endof period .. ........... ... .. ... ... $ 480,987 § 414,548 $ 420,826

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(dollar amounts in thousands) '

.Capital ' Accumulated
Ordinary Shares “:)ie' ’;?:S Retained com;;)lrg::nsive Treasury sharzg;?:iem’
Outstanding ©® Amount  value earnings income shares equity
Balance, March 31, 2002 (as
previously reported) . . ........... 89,838,567  $960 $598,527 $936,776 $ 2,430 $(61,231) $1,497,462
Prior period adjustments (See
Note2) ..., — — — (12,750) — — (12,750)
Balance, March 31, 2002 (as restated, ‘
seeNote2) .................... 89,838,567 960 598,527 944,026 2,430 (61,231) 1,484,712
Netincome (oss) ............. — —_ — (518,788) — —_ (518,788)
Foreign currency translation .. .. — — — — 52,453 — 52,453
Change in fair value of hedging :
instruments ................ — — — — (1,252) — (1,252)
Exercise of stock options .. .. ... 740,145 8 7,169 — — _ 7,177
Tax benefits from exercise of .
stock options .............. — — 1,140 —_ — — 1,140
Balance, March 31, 2003 (as restated,
seeNote2) .................... 90,578,712 968 606,836 425,238 53,631 (61,231) 1,025,442
Netincome .................. — — — 130,820 — — 130,820
Foreign currency translation .. .. » — — — — 41,171 — 41,171
Change in fair value of hedging
instruments . ............... — — — — - 876 — 876
Exercise of stock options . ...... 727,964 7 8,183 —_ — — 8,190,
Tax benefits from exercise of o
stockoptions .............. — — 672 —_ — — 672
Balance, March 31, 2004 (as restated,
seeNote2) .................... 91,306,676 975 615,691 556,058 95,678 (61,231) 1,207,171
Netincome . ................. — — — 85,651 —_ — 85,651
Foreign currency translation . ... — — — — 25,125 — 25,125
Change in fair value of hedging ' '
instruments ................ — — — — . 233 - 233
Amortization of deferred
compensation costs ......... — — 66 — — — 66
Exercise of stock options . ...... 554,985 6 5,096 — — — 5,102
Tax benefits from exercise of .
stock options .............. — — 921 — — — 921
Balance, March 31,2005 . ......... 91,861,661  $981 $621,774 $ 641,709 $121,036  $(61,231) $1,324,269

(1) Net of Treasury shares

Comprehensive income consists of net income (loss), foreign currency translation and unrealized gains and
losses on hedging instruments and totaled $111,009, $172,867 and $(467,587) in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The cumulative translation adjustment was $121,107, $95,982, $54,811 and $2,358 at March 31,
2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively. The net fair value adjustment of hedging instruments was $(71), $(304)
$(1,180), and $72 at March 31, 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively.

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Tommy Hilfiger Corporation (“THC” or the
“Company”’; unless the context indicates otherwise, all references to the “Company” include THC and its
subsidiaries) and all majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated. All references to years relate to the fiscal year ended March 31, of such year.

(b) Organization and Business

THC, through its subsidiaries, designs, sources and markets men’s and women’s sportswear and activewear,
jeanswear and childrenswear under the Tommy Hilfiger and Karl Lagerfeld trademarks. Through a range of
strategic licensing agreements, the Company also offers a broad array of related apparel, accessories, footwear,
fragrance and home furnishings. The Company’s products can be found in leading department and specialty
stores throughout the United States, Canada, Europe, Mexico, Central and South America, Japan, Hong Kong
and other countries in the Far East, as well as the Company’s own network of specialty and outlet stores in the
United States, Canada and Europe. THC was incorporated as an International Business Company in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) in 1992 and is also registered and licensed as an external Internat10nal Business
Company in Barbados.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all financial instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or less
to be cash equivalents.

(d) Short-Term Investments

The Company has investments in debt securities that are classified in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as
short-term (securities that mature in more than three months but not more than one year). These investments are
categorized as being available-for-sale. Investments categorized as available-for-sale are marked to market based
on quoted market values of the securities, with the resulting adjustments, net of deferred taxes, reported as a
component of other comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity until realized.

(e) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (weighted average method) or market. Substantially all
inventories are comprised of finished goods. The Company continually evaluates the composition of its
inventories assessing slow-turning, ongoing product as well as prior seasons’ fashion product. Market value of
distressed inventory is determined based on applicable historical sales trends, the impact of market trends and
economic conditions. Estimates may differ from actual results due to quantity, quality and mix of products in
inventory, consumer and retailer preferences and market conditions. The Company’s historical estimates of these
costs have not differed materially from actual results.

(f) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives of the assets: furniture and fixtures—five years; buildings—twenty-five years;
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machinery and equipment—three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line
method over the lesser of the terms of the leases or the estimated useful lives of the assets. Major additions and
betterments are capitalized and repairs and maintenance are charged to operations in the period incurred. The
Company’s share of the cost of constructing in-store shop displays, which is paid directly to third-party suppliers,
is capitalized and included in furniture and fixtures and amortized in other selling, general and administrative
expenses using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.

(g) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised principally of goodwill and other intangibles of $264,499 and $668,307, as
of March 31, 2005 respectively. The principal intangible assets are acquired trademark rights associated with the
acquisitions of Pepe Jeans USA, Inc., Tommy Hilfiger Canada Inc., Tommy Hilfiger Europe B.V. (“TH Europe”)
and Karl Lagerfeld.

Intangible assets subject to amortization are amortized on a stralght line basis over their estimated useful
lives rangmg from one to forty years.

On at least an annual basis, the Cor‘npany evaluates goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles, for possible
impairment, under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”) using fair value techniques and market comparables. Goodwill impairment is
determined using a two-step process. The first step of the impairment test is used to identify potential impairment
by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of a
reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired and the
second step of the impairment test is not required. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, the second step of the impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. The
second step of the impairment test compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill with the
carrying amount of that goodwill. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds the implied fair
value of that goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. The implied fair value
of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in a business combination.

(h) Amortizable Long-Lived Assets

The Company monitors conditions that may affect the carrying value of its amortizable long-lived assets
when events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of these assets may be impaired. The Company
determines impairment based on the asset’s ability to generate cash flow greater than the carrying value of the
asset, using undiscounted cash flows. If projected undiscounted cash flows are less than the carrying value of the
asset, the asset is adjusted to its fair value.

(i) Income Taxes

The Company has recorded its provision for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this:
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on differences between the financial statement
and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred
tax assets will not be realized.

The Company does not record a provision for U.S. income taxes on those undistributed earnings of Tommy
Hilfiger Canada, Inc. that it does not expect to repatriate in the foreseeable future.
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(j) Earnings Per Share and Authorized Shares

Basic earnings per share were computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of the
Company’s Ordinary Shares, par value $0.01 per share (the “Ordinary Shares”), outstanding during the
respective period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potentially dilutive effect of Ordinary Shares issuable
under the Company’s stock option plans. Diluted earnings per share have been computed by dividing net income
by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding plus the incremental shares (common equivalent
share) that would have been outstanding assuming the exercise of stock options, using the treasury stock method.

A reconciliation of shares used for basic earnings per share and those used for diluted earnings per share is
as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
Weighted average shares outstanding ............................ 01,683,000 90,692,000 90,387,000
Net effect of dilutive stock options based on the treasury stock method
using average market price . ............. .. i 582,000 637,000 -

Weighted average shares and common equivalent shares outstanding . . . 92,265,000 91,329,000 90,387,000

Options to purchase 5,453,407 and 3,538,125 shares at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, were not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the exercise prices of the options were greater
than the average market price of the Company’s Ordinary Shares. No dilutive effect was calculated for Fiscal
2003 as the Company had a net loss for that year.

(k) Revenue Recognition

Net revenue from wholesale product sales is recognized upon the transfer of title and risk of ownership to
customers. Revenue is recorded net of discounts, as well as provisions for estimated returns, allowances and
doubtful accounts. Retail store revenue is recognized at the time of sale. U.S. Retail stores operate on a fiscal
calendar that ends on the Saturday nearest to March 31st. In fiscal 2004, this resulted in a 53 week of revenue.
Licensing royalties and buying agency fees are recognized as earned.

On a seasonal basis, the Company negotiates price adjustments with its wholesale customers as sales
incentives or to partially reimburse them for the cost of certain promotions. The Company estimates the cost of
such adjustments on an ongoing basis considering historical trends, projected seasonal results and an evaluation
of current economic conditions. These costs are recorded as a reduction to net revenue.

Net wholesale revenue from major customers as a percentage of consolidated net revenue was as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Federated Dept. Stores ... .. e 9% 9% 10%
Dillard’s DEPt. STOTES . ..\t vvvt e iee e e PP 6% 10% 13%
May Dept. SIOTES « ... oot e 6% 8% 10%

(1) Costs of Goods Sold and Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The Company includes in cost of goods sold all costs and expenses related to obtaining merchandise
incurred prior to the receipt of finished goods at the Company’s distribution facilities. These costs include, but
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are not limited to, product cost, inbound freight charges, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs,
warehousing costs and internal transfer costs, as well as insurance, duty, brokers’ fees and consolidators’ fees. In
addition, certain costs in the Company’s Retail segment distribution network, such as the costs of shipping
merchandise to Company-owned retail stores, are charged to cost of goods sold. The Company includes in
selling, general and administrative expenses costs incurred subsequent to the receipt of finished goods in the
distribution centers, siich as the cost of picking and packing goods for delivery to customers. In addition, selling,
general and administrative expenses include product design costs, selling and store service costs, marketing
expenses and general and administrative expenses.

The Company’s gross margins may not be directly comparable to those of its competitors, as income
statement classifications of certain expenses may vary by company.

(m) Foreign Currency Translation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in United States dollars as this is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates, and the majority of its revenue is
received and expenses are disbursed in United States dollars. Adjustments resulting from translating the financial
statements of those non-United States subsidiaries which do not use the United States dollar as their functional
currency are recorded in shareholders’ equity as a component of other comprehensive income.

(n) Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are charged to operations when incurred and totaled $34,070, $49,065 and $43,513 during

the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Also, included in other current assets is $411 and
$196 of prepaid advertising costs at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The Company has no long-term commitments for advertising. On a seasonal basis, the Company makes
certain arrangements with retailers to share the cost of specified advertising programs. The Company classifies
such costs in selling, general and administrative expenses.

(o) Shipping and Handling Costs

The Company reflects shipping and handling costs as a component of selling, general and administrative
expenses in its consolidated statements of operations. Shipping and handling costs approximated $45,372,
$49,268 and $53,532 for the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Amounts billed to
customers that relate to shipping and handling on related sales transactions are de minimus.

(p) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(q) Segments and Foreign Operations

The Company’s operations are reported on the basis of four segments: U.S. Wholesale, International
Wholesale, Retail, and Licensing, as further discussed in Note 12. Business components not aggregated in these
four segments are reported as “Other.”.
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Substantially all of the Company’s net revenue and income from operations as well as identifiable assets
constitute foreign operations in that THC is incorporated in the BVL

(r) Stock Compensation

The Company uses the intrinsic value method to account for stock-based compensation in accordance with -.
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ and has
adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS
123”) as amended by SFAS No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.”

At March 31, 2005 the Company had four stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described
more fully in Note 15. No stock option expense is reflected in net income, as all options granted under those
plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.
Issuances of restricted stock are measured at their fair market value on the date of grant and are initially recorded
as a charge to deferred compensation costs (a component of Stockholders’ equity), with a corresponding credit to
Additional paid in capital. Restricted stock is amortized into income over its vesting period.

For purposes of applying the disclosure provisions of SFAS 123 to stock option employee compensation,
the fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model
with the following weighted-average assumptions for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively: volatility of 50%, 59%
and 65%; risk free interest rate of 3.0%, 2.0% and 2.7%; expected life of 3.0 years, 3.0 years and 2.7 years; and
no future dividends. The estimated fair value of each grant is amortized on a straight-line basis over its vesting
period. Forfeitures are credited on an as-incurred basis. The weighted average fair value per share of options
granted was estimated at $4.63 in 2005, $4.08 in 2004 and $4.67 in 2003.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied
the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock option employee compensation.

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003

Net income (loss), as reported ............... SRR $85,651  $130,820  $(518,788)
Deduct: Total stock option employee compensation expense

determined under the fair value method for all awards, net of

related tax effects .............. ... .... e e (6,809) (5,263) (8,187)
Pro forma net income (los‘s) e e AP $78,842  $125,557  $(526,925)
Earnings (loss) per share: ' S . -

. Basic—asreported ......................oeee.: 8093 % 144 08 (5.74)
Basic—proforma ........ ... .. ... ool $ 08 $ 138 $ (583
Diluted—asreported . ............ ... i $ 093 $§ 143 § (579
Diluted—proforma ......... ... $ 085 $ 137 § (583

(s) Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statements No. 123R,
“Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123R”), an amendment of FASB Statements No. 123 and 95. Under FAS 123R,
all forms of share-based payment to employees, including employee stock options, would be treated as
compensation and recognized in the income statement. This statement is effective for interim periods beginning
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after June 15, 2005. The SEC has delayed the implementation date to fiscal years beginning on or after June 15,
2005. The Company anticipates adopting the provisions of FAS 123R beginning April 1, 2006. The impact as to
future periods has mot been assessed at this time.

In December 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) released Issue No. 04-10, “Determining
Whether to Aggregate Operating Segments That Do Not Meet the Quantitative Thresholds”. The consensus states
that operating segments that do not meet the quantitative thresholds can be aggregated only if aggregation is
consistent with the objective and basic principles of SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information”. SFAS No. 131 states that the segments can be aggregated only if they have
similar economic characteristics, and share a majority of the aggregation criteria (as listed in paragraph 17 of
SFAS No. 131). During fiscal 2005, the Company determined that operating components of its previously
reported Wholesale segment are no longer expected to share similar long term economic characteristics, and
should therefore no longer be aggregated. The Company believes that its segment reporting is in compliance with
this EITF. .

(t) Reclassification

Amounts previously reported as Special Items have been reclassified to conform to the current year
presentation.

Note 2—Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements

The Company has restated its prior year financial statements to correct its accounting for certain tax, lease
accounting and other items as detailed below. The net impact of all of these adjustments is a $1,332 decrease to
fiscal 2004 net income, a $5,183 increase to fiscal 2003 net loss, and a $12,750 reduction to the March 31, 2002
retained earnings.

Tax Items

In connection with responding to the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York
(“USAQ”) investigation (see Note 10), the Company performed a comprehensive review of its income tax
accounting. This review, which was done under the direction of a Special Committee of the Board of Directors,
identified certain questions about Hong Kong tax matters. In May 2005, the Company initiated discussions with
the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department (“IRD”) in an effort to resolve any issues concerning whether its
wholly-owned subsidiary, Tommy Hilfiger (Eastern Hemisphere) Limited (“THEH”) is subject to profits tax in
Hong Kong, and if so, the portion of THEH’s income that is subject to that tax. The Company now believes that
its previously issued financial statements should have contained provisions for profits tax in Hong Kong and has
restated its financial statements by recording additional income tax provisions of $3,660 and $3,651 in fiscal
2004 and 2003, respectively, and a decrease to the March 31, 2002 retained earnings of $9,333.
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During fiscal 2003, the State of New Jersey instituted an Alternative Minimum Assessment (“AMA”). The
Company included the AMA in its provisions for income taxes, and began to make related tax payments to the
state. In December 2004, the Company determined that the AMA was not properly applied and that the
Company’s obligations for AMA were less than previously recorded. The Company has since discussed the
matter with the State of New Jersey to validate its understanding of the law along with its application and has
filed for refunds of the amounts previously paid. The Company has corrected its financial statements by
reversing the related income tax provisions of $2,925 and $3,355 in fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In addition, the Company has corrected its income tax provisions for certain intercompany expense
allocations and certain other tax matters by recording additional income tax provisions of $222 and $3,368 in
fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively, and a $10,011 reduction to retained earnings as of March 31, 2002.

Lease Accounting

On February 7, 2005 the Office of the Chief Accountant of the Securities and Exchange Commission issued
a letter to the Center for Public Company Audit Firms of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
regarding certain specific lease accounting issues. As a result of that letter, the Company ‘initiated a review of the
Company’s lease accounting practices. Management and the Audit Committee of the Company’s Board of
Directors determined that the Company was incorrectly accounting for certain lease accounting matters,
including rent holiday periods and the classification of landlord incentives along with the related
amortization. The Company has accordingly restated its financial statements as described below.

In periods prior to the second quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company had recorded straight-line rent expense for
certain store operating leases beginning with the commencement date of store operations rather than the lease
commencement date. Rent expense was not consistently recognized during rent holidays, occupancy periods before the
store openings, or certain leasehold build-out periods. As a result of correcting its policy, the Company has adjusted its
financial statements by increasing rent expense with a corresponding reduction in operating income, by $2,028 and
$1,110 in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively, a $1,742 and $912 decrease to net income for fiscal 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and a decrease to retained earnings at March 31, 2002 of $1,006.

Previously, the Company had recorded tenant allowances (amounts received from a landlord to fund leasehold
improvements) as a reduction of property and equipment. These amounts should have been recorded as a deferred
lease incentive liability. The amortization of these landlord incentives was originally recorded as a reduction in
depreciation expense rather than as a reduction of rent expense. In addition, the statements of cash flow had
originally reflected these incentives as a reduction of capital expenditures within cash flows from investing
activities rather than as cash flows from operating activities. While these adjustments have no effect on pretax or net
income, the Company has corrected its income statement classification of these expenses by decreasing rent-
expense, with a corresponding increase to depreciation expense of $3,706 and $4,059 in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003,
respectively. The balance sheet as of March 31, 2004, has been adjusted to cumulatively reflect all related prior year
activity as increases to Property and equipment, at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, and a
corresponding increase to Accrued expenses (deferred lease incentive liabilities) of $8,657. The statements of cash
flows have been adjusted to reflect increases to Purchases of property and equipment of $4,246 and $1,872 in fiscal
2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively, increases to depreciation and amortization of $3,706 and $4,059, in fiscal 2004
and fiscal 2003, respectively, and an increase (decrease) to Accrued expenses and other liabilities of $540 and
($2,187) in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, respectively.

The Company has also reviewed the accounting for its participation in the design and construction of one of
its retail stores during fiscal 2002. Under the guidance of EITF 97-10, “The Effect of Lessee Involvement in
Asset Construction,” the Company has concluded that its historical accounting did not fully reflect its

F-15



TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

participation in the construction of that store, which should have included additional construction costs of $1,500
with offsetting imputed debt. As a result of adjusting the original cost and related imputed debt, the Company has
adjusted its financial statements by recording a decrease to rent expense of $476 and $479 in fiscal 2004 and
fiscal 2003, respectively, an increase to interest expense of $146 and $148 in fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively,
an increase to net income of $203 and $158 in fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively, and a $1,461 decrease to
Retained earnings as of March 31, 2002. Additionally, in fiscal 2003, the Company recorded an asset impairment
of its fixed assets related to this store. Accordingly, the remaining value attributable to this adjustment was
likewise written off in fiscal 2003 resulting in a decrease of $1,456 and $850 to pretax and net income,
respectively.

Other Items

The Company identified certain other accrued liabilities, allowances and inventory reserves that had
accumulated over a period of years and that were in excess of amounts required at March 31, 2005. The Company
has corrected its financial statements by increasing pretax income for fiscal 2004 by $1,843 and reducing pretax
income for fiscal 2003 by $235. Net income was increased by $1,164 and $85 for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003,
respectively. In addition, the Company increased its retained earnings as of March 31, 2002 by $9.061.

In addition, the Company has reclassified its cash flow activity to reflect the impact of foreign exchange
rates on cash as a separate component of the consolidated statements of cash flows.

A summary of the impact of the restatements noted above on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets at
March 31, 2004, and the consolidated statements of operations and cash flows for the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2004 and 2003 follows: :

March 31, 2004

As Lease
Previously Tax Accounting Other . As
Reported Matters  Adjustments Items Restated

Consolidated Balance Sheet .

Accountsreceivable .......... ... ... . ... $ 188,514 $ — $ — $ 4,658 $§ 193,172
Inventories .........coiiriiiin .. 206,302 — —_ 1,000 207,302
Deferredtax assets ..............covvirnn.n. 56,419  (13,320) — (3,990) 39,109
OthercurrentassetS ..........c.oiiienneenn. ‘ 36,342 — 2,072) — 34,270
Total current assets . ...........c.ccvvvrvnenn.. 929,658  (13,320) (2,072) 1,668 915934
Property & equipment ...................... 233,020 — 8,657 — 241,677
Goodwill ....... ... 238,573 (425) — — 238,148
Total ASSELS ...\ o 2,053,406  (13,745) 6,585 1,668 2,047,914
Current portion of long-termdebt ............. 705 — 33 — 738
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities . . . . - 207,190 23,951 10,768 (8,636) 233,273
Total current liabilities ...................... 240,613 23,951 10,801 (8,636) 266,729
Long-termdebt ................c.coviiian... 350,080 — 1,394 — 351,474
Deferred tax liability . . ...................... 219,412 (13,737) — — 205,675
Retainedearnings .................ccven... 575,323 (23,959) (5,610) 10,304 556,058
Shareholders’ equity . ........... ... . ... ... 1,226,436  (23,959) (5,610) 10,304 1,207,171
Total Liabilities and Equity .................. 2,053,406  (13,745) 6,585 1,668 2,047,914
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Consolidated Statement of Operations

Netrevenue ............... e

Gross profit
Depreciation & amortization

Special items
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest and other expense
Income (loss) before taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income per share—diluted

Consolidated Statement of Operations
Net revenue
Grossprofit ... ... ... i
Depreciation & amortization
Other selling, general and administrative
expenses
Special items
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest and other expense
Income (loss) before taxes
Provision for income taxes
Netincome (Ios$) ...........c.iiivniinn
Net income per share—diluted

Other selling, general and administrative expenses . .

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004

As Lease
Previously Tax Accounting Other As
Reported Matters Adjustments Items Restated
$1,875,797 $§ — $ — $ 1,100 $1,876,897
863,641 — — 1,100 864,741
76,307 — 3,706 6,291 86,304
583,502 — (2,154) (978) 580,370
6,056 — . — (6,056) —
665,865 — 1,552 (743) 666,674
197,776 — (1,552) 1,843 198,067
31,756 — 146 — 31,902
169,597 — {1,698) 1,843 169,742
37,445 957 (159 679 38,922
132,152 957) (1,539) 1,164 130,820
145 (0.01) (0.02) 0.01 1.43
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2003
As ' Lease
Previously Tax Accounting Other As
Reported Matters  Adjustments Items Restated
$1,888,055 $ — $ — $ 1,000 $1,889,055
829,699 — — 1,000 830,699
87,173 — 5,515 51,759 144,447
545,504 — (3,428) 25,062 567,138
75,586 — — (75,586) —
858,875 — 2,087 1,235 862,197
(29,176) — (2,087) (235) (31,498)
46,976 — 148 — 47,124
(69,435) — (2,235) (235) (71,905)
14,144 3,664 . (631) (320) 16,857
(513,605) (3,664) (1,604) 85 (518,788)
(5.68) (0.04) (0.02) — 5.74)
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Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004

As Lease
Previously Tax Accounting Other As
Reported  Matters Adjustments Items Restated

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Netincome (JoSS) . oo vve e e i ... $132,152 $957) $(1,539) $1,164 $ 130,820
Depreciation & amortization ..................... 77,440 — 3,706 6,291 87,437
Provision for special charges—non-cash ........ Y 7491 & — — (7,491) —

Deferredtaxes . ..........0 ... .. e (1418 . 8 Ll (1) - (1,411)
Accounts receivable ................ e U 6,910 — — (108) 6,802
Inventories .. .......... ... ... e 33,204 — — . (1,128) 32,076
Other assets ........... e - (7,085) — 1,407 4,009. (1,669)
Accounts payable ........... ... .. . ool (15,035 — — - A(7,165) (22,200)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities . ......... JEA 8,198 949 702 3,143 12,992
Net cash provided by operating activities ....... e 241,857 — . 4276 . -(1,286) 244,847
Purchases of property and equipment ......... e (56,732) — (4,246) 182 (60,796)
Net cash used in investing activities ............... (84,328) — (4,246) 182 (88,392)
Payment of long-termdebt............. P (152,051) — (30) (103) (152,184)
Short-term bank borrowings (repayments), net .. ... .. (19,946) — — (948)  (20,894)
Net cash used in financing activity ................ (163,807) — 30 (1,051) (164,888)
Effect of exchange ratesoncash .. .... ... ... ... — — — 2,155 2,155
Netdecreaseincash .......... ... .. i, 6,278) — — —_ (6,278)

» ' Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2003 . ‘
As Lease
Previously Tax .. Accounting Other As

Reported Matters  Adjustments Items Restated

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Netincome (10SS) .. ... ... .. $(513,605) $(3.,664) $(1,604) $ 85. (518,788)
Depreciation & amortization .................... 87,944 L — . 5515 - 51,759 145,218
‘Provision for special charges—non-cash ........... . 49,978 C— —_ (49,978) —
Deferred taxes ... ..ot : 2,037 — C— (708) (2,745)
Accountsreceivable . ...... ... i L 50,271 . — — 2,815 53,086
Inventories ............ ... . ...... e (32,150) —_— — (1,722) - (33,872)
Otherassets . ...........cccvviini... . L (1,230) . — 659 . (3,582) (4,153)
Accounts payable ................. e 18,773 — —_ 0 (8,075) 10,698
Accrued expenses and other liabilities . ............ (8,477) 3,664 (2,670) 4,580 (2,903)
Net cash provided by operating activities .......... 230,105 —_ 1,900 (4,826) 227,179
Purchases of property and equipment .. ............ (71,903) — (1,872) 1,204 (72,571)
Net cash used in investing activities . .. ............ (71,903) — (1,872) 1,204  (72,571)
Payment of long-termdebt ...................... (74,234) —_ (28) (79 (74,341)
Short-term bank borrowings (repayments), net ... ... (57,566) _— — 3,656 (53,910)
Net cash used in financing activity .. .............. (124,623) —_— (28) 3,577 (121,074)
Effect of exchangeratesoncash ................. — — — 45 45
Netincreaseincash ............... ... ... ..... 33,579 — — — 33,579

Amounts in footnotes contained elsewhere herein have also been restated as appropriate for the adjustments
discussed above.
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Note 3—Acquisitions

On January 21, 2005, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Tommy Hilfiger International
N.V., acquired the businesses and trademarks of Karl Lagerfeld, effected through the acquisition of 100% of the
outstanding capital stock of Asian and Western Classics B.V., and Lagerfeld Gallery S.A.R.L. (the “Acquired
Entities™) for $27,520, which included both $898 of transaction costs and $10,811 of debt that was settled at
closing. The Acquired Entities are in the business of designing, manufacturing and selling women’s and men’s
ready-to-wear clothes, men’s and women’s footwear and accessories and certain home and apparel products
worldwide, all under the Karl Lagerfeld name and related trademarks. The Company intends to leverage its
existing marketing and distribution capabilities to further expand these brands internationally, as well as in the
U.S. The acquired entities had net liabilities of $1,284. Of the resulting excess purchase price of $28,804,
$15,500.has been allocated to trademarks, $16,337 has been allocated to .goodwill, $2,700 has been allocated to
license agreements and $5,733 has been allocated to deferred tax liabilities. The license agreements are being
amortized over their estimated useful lives ranging from one to seven years. The trademarks are being amortized
over a 20-year estimated useful life. Unaudited pro-forma information related to this transaction has not been
included as the effect of this acquisition is not material to the consolidated results of the Company.

During fiscal 2005, the Company acquired three European retail operations (two in the second quarter and
one in the fourth quarter) for an aggregate purchase price of $8,517. No intangible assets apart from goodwill
were acquired in these transactions, and accordingly, the excess purchase price of $5,182 has been allocated to
goodwill. Unaudited pro-forma information related to these transactions has not been included as the effect of:
these acquisitions is not material to the consolidated results of the: Company.

Note 4—Cash Equivalents

As of March 31, 2005, the balance in Cash and-Cash Equivalents was comprised of short-term money
market funds and overnight deposits at several major international financial institutions earning interest at a
weighted average interest rate of 2.57%. As part of its ongoing control procedures, the Company monitors its
concentration of deposits with various financial institutions in order to avoid any undue exposure.

Note 5—Financial Instruments
Accounts Receivable

The Company owns all of its customer accounts receivable and outsources the collection of the majority of
its U.S. receivables through a credit company subsidiary of a large financial institution, pursuant to an agreement
whereby the credit company pays the Company after the credit company receives payment from the Company’s
customer. The credit company establishes maximum credit limits for each customer account. If the receivable
becomes 120 days past due or the customer becomes bankrupt or insolvent, the full amount of the receivable is
payable by the credit company. The Company has a similar arrangement with another large financial institution
for credit services to its Canadian subsidiary. TH Europe has an agreement with a European credit insurance
company from whom it obtains credit insurance on an individual customer basis. In all cases the Company
believes that the credit risk associated with such financial institutions is minimal.

The Company also grants credit directly to certain select customers in the normal course of business without
participation by a credit company. In such cases the Company monitors its credit exposure limits to avoid any
significant concentration of risk. Bad debts have been minimal. At March 31, 2005, approximately 63% of the
Company’s accounts receivables were covered by credit insurance, bank guarantees or other means.
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Foreign Currency Risk Management

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended and
interpreted, requires that derivative instruments be recorded in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability and
measured at their fair value and that changes in the derivative’s fair value be recognized either currently in
earnings in Income (loss) from continuing operations or as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss), depending on whether the derivative qualifies for hedge accounting treatment. Instruments
qualifying as hedges are designated as either a fair value hedge, a cash flow hedge or foreign currency hedge.

The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts with maturities generally up to fifteen months to
mitigate the risks associated with adverse movements in foreign currency which might affect certain firm
commitments or transactions, including the purchase of inventory, capital expenditures, the collection of foreign
royalty payments and certain intercompany transactions. For those instruments that qualify for hedge accounting
(cash flow hedge), any unrealized gains or losses are included in Accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss), net of related tax effects, with the corresponding asset or liability recorded in the balance sheet. Hedge
accounting requires that at the beginning of each hedge period, the Company justifies an expectation that the
hedge will be highly effective. This effectiveness assessment involves estimations of quantities and timing for the
transactions underlying the cash flow hedges. The use of different assumptions and changing market conditions
may impact the results of the effectiveness assessment and ultimately the timing of when changes in derivative
fair values and underlying hedged items are recorded in earnings. Any portion of a cash flow hedge that is
deemed to be ineffective is recognized in current-period earnings. When the transaction underlying the hedge is
recognized in earnings, the related other comprehensive income (loss) is reclassified to current-period earnings.
Gains and losses associated with hedges of inventory purchases are recorded in Cost of sales, and those
associated with royalty payments are recorded in Selling, general and administrative expenses.

The Company’s policy does not allow the use of financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

At March 31, 2005, the Company had contracts to exchange foreign currencies, principally, the Euro and
Canadian dollar having a total notional amount of $84,000, and which mature at various times over the next eight
months. No significant gains or losses are included in other comprehensive income at March 31, 2005,

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments

At March 31, 2005, the fair value of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents is equal to their carrying
value and its short-term investments consisting of debt securities totaling $40,650 approximated fair value. The
fair value of the Company’s 2008 Notes and the 2031 Bonds, having a face value of $342,470, is approximately
$345,045 based on quoted market prices as of March 31, 2005. The fair value of the Company’s other monetary
assets and liabilities approximate carrying value due to the relatively short-term nature of these items.
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Note 6—Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following:

March 31,
2005 2004
Furniture and fixtures . . .... e $172,633  $193,042
Buildingsandland .. ...... ... ... ... i 125,548 121,744
Leasehold improvements .. ............ oo 145,801 103,141
Machinery and equipment .. .......... oot i 88,766 79,482

532,748 497,409

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization .............. 282,676 255,732
$250,072  $241,677

Depreciation and amortization expense on fixed assets was $78,740, $85,468, and $142,738 for the years
ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Included in depreciation and amortization expense are
$4,800, $7,491 and $52,015 of impairment charges for the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. In fiscal 2005 and 2004, these impairment charges relate primarily to the writedown of certain
in-store fixtures to fair value based on anticipated cash flows. In fiscal 2003, the impairment charges relate
primarily to the closure of 37 retail stores.

Note 7—Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

On April 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS 142. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill, including previously
existing goodwill, and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives not be amortized but that they be tested for
impairment at adoption and at least annually thereafter.

SFAS 142 provides criteria for performing impairment tests on goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives, which differs from the Company’s previous policy, as permitted under accounting
standards existing before the adoption of SFAS 142, of using undiscounted cash flows on a Company-wide basis
to determine if these assets are recoverable.

Upon adoption of SFAS 142 in the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company recorded a non-cash,
non-operating charge of $430,026 to reduce the carrying value of its goodwill to fair value. Such charge is
reflected as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The Company performed its first annual impairment review of goodwill and intangible assets under SFAS 142
during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. As a result of this review, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of
$150,612 in operating expenses for the impairment of goodwill, principally in its U.S. Wholesale segment. The
charge had no effect on the Company’s credit facilities, financial covenants or cash flows. The Company
performed its annual impairment review of goodwill and intangible assets for fiscal 2005 and for fiscal 2004
during the fourth quarter of each year and no impairment charge was indicated. In addition, the Company defined
the USAO investigation as a triggering event requiring an impairment review as of September 2004. No
impairment was indicated as a result of this interim impairment review.

Prior to April 1, 2002, the Company recorded deferred tax liabilities relating to the difference in the book
and tax basis of intangible assets, principally trademark rights. As a result of adopting SFAS 142, these deferred
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tax liabilities will no longer be used to support the realization of certain deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the
Company recorded a one-time, non-cash, deferred tax charge totaling $11,358 in order to establish a valuation
allowance against those deferred tax assets. This charge was included in the Company’s provision for income
taxes for the first quarter of fiscal 2003.

SFAS 142 required that, prior to performing the review for the impairment, all of the Company’s recorded
goodwill be assigned to the Company’s reporting units deemed to benefit from any acquisitions that it had made,
including the reporting units that the Company owned prior to such acquisitions. This differs from the previous
accounting rules under which goodwill was assigned only to the businesses acquired. The balance of goodwill as
of March 31, 2005 in the table below reflects the assignment of goodwill as required by SFAS 142,

As of March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004, the Company’s intangible assets and related accumulated
amortization consisted of the following:

March 31, 2005 March 31, 2004
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization ‘Net

Amortizable intangible assets: ' ‘ _ ,

Retailer relationships ......... $ 5400 $ (934) $ 4466 § 5400 S (799) § 4,601

Supplier relationships ......... 4,000 (2,303) 1.,697 » 4,000 (1,970) 2,030

Trademark rfghts ............. 17,121 (1,429) 15,692 2,021 (1,181) 840

Software andother ........... 10,728 (8,164) 2,564 8,099 (7,821) 278
Total amortizable intangible assets . . . 37,249 (12,830) 24,419 19,520 (11,771) 7,749
Indefinite-lived trademark rights .... 643,888 N/A 643,888 634,920 N/A 634,920
GoodwillD) .. ... ... ... L 264,499 N/A 264,499 238,148 N/A 238,148
Total Intangible assets ............ $945,636  $(12,830) $932,806 $892,588  $(11,771) $880,817

(1) Effective with the adoption of SFAS 142 and the cessation of goodwill amortization, accumulated
amortization and impairment write downs related to goodwill are included in the gross amount.

The $17,729 increase in amortizable intangible assets results from the Lagerfeld Acquisition (Note 3) and
changes in foreign exchange rates. The $8,968 increase in indefinite-lived intangible assets relates to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates used to translate certain of these assets.

A summary of changes in the Company’s goodwill during fiscal 2005 by those reporting segments that have
goodwill is as follows: ‘ .

International

| Wholesale ~ Retail  Licensing  Other Total
Balance at March 31,2004 ....................... "$86,756  $55,969 $95423 $ —  $238,148
Lagerfeld Acquisition ............... ... ... ...... — — — 16,337 16,337
European Store Acquisitions . ..................... — 5,182 — — 5,182
Foreign currency translation ................... “s 4,550 314 — (32) 4,832
Balance at March 31,2005 ....................... $91,306 - $61,465 $95423 $16,305 $264,499
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The Company recorded amortization expense of $939 on intangible assets during fiscal 2005 compared to
$836 and $1,709 during fiscal 2004 and 2003, respectively. Based on the current amount of intangible assets
subject to amortization, the estimated amortization expense for each of the succeeding five years and thereafter is
as follows: :

Estimated Amortization Expense

Fiscal year 2006 . . . ...ttt e $ 1,860
Fiscal year 2007 .. ......ooinut i A 1,656
Fiscal year 2008 . . ... ...t e 1,627
Fiscal year 2009 . . ... it e e 1,627
Fiscal year 2010 . ... e 1,627
Subsequent years ........... [P PP 16,022

$24,419

Note 8—Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities are comprised of the following:

March 31,

, , 2005 2004
Income taxes payable .......... PPN $ 83235 § 42,842
Accrued COMPENSAtON ... ..ottt 34,309 46,225
Lettersof creditpayable .......... ... ... .. i i 23,532 31,877
Accrued professional fees . ......... .. i e 16,515 6,030
Accrued advertising and marketing . ........... .. .. oo oo 8,778 11,614
Merchandise payable ... ...... ... . i e 7,517 12,640
Other accrued Habilities . ... .ot e e e e 87,558 82,045

$261,444  $233,273

Note 9—Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following: .

March 31,
2005 2004
Unsecured 9.00% bonds due December 1,2031 ............ ... ... ..... $150,000  $150,000
Unsecured 6.85% notes due June 1, 2008, less unamortized discount of $145
and $200 at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively . .................. 192,325 199,800
Other ...............cooo... e e e 2,021 2,412
344,346 352,212

Less current maturiti€s .. ... ..ottt et e e e e (359) (738)

$343,987  $351,474

The 6.85% notes maturing on June 1, 2008 (the “2008 Notes™) and the 9.00% bonds maturing on
December 1, 2031 (the “2031 Bonds”, collectively, the “Notes”) were issued by Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc,, a
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subsidiary of THC (“TH USA™), and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by THC. The indenture under
which the Notes were issued contains covenants that, among other things, restrict the ability of subsidiaries of
THC to incur additional indebtedness, restrict the ability of THC and its subsidiaries to incur indebtedness
secured by liens or enter into sale and leaseback transactions and restrict the ability of THC and TH USA to
engage in mergers or consolidations.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company repurchased $7,530 of the original $200,000
principal amount of the 2008 Notes in open market transactions.

At March 31, 2005, the revolving credit facility (the “Credit Facility”), which was guaranteed byl' THC,
consisted of an unsecured $300,000 TH USA three-year revolving credit facility, expiring on July 1, 2005, of
which up to $175,000 could be used for direct borrowings. The Credit Facility is available for letters of credit,
working capital and other general corporate purposes. As of March 31, 2005, there were no direct borrowings
outstanding under the Credit Facility, and $51,198 of the available borrowings under the Credit Facility had been
used to open letters of credit, including $20,336 for inventory purchased that were included in current liabilities
and $30,862 related to commitments to purchase inventory. -

The Credit Facility contains a number of covenants that, among other things, restricts the ability of
subsidiaries of THC to dispose of assets, incur additional indebtedness, create liens on assets, pay dividends or
make other payments in respect of capital stock, make investments, loans and advances, engage in transactions
with affiliates, enter into certain sale and leaseback transactions, engage in mergers or consolidations or change
the businesses conducted by them. The Credit Facility also restricts the ability of THC to create liens on assets or
enter into certain sale and leaseback transactions. Under the Credit Facility, subsidiaries of THC may not pay
dividends or make other payments in respect of capital stock to THC that in the aggregate exceed 33% of the
Company’s cumulative consolidated net income, commencing with the fiscal year ended March 31, 2002 plus
$125,000, less certain deductions. In addition, under the Credit Facility, THC and TH USA are required to
comply with and maintain specified financial ratios and meet certain tests (based on the Company’s consolidated
financial results excluding the effects of changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States), including, without limitation, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, 2 maximum leverage ratio and a
minimum consolidated net worth test.

As aresult of a delay in furnishing financial information for the quarters ended September 30, 2004 and
December 31, 2004, the Company would have been in technical default of its Credit Facility covenants had
waivers not been obtained. On November 16, 2004, the Company obtained waivers from the bank group,
extending the deadline of its quarterly financial submissions until March 15, 2005. On March 14, 2005, the
Company obtained-an extension of the waivers until April 30, 2005.

On April 20, 2005, the Company terminated the Credit Facility, and entered into a new $150,000, cash-
collateralized, 364-day, letter of credit facility (the *Letter of Credit Facility”) to be used for normal trade
financing and other general purposes. No cash borrowings are available under the Letter of Credit Facility.

Certain of the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries have separate credit facilities for working capital or trade
financing purposes totaling approximately $170,898 at March 31, 2005. These facilities require certain assets to
be pledged as collateral and also provide for the respective subsidiary to meet certain financial covenants. Each
subsidiary was in compliance with its covenants as of and for the year ended March 31, 2005. As of March 31,
2005, $10,633 of available borrowings under these facilities had been used to open letters of credit, including
$3,196 for inventory purchased that is included in current liabilities and $7,437 related to commitments to
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purchase inventory. There were no short-term borrowings as of March 31, 2005 under these facilities.
Borrowings under these credit facilities bear interest at variable rates whxch on a weighted average annual basis,
amounted to 3.33% for the fiscal year ended, March 31, 2005.

Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases office, warehouse and showroom space, retail stores and office equipment under
operating leases, which expire not later than 2022. The Company records fixed escalations in rental expense
under its operating leases on a straight-line basis over the initial lease term, including rent holidays. Minimum
annual rentals under non-cancelable operating leases, excluding operating cost escalations and contingent rental
amounts based upon retail sales, are payable as follows:

‘Lease Sub Lease Net
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, ) Commitments Income Commitments
2006 ... $ 61,106 $(1,384) $ 59,722
2007 57,814 (1,797) 56,017
2008 L 48,014 (1,121) 46,893
2009 e e 44,209 (497) - 43,712
2000 L e e 39,084 497) 38,587
Thereafter .................... e - 201,808 (2,525) 199,283

Total ..o $452,035 ©  §(7,821) $444.214

Rent expense, including operating cost escalations and contingent rental amounts B_ased upon retail sales,
was $52,833, $44,486 and $42,878 for the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Letters of credit

The Company was contingently liable at March 31, 2005 for unexpired bank letters of credit of $38,299
related to commitments for the purchase of inventories and bank guarantees of $4,005.

Legal matters

On September 24, 2004, TH USA announced that it had received a grand jury subpoena issued by the
USAO seeking documents generally related to domestic and/or international buying office commissions since
1990 and that certain of TH USA’s current and former employees had received subpoenas. Several domestic and
international subsidiaries of the Company pay buying office commissions to THEH, a British Virgin Islands -
corporation which is a wholly-owned and consolidated subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to contracts to
provide or otherwise secure through third parties certain services, including product development, sourcing,
production scheduling and quality control functions. The USAQ- investigation was focused on the
appropriateness of the commission rate paid by the Company’s subsidiaries to THEH, as well as other related tax
matters.

In October 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company formed a Special Committee of independent
directors to conduct an independent investigation into matters arising out of the governmental investigation. The
Special Committee retained Debevoise & Plimpton LLP as legal counsel, with a team headed by Mary Jo White,
former U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New York. The Special Committee reported on its investigation
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to the Board in March 2005 and to the USAOQ in April 2005. The Special Committee found that the Company had
a good faith basis for adopting the buying office commission rate paid by the Company’s subsidiaries to THEH.
The Special Committee did identify certain questions about Hong Kong tax matters and supported the
Company’s determination to engage the IRD in discussions regarding whether THEH was subject to profits tax
in Hong Kong. The Special Committee made recommendations to the Company to enhance procedures for tax
matters, including transfer pricing, and to review its buying office structure. The Company’s management has
adopted all of the Special Committee’s recommendations.

After the Special Committee made its report, the Company in May 2005 initiated discussions with the USAO
about the possible resolution of the investigation on a civil basis, and the Company also initiated discussions with
the IRD in an effort to resolve any issues concerning whether THEH is subject to profits tax in Hong Kong.

On August 10, 2005 the Company announced that it had resolved the previously announced investigation by
executing a non-prosecution agreement with the USAQO. The USAOQ has concluded that criminal tax charges are
not warranted and closed its investigation. In addition, the USAO has agreed that it will not criminally prosecute
TH USA, or its parent or affiliates for any offenses relating to underpayment of Hong Kong taxes as a result of
activities attributed to THEH.

The non-prosecution agreement with the USAQ is subject to certain understandings, including that TH USA
file amended U.S. federal income tax returns for the fiscal years ending March 31, 2001 through 2004 reflecting
a reduced buying office commission rate for those four years, adopt and implement the recommendations of the
Special Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, adopt and implement an effective ethics and
compliance program, and provide information to the IRD for it to evaluate whether THEH or its Hong Kong
subsidiary owe any Hong Kong taxes to the IRD. TH USA also agreed for a period of three years to provide the
USAO, upon request, with information so that the USAO can monitor TH USA’s compliance with the
agreement.

On August 22, 2005, TH USA filed the amended tax returns required under the non-prosecution agreement.
As a result of the reduction in the buying office commission rate and other unrelated adjustments that were also
reflected in the amended tax returns, TH USA paid approximately $15,400 in additional federal income taxes and
$2,700 in interest for the four years covered by the amended tax returns, taking into account the effect of changes
in other tax attributes, including net operating loss carry forwards.

As previously disclosed, the Company initiated discussions in May 2005 with the IRD with respect to the
potential Hong Kong profits tax liability of THEH. In the course of these discussions, the Company made a
settlement offer to the IRD to resolve this issue that was not accepted and discussions are ongoing. Accordingly,
there can be no assurance as to the ultimate resolution of this matter, although the Company does not believe that
the final resolution will have a material effect on the Company’s financial position.

Following the Company’s September 24th announcement of the investigation, approximately eleven
purported shareholder class action lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District
of New York against the Company, as well as certain current and former officers and directors of the Company.
The Court has consolidated the purported shareholder class action lawsuits, and has appointed lead counsel and
lead plaintiffs. The lead plaintiffs filed a consolidated, amended complaint on May 13, 2005. On August 1, 2005,
the Company filed a motion to dismiss the complaint. On September 30, 2005, the Company and lead plaintiffs
agreed to a new schedule, which.the Company expects to be so ordered by the Court, pursuant to which lead
plaintiffs filed a Second Consolidated Amended Complaint on October 31, 2005. The Company currently expects
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to file a new motion to dismiss by December 5, 2005, and that a hearing on such motion by the Company will be
scheduled by the Court for early 2006. The Company intends to defend itself vigorously against plaintiffs’
claims. Since the case is in its very early stages, the Company is unable to predict its outcome. Accordingly, the
Company has not recorded any provision for potential loss associated with this matter.

Other Matters

The Company and its subsidiaries are otherwise involved from time to time in routine legal matters
incidental to their business. In the opinion of the Company’s management, based on advice of counsel, the
resolution of these other matters will not individually or in aggregate have a material effect on its financial
position, results of operations or its cash flows.

Note 11—Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

v 2005 2004 2003
Current: o v
CUS. Federal ..o e $ 12,528 $10,543 $ (6,926)
StateandLocal .............. ... ...l 20,037 2,882 911
Non-US. ..o e 26,418 27,043 25,631
58,983 40,468 19,616
Deferred: _
US. Federal ... . i (41,564) (1,551) (14,047)
Stateand Local ........... .. .. . (13,673) 3 11,288
Non-US. ............ T 188 8 —_
' ' (55,049)  (1,546) (2,759)
Provision for income taxes .. ..........iir i ien... o % 3,934 $38922  $ 16,857
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The deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant
components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are summarized as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004
Deferred tax assets—current:
INVENLOTY COSES . .\ttt t e et ettt e e $ 7,118 $ 6,077
Non-deductible accruals ... ........ . i 27,764 28,515
Accrued COMPENSAON . ...ttt e e 6,841 8,147
Other items, NEt . ..ttt ittt e e e e 13,637 -~ 19,816
Subtotal ... e 55,360 62,555
Valuation allowance ............c. i (8,167) (23,446)
Total deferred tax assets—CUITENL . ... oottt i i e 47,193 39,109
Deferred tax assets (liabilitie_:s)——non—current:
Depreciation and amortization . ..............cuiieivinanin.. 49,003 30,735
Intangible assets, other than goodwill ....................... ... (254,502) (247,647)
Net operating loss carry forwards . ....................... .. ... 48,615 26,145
Other, met . ... e e . 14,089 9,694
Subtotal ............... ... ... ..., P (142,795)  (181,073)
Valuation allowance . ...........c.ouiirireinrnenninenannnnns (23,694) (24,602)
Total deferred tax assets (liabilities)—non-current ................ (166,489) (205,675)
Total net deferred tax 1iabilitigs ................................... $(119,296)  $(166,566)

As of March 31, 2005, the Company has available federal net operating loss carry forwards of approximately
$52,515 to offset future taxable income. The net operating loss carry forwards begin to expire in 2024.

As of March 31, 2005, the Company had U.S. foreign tax credit carry forwards of approximately $15,317
which begin to expire in 2011. During fiscal 2005, the Company recorded a foreign tax credit benefit of $15,935,
a portion of which represents foreign tax credit carryovers from prior years, on the belief that it is more likely
than not that the credit will be realized. This belief is based on all available evidence, including historical
operating results, projections of taxable income and tax planning strategies.

As of March 31, 2003, the Company had state net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $20,381,
net of the federal tax effect, which begin to expire in 2008. As of March 31, 2005, the Company has recorded a
valuation allowance of $17,889 against these carry forwards on the basis that management believes it is more
likely than not that certain of these assets will not be used to reduce future tax payments. During fiscal 2003, the
Company reversed $2,492 of the valuation allowance that had been recorded as of March 31, 2004 on the belief
that it is more likely than not that they will be realized. This belief is based on all available evidence, including
historical operating results, projections of taxable income and tax planning strategies.

As of March 31, 2005, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance of approximately $5,542 against a
portion of the state deferred tax assets on the basis that management believes it is more likely than not that these
assets will not be used to reduce future tax payments. During fiscal 2005, the Company reversed $11,134 of the
valuation allowance that had been recorded as of March 31, 2003 on the belief that it is more likely than not that
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they will be realized. This belief is based on all available evidence, including historical operating results,
projections of taxable income and tax planning strategies.

As of March 31, 2005, the Company has foreign net operating loss carry forwards associated with
acquisitions of approximately $30,146 which do not have expiration dates. At the applicable foreign statutory tax
rates, the foreign net operating loss carry forwards are available to offset future foreign income tax of
approximately $8,856. As of March 31, 2005, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance of approximately
$8,431 against these carry forwards on the basis that management believes it is more likely than not that these
assets will not be used to reduce future tax payments. Subsequent recognition of the deferred tax asset relating to
a portion of the foreign net operating loss carry forwards would result in a reduction of goodwill recorded in
connection with the acquisition of Tommy Hilfiger Europe or the Karl Lagerfeld businesses.

The U.S. and non-U.S. components of income (loss) before income taxes -and the cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

. 2005 2004 2003
U S $(80,198) $ 16,158  $(225,348)
Non-US. ..o 169,783 153,584 153,443

$ 89,585 $169,742 $ (71,905)

The provision for income taxes differs from the amounts computed by applying the applicable U.S. federal
statutory rate to income before taxes as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes at the U.S. federal statutory rate .. .. $ 31,355 $ 59,410 $(25,167)
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefits ...................... 14,770 (5,231) (23,425)
Non-U.S. income taxed at differentrates .. ............................. (25,852) (26,493)" (27,492)
Valuation allowance (reversal),net ................... ..., (11,962) 5,907 37,014
Foreigntax credits . ...... ... iiitii i e (15,935) — —_
U.S. transfer pricing adjustments . ........... ... it 10,472 100 776
GoodWIL IMPAIIMENT . . . . ot e ettt et e e e — _— 52,714
U.S.taxes on foreigndividends ............ ... ... ... .. oL, — 4,988 —
Other, Bel .o e e 1,086 241 2,437
Provision for iNCOME TAXES . . ..o oo vt it e e et e e $ 3934 $38922 § 16,857

THC is not taxed on income in the BVI, where it is incorporated. THC and its subsidiaries are subject to
taxation in the jurisdictions in which they operate.

The Company is a tax resident of Barbados and therefore has been entitled to the benefits of an income tax
treaty between Barbados and the United States. Under the treaty, interest income received by a tax resident of
Barbados from a U.S. corporation was subject to U.S. withholding tax at a rate of 5%, rather than the 30%
statutory U.S: withholding tax rate applicable to non-residents of treaty countries. In July 2004, the United States
and Barbados signed a protocol to the treaty, which was ratified by the U.S. Senate and the government of
Barbados, and became effective on February 1, 2005. Under the new protocol, interest payments made to THC
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will not be entitled to the reduced withholding tax rate and thus will be subject to the U.S. statutory withholding
tax rate of 30%. . :

Tommy Hilfiger Europe B.V. (Netherlands) (“TH Europe™), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into an excess profits tax ruling with the Netherlands taxing authority in 1997. Under the
ruling, a portion of the profits of TH Europe are exempt from taxation in the Netherlands. The ruling was.
amended in April 2001 to include another indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. This ruling is-
effective through March 31, 2007. Prior to the expiration of the ruling, the Company intends to initiate
discussions with the Netherlands taxing authority-seeking to renew the tax ruling. It is not yet possible to
ascertain with certainty as to whether the Company will be successful in obtaining a renewal of the tax ruling.

As of March 31, 2003, U.S. income taxes were not provided on approximately $66,000 of undistributed
earnings of Tommy Hilfiger Canada, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc., as the
Company has invested or expects to invest the undistributed earnings indefinitely. If in the future these earnings
are repatriated to the United States, or if the Company determines such earnings will be remitted in the
foreseeable future, additional tax provisions may be required. Depending on a number of factors including the
amount of U.S. taxable income, it may be possible to reduce some or all of this provision by foreign tax credits
on the repatriation. Due to complexities in the tax laws and assumptions that would have to be made, it is not
practical to estimate the amounts of income taxes that would have to be provided. Additionally, the American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”) was signed into law on October 22, 2004. The Act includes a one-time
85% dividends received deduction on the repatriation of certain foreign eamings to a U.S. taxpayer (the
“Repatriation Provision”), provided that specified conditions and restrictions are satisfied. On December 21,
2004, the FASB issued Staff Position 109-2 which permits companies additional time beyond the financial
reporting period in which the Act was enacted to evaluate the effect of the Repatriation Provision. The earnings
of the Canadian subsidiary are the only earnings of the Company that would be eligible for the reduced tax rate
under the Act: The Company does not anticipate electing the Repatriation Provision of the Act.

On September 24, 2004, TH USA announced that it had received a grand jury subpoena issued by the
USAO seeking documents generally related to domestic and/or international buying office commissions since
1990 and that certain of TH USA’s current and former employees had received subpoenas. Several domestic and
international subsidiaries of the Company pay buying office commissions to THEH, a whoily-owned subsidiary
of the Company, pursuant to contracts to provide or otherwise secure through third parties certain services,
including product development, sourcing, production scheduling and quality control functions. The USAO
investigation was focused on the appropriateness of the commission rate paid by the Company’s subsidiaries to
THEH, as well as other related tax matters. *

In October 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company formed a Special Committee of independent
directors to conduct an independent investigation into matters arising out of the governmental investigation, The
Special Committee retained Debevoise & Plimpton LLP as legal counsel, with a team headed by Mary Jo White,
former U.S. Attorney for the Southern District of New York. The Special Committee reported on its investigation
to the Board in March 2005 and to the USAO in April 2005. The Special Committee found that the Company had
a good faith basis for adopting the buying office commission rate paid by the Company’s subsidiaries to THEH.
The Special Committee did identify certain questions about Hong Kong tax matters and suppoited the
Company’s determination to engage the IRD in discussions regarding whether THEH was subject to profits tax
in Hong Kong. The Special Committee made recommendations to the Company to enhance procedures for tax
matters, including transfer pricing, and to review its buying office structure. The Company’s management has
adopted all of the Special Committee’s recommendations. :
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After the Special Committee made its report, the Company in May 2005 initiated discussions with the USAO
about the possible resolution of the investigation on a civil basis, and the Company also initiated discussions with the
IRD in Hong Kong in an effort to resolve any issues concerning whether THEH is subject to profits tax in Hong Kong.

On August 10, 2005, the Company announced that it had resolved the previously announced investigation
by executing a non-prosecution agreement with the USAQ under which the USAQ concluded that criminal tax
charges are not warranted and closed its investigation. The non-prosecution agreement is subject to certain
understandings, including that TH USA file amended U.S. federal income tax returns for the fiscal years 2001
through 2004 reflecting a reduced buying office commission for those four years. As a result of the reduction in
the buying office commission and other unrelated adjustments that were also reflected in the amended tax
returns, TH USA paid approximately $15,400 in additional federal income taxes and $2,700 in interest for the
four years covered by the amended tax returns, taking into account the effect of changes in other tax attributes,
including net operating loss carry forwards. TH USA will also file amended state and local income tax returns
where required.

The effect of adjusting the buying office commission rate for the four fiscal years results in a tax provision
in fiscal 2005 of approximately $12,000, after taking into account previously established reserves for this matter.
As a result of the additional federal and state taxable income, the Company has reviewed its taxable income
projections and has partially reversed certain valuation allowances of $13,626 and has recognized foreign tax
credits of $15,935.

The Company’s Tommy Hilfiger trademarks are owned and held since 1992 by its subsidiary, Tommy
Hilfiger Licensing, Inc. (“THLI"), a Delaware intangible holding company. THLI collects royalties from third
parties and affiliated companies that use the Tommy Hilfiger trademarks. Over the past several years, unrelated
to the Company’s particular situation, various state and local tax authorities have challenged the appropriate tax
treatment of such intangible holding companies. As a result of recent judicial proceedings in New York and New
Jersey concerning intangible holding companies that are unrelated to the Company, the Company has reassessed
its potential exposure to state and local income taxes in New York and New Jersey concerning THLI. In
September 2003, the Company entered into a closing agreement with the state of New Jersey. The Company is in
discussions with the state and local authorities in New York concerning settling any remaining potential
exposure. The Company has recorded a provision in fiscal 2005 for these potential settlements.

The Company is periodically examined by various federal, state and local and international taxing
authorities. The tax years under examination vary by jurisdiction. The Company regularly considers the
likelihood of assessments in each of the taxing jurisdictions and has established tax allowances which represent
management’s best estimate of the potential assessments. The resolution of any of these tax matters could differ
from the amount reserved. While that difference could be material to the results of operations and cash flows for
any affected reporting period, it is not expected to have a material impact on consolidated financial position or
consolidated liquidity.

Note 12—Segment Reporting

During fiscal 2005, the Company reviewed its segment reporting and determined that certain operating
components of its previously reported Wholesale segment no longer share similar long-term economic
characteristics, and should therefore no longer be aggregated. The previously reported Wholesale segment is now
divided as U.S. Wholesale and International Wholesale segments. Previously reported segment data has been
reclassified to conform to the new segment structure.
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As defined and prescribed by SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information” and related interpretations, the Company has four reportable segments: U.S. Wholesale,
International Wholesale, Retail and Licensing. The Company’s reportable segments are business units that offer
different products and services or similar products through different distribution channels. The U.S. and
International Wholesale segments consist of the design and sourcing of men’s and women’s sportswear and
activewear, jeanswear and childrenswear for wholesale distribution in their respective geographic regions. The
Retail segment reflects the operations of the Company’s outlet and specialty stores. The Licensing segment
consists of the services related to licensing the Company’s trademarks for specified products in specified
geographic areas and the operations of the Company’s Far East buying offices. The Company evaluates
performance and allocates resources based on segment profits. The accounting policies of the reportable
segments are the same as those described in Note 1. Income (loss) from Operations or “Segment Profits” are
comprised of segment net revenue less cost of goods sold and selling, general and administrative expenses.

Business units that are not aggregated in the above mentioned reportable segments either do not qualify as a
segment or do not meet the aggregation criteria of SFAS 131. These units are included in Other and consist of
Corporate, E-Commerce and the Karl Lagerfeld businesses: Included within Corporate are executive
compensation, certain marketing costs, amortization and impairment of intangibles, and other corporate
overhead. The elimination balances represent the elimination of intercompany buying office commission revenue
and intercompany royalty expense.

Financial information for the Company’s segments is as follows:

UsS. International
Wholesale =~ Wholesal Retail Licensing Other  Eliminations Total

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 :

Netrevenue .................. $ 679,590 $525,085 $500,627 $119955 $ 1,318 $(45.805) $1,780,770

Income (loss) from operations . .. (27,703) 89,049 46,418 77,407 (143,244) 70,273 112,200

Depreciation and amortization . . . 32,720 15,240 20,970 129 10,620 — 79,679

Total @ssets .. ..........cc..... 127,724 565,771 200,407 234,403 1,029,754 — 2,158,059

Capital expenditures ........... 13,049 14,816 32,875 343 28,016 — 89,099
Fiscal year ended March 31, 2004

Netrevenue .................. $ 958,933  $429,737 $425,744 $119.450 $ —  $(56,967) $1,876,897

Income (loss) from operations ... 63,720 70,296 23,355, 92,327  (129,225) 77,594 198,067

Depreciation and amortization . . . 41,504 12,464 20,819 164 11,353 — 86,304

Totalassets ...........c...... 203,413 467,194 171,889 184,733 1,020,685 — 2,047,914

Capital expenditures ........... 9,490 13,906 28,450 278 8,672 — 60,796
Fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 .

Netrevenue .................. $1,112,593  $308,640 $405,099 $122,728 $ —  $(60,005) $1,889,055

Income (loss) from operations . . . 76,779 41,996 (50,972) 80,746 (259,889) 79,842 (31,498)

Depreciation and amortization . . . 53,195 9,110 71,174 173 10,795 — 144,447

Totalassets .................. 291,231 431,544 126,704 232,838 951,858 — 2,034,175

Capital expenditures ........... 13,279 14,354 28,278 207 16,453 —_ 72,571
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The Company is incorporated in the BVI; accordingly all revenue outside the BVI is considered foreign.
Territories representing 5% or more of consolidated net revenue are as follows:

- Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003
United States .............. SR R, - $1,068,196  $1,326,253 $1,497,878
Europe ... 544,874 419,496 280,936
Canada. . . ... e 143,019 111,919 91,414
Other ... .. I, 24,681 19,229 18,827
Consolidated net revenue . . e $1,780,770 $1;876,897 $1,889,055
The Company’s long-lived asséts by geographical area are as follows:
March 31,
_ 2005 2004
United States . ...t e e $ 700,437 $ 705,801
Europe . ... ..o e PR 368,968 309,702
Canada ......... PR 28,274 20,059
O hEr .. e 96,335 96,418
Total L e $1,194,014  $1,131,980

Note 13—Related Parties

The Company is party to a geographic license agreement for Japan with a related party. Subject to certain
exceptions, all products sold by or through the licensee must be purchased through THEH or TH USA pursuant
to buying agency agreements. Under these agreements, THEH and TH USA are paid a buying agency
commission based on a percentage of the cost of products sourced through them. Pursuant to these arrangements,
royalties and commissions totaled $6,310, $4,848 and $3,668 in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

A related party holds an indirect 25% equity interest in Pepe Jeans SL, which serves as TH Europe’s sales and
collection agent in Spain. In the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, commissions and fees paid by
TH Europe pursuant to these arrangements totaled approximately $11,184, $8,135 and $4,366, respectively.

TH USA sold merchandise in the ordinary course of business to a retail store that is owned by a relative of a
director and executive officer of the Company. There were no sales to this customer during fiscal 2005 or 2004.
Sales to this customer amounted to approximately $197 during fiscal 2003. '

The son-in-law of a former executive officer of the Company is a partner at a law firm that has provided the
Company with various legal services since 1989. Fees paid by the Company to the law firm for the fiscal years
ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 for services rendered were $3,623, $2,959 and $2,549, respectively.

Pursuant to the indemnification provisions of the applicable Articles of Association and by-laws of the
Company and its subsidiaries, as well as indemnification agreements entered into between THC and its officers
and directors, the Company has been paying the legal fees and expenses of certain officers and directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries that are incurred in connection with the USAO investigation and related class
action lawsuits, subject to undertakings by the individuals to reimburse such amounts in the event it is ultimately
determined that they are not entitled to indemnification. ‘
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Note 14—Retirement Plans

The Company maintains employee savings plans for eligible U.S. employees. The Company’s contributions
to the plans are discretionary with matching contributions of up to 50% of employee contributions up to a
maximum of 6% of an employee’s compensation. For the years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the
Company made plan contributions of $2,029, $1,820 and $2,043, respectively.

The Company also operates a collective pension plan, through its European subsidiary, for employees who
have been employed with TH Europe for at least one year, provided they meet certain criteria. The pension plan
is a defined contribution plan and TH Europe pays 50% of the pension contribution for the employee, which can
range between 3% and 5% of the employee’s salary depending on the employee’s age. TH Europe contributed
approximately $803, $1,118 and $259 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company maintains a supplemental executive retirement plan which provides certain members of senior
management with a supplemental pension. The supplemental executive retirement plan is an unfunded plan for
purposes of both the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

The following provides a reconciliation of the benefit obligation and funded status of the supplemental
executive retirement plan:

March 31,
2005 2004
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginningof year ........... ... . ... i i $12,820 $ 11,565
S IVICE COSt . o it ittt et e e e e e e 948 904
CIDETESt COSt . ot e et e e 752 646
Benefitspaid .. ...t e (185) 3)
Actuarial (gain) orlo8s ... .. ... . e (130) (292)
Benefitobligationatendof year ........ ... . .. . ... i $ 14,205 $ 12,820
Reconciliation of funded status:

Fundedstatus ................ o $(14,205) $(12,820)
Unrecognized actuarial (gain)orloss ........... ..o, 1,327 1,460
Unrecognized prior service cost ......... e e 1,524 1,832

Net amount recognized at year-end ............... ... .. $(11,354) $ (9,528)
Amounts récognized in the Consolidated ‘

Balance Sheets consist of:

Accrued benefit liability ............... oo $(11,354) $ (9,843)

Intangible asset .. ... .. — 315

Net amount recognized at year-end ...... T e $(11,354) $ (9,528)

Additional year-end information for-pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in
excess of plan assets: .

Projected benefit obligation ............coiiiiiiiii e $14205  $ 12,820

Accumulated benefit obligation . ................... e N 11,096 9,843

Unfunded accumulated benefit obligation .............. P 11,096 9,843

F-34




TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

The components of net periodic benefit cost for the last three fiscal years are as follows:

Fiscal Yeaf Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
SEIVICE.COSE v vttt ettt e e e e $ 948 % 904 $ 8il
Interestcost ......... e e e 752 646 . 583
Amortization of prior service cost ...........c i, 308 309 309
Amortization of actuarial (gain)orloss .................. 3 — —
Net periodic benefitscost ............ ..., $2,011  $1,859 $1,703

Actuarial assumptions used to determine costs and benefit obligations for the supplemental'executivé
retirement plan are as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

. 2005 2004 2003
DISCOUNL TALE - e e e eee et e e e e 600%  600%  6.25%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets ........ N/A . N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase ...................... 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

The Company currently estimates total payments under the supplemental executive retirement plan will be
$500 in each of fiscal years 2006 through 2010, and $2,300 in the aggregate for fiscal years 2011 through 2014.

On October 22, 2004, the President signed the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “AJCA”), which
changes the tax laws governing the operation of deferred compensation plans such as the SERP. Although the
AJCA imposes numerous requirements on deferred compensation plans, these new requirements do not apply to
benefits accrued and vested as of December 31, 2004 (unless the plan is “materially modified” thereafter).

In order to preserve the favorable tax treatment with respect to grandfathered SERP benefits and to ensure
the SERP is not materially modified, the Company recently proposed amendments to the SERP that “froze” the
SERP effective as of December 31, 2004. This means that, effective as of January 1, 2005, participants will no
longer earn or accrue any additional benefits under the SERP and any future salary increases will not be taken
into account under the SERP benefit formula. This freezing of the SERP in no way impacts or reduces the SERP
benefit accrued as of December 31, 2004. Participants will be entitled to receive a distribution of their SERP
benefit accrued as of December 31, 2004 at such time or times a distribution is permitted under the terms of the
SERP in effect prior to 2005.

The Company maintains a voluntary deferred compensation plan which provides certain members of senior
management with an opportunity to defer a portion of base salary or bonus pursuant to the terms of the plan: The
voluntary deferred compensation plan is an unfunded plan for purposes of both the Internal Revenue Code of
1986 and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. Included in accrued expenses and other current
liabilities is $716 and $640 at March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, related to this plan.

Note 15—Stock-Based Plans

In September 1992, the Company and its subsidiaries adopted the Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A. and Tommy
Hilfiger (Eastern Hemisphere) Limited 1992 Stock Incentive Plans (the “1992 Plans”) authorizing the issuance of
up to 5,940,000 Ordinary Shares to directors, officers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Through October 2001, a total of 13,500,000 additional Ordinary Shares of THC were authorized and reserved
for issuance under the 1992 Plans.

In October 2001, the Company’s shareholders approved the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2001 Stock
Incentive Plan (the “2001 Plan™), authorizing the issuance of up to 3,500,000 Ordinary Shares. Following such
approval, no further grants may be made under the 1992 Plans, but grants previously made under such plans
remain outstanding in accordance with their terms. ‘

In August 1994, the shareholders of the Company approved the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation Non-
Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended (the “Directors Option Plan”). Under the Directors Option
Plan, directors who are not officers or employees of the Company are eligible to receive stock option grants. The
total number of Ordinary Shares for which options may be granted under the Directors Option Plan may not
exceed 400,000, subject to certain adjustments. The Directors Option Plan expired in December 2004. Grants
previously made under this plan will remain outstanding in accordance with their terms.

In November 2003, the shareholders of the Company approved the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2003
Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2003 Plan”), authorizing the issuance of up to 3,500,000 Ordinary Shares.
Following the expiration of the Directors Option Plan, stock options will be granted to Non-Employee Directors
under the 2003 Plan.

Options granted under all of the above plans vest over periods ranging from 1-6 years with a maximum term
of 10 years. The exercise price of all options granted under these plans is the market price on the dates of grant.

Transactions involving the Stock Incentive Plans and the Directors Option Plan are summarized as follows:

Weighted Average
Exercise
Option Shares Price Per Share

Outstanding as of March 31,2002 . ........ ... ... ... ... ... .. 8,143,073 $17.10
Granted . ...t e e 1,653,273 - $11.40
Exercised .............. e (740,145) $ 9.63
Canceled ............. i i PP (862,029) $20.11
Outstanding as of March 31,2003 ......... ... ... ... ... ..... 8,194,172 $16.40
Granted . ... 1,467,250 $10.11
Exercised ...... ..o (727,964) $11.24
Canceled ......... B (1,381,486) $18.45
Outstanding as of March 31,2004 ........................... - 7,551,972 $15.33
Granted ... ... 2,491,975 $13.03
Exercised ........c.iiii e (554,985) $ 9.19
Canceled..............................7 ................ (1,021,291) $16.64
Outstanding as of March 31,2005 ........... ... ... ... ... .. 8,467,671 $14.90

Options exercisable at March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were 4,784,776; 4,766,395 and 4,259,036,
respectively, at weighted average exercise prices of $17.05, $17.39 and $18.44, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information concerning currently outstanding and exercisable options:

Options Outstahding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining Average Average
) . Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices . Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$ 586-%$1200 ............... 4,260,553 7.52 $ 9.71 2,120,653 $10.01
$1201-$2000 ............... 2,471,098 7.63 $15.71 948,173 $15.89
$2001-%$3000 ............... 1,231,650 2.75 $24.31 1,229,650  $24.31
$3001-$3663 ............... 504,370 331 $31.80 486,300  $32.62

8,467,671 6.61 $14.90 4,784,776  $17.05

The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and related
interpretations in accounting for its stock option awards. Accordingly, no compensation expense has been
recognized for stock options granted in 2005, 2004 and 2003.

During fiscal 2005, the Company granted 70,000 shares of restricted stock to certain employees. The
restricted stock vests over 3 years and has an aggregate fair value of $707. Related compensation expense for the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 was $66. ‘

Note 16—Statements of Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
" Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year:
Interest ........ .. $28,724  $35,012  $45,761
INCOME (AXES &« oottt et et et e e e $18,048 $29.063  $21,191

Note 17—Condensed Consolidating Financial Information

The Notes discussed in Note 9 were issued by TH USA and are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by
THC. Accordingly, condensed consolidating balance sheets as of March 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related
condensed consolidating statements of operations and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
March 31, 2005, are provided. The operations of TH USA, excluding its subsidiaries, consist of the U.S.
operations of certain wholesale divisions, together with TH USA corporate overhead charges not allocated to
subsidiaries. The non-guarantor subsidiaries of TH USA consist of the Company’s U.S. retail, licensing and other
wholesale divisions, as well as the Company’s Canadian operations. Such operations contributed net revenue of
$1,026,431, $1,096,737 and $1,149,718 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
The other non-guarantor subsidiaries of THC are primarily those non-U.S. subsidiaries involved in investing and
buying office operations as well as the Company’s European operations. These condensed consolidating financial
statements have been prepared using the equity method of accounting in accordance with the requirements for
presentation of such information under which TH USA’s and THC’s results reflect 100% of the earnings of their
respective subsidiaries in each of the years presented. In addition, the condensed consolidating financial
statements for fiscal years 2004 and 2003 have been restated for those items as described in Note 2. See Note 9
for a description of certain restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries of THC to pay dividends to THC.
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations

Year Ended March 31, 2005

Parent

Company  Subsidiary
" Guarantor Issuer Non-Guarantor
(THC) (THUSA) Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

NELTEVENUE - -« v e v et e eee e $  —  $222,031 $1,581,633 $(22,894) $1,780,770
Costof goods sold .. ........... T, — 163,936 805,429 (12,101) 957,264
Grossprofit ......... .. ... . il — 58,095 776,204 (10,793) 823,506
Depreciation and amortization ............ — 18,596 61,083 — 79,679
Other selling, general and administrative

EXPENSES ...ttt S .. 4,683 85,669 552,515 (11,240) 631,627
Total operating expenses . ................ ' 4,683 104,265 613,598 - (11,240) 711,306
Income (loss) from opefations ...... [ (4,683)  (46,170) 162,606 47 1 12,200
Interest and other expense .. .............. — 28,653 1,100 — 29,753
Interest income .. ... e e 2,632 1,011 3,495 — 7,138
Intercompany interest expense (income) ...  (48,273) 41,674 6,599 —_ —
Income (loss) beforetaxes . ............... 46,222  (115,486) 158,402 447 89,585
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ........ 6,368 (40,688) 38,254 — . 3,934
Equity in net earnings of unconsolidated

subsidiaries ............. ... .. ... .. 45,797 (5,451) —_ (40,346) —_
Net income (loss) ......... PO $85651 $ (80,249) $ 120,148

$(39,899) $ 85,651
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
Year Ended March 31, 2004

Parent -
" Company Subsidiary
Guarantor Issuer Non-Guarantor

' . (THC) (TH USA) Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Netrevenue .............. e - $ —  $377,344 $1,531,360 $ (31,807) $1,876,897
Costofgoodssold "............0.......... — 255555 770,247 (13,646) 1,012,156
Grossprofit . ............ Ll S — 121,789 761,113 (18,161) 864,741
Depreciation and amortization ............. . — 20,563 65,741 — 86,304
Other selling, general and administrative . :

EXPENMSES . oottt (2,233) 131,276 469,712 (18,385) . 580,370
Total operating expenses . ..... PR (2,233) 151,839 535,453 (18,385) 666,674
Income (loss) from operations ............. 2,233 (30,050) 225,660 224 198,067
Interest and other expense ............ L — 30,548 1,354 — 31,902
Interestincome ............ e 529 829 2,219 C— 3,577
Intercompany interest expense (income) . . ... (53,722) 81,136 (27,414) L — —
Intercompany dividend income ..0'.. e . — 509,400 - — (509,400) -
Income (loss) before taxes ................ 56,484 368,495 253,939 (509,176) 169,742
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ........ . 7,145 (44,814) 81,841 s (5,250) 38,922
Equity in net earnings of unconsolidated ;

subsidiaries . ........... ... .. . .. 81,481 102,866 —_— (184,347) —
Netincome (10Ss) .......oovvenennnn... $130,820 $516,175 3 172,098  $(688,273) $ 130,820
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
Year Ended March 31, 2003

Parent
Company Subsidiary
Guarantor Issuer Non-Guarantor
(THC) (TH USA) Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

Netrevenue ............c..oivuvuennnn. $ —  $473,268 $1,450,911 $ (35,124) $1,889,055
Costof goodssold ..................... —_ 323,399 751,353 (16,396) 1,058,356
Grossprofit ............. ... ... ... ... — 149,869 699,558 (18,728) 830,699
Depreciation and amortization ........... — 20,984 123,463 —_ 144,447
Goodwill impairment . ................. —_ — 150,612 —_ 150,612
Other selling, general and administrative

EXPENSES . vttt (5,430) 140,946 450,356 (18,734 567,138
Total operating expenses . ............... (5,430) 161,930 724,431 (18,734) 862,197
Income (loss) from operations ........... . 5,430 (12,061) (24,873) 6 (31,498)
Interest and other expense . .............. — 39,527 7,597 — 47,124
Interestincome ....................... 2,346 1,547 2,824 —_ 6,717
Intercompany interest expense (income) ... (73,561) 97,258 (23,697) — —
Income (loss) before taxes and cumulative

effect of change in accounting

principle ............. . ... .. 81,337  (147,299) (5,949) 6 (71,905)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ....... 8,092 (42,573) 51,338 — 16,857
Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle .......... ... ... ... ..., — —_ (430,026) — (430,026)
Equity in net earnings of unconsolidated

subsidiaries ............. ... ... ... (592,033) (514,662) — 1,106,695 —_
Netincome (10SS) ...........ccovvenn... $(518,788) $(619,388) $ (487,313) $1,106,701 $ (518,788)
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term

. Accounts receivable

Inventories

Deferred tax assets
Other current assets

Total current assets

investments . ..........

Property, plant and equipment, at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and

amortization

Intangible assets, subject to

amortization

Intangible assets, not subject to

amortization
Goodwill

Investment in subsidiaries

Other assets
Total As

sets

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt . .

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities ............. e

Total current liabilities-. .. ......

Intercompany payable (receivable)

Long-term debt

Deferred tax liability

Other liabilities

Shareholders’ equity

Total Liabilities and

Shareholders’ Equity

March 31, 2005
Parent o
Company Subsidiary
" Guarantor Issuer Non-Guarantor
(THC) (TH USA) Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
$ 215526 $ 34995 $ 230466 § — $ 480,987
— — 40,650 — 40,650
—_ — 153,925 — 153,925
— 24,401 179,596 (736) 203,261
— 31,966 15,227 — 47,193
1,793 6,533 29,703 — 38,029
217,319 97,895 649,567 (736) 964,045
— 122,086 127,986 — 250,072
—_ — 24,419 — 24,419
— — 643,888 — 643,888
— — 264,499 — 264,499
603,815 1,083,116 —_ (1,686,931) —_
— 7,428 3,708 — 11,136
$ 821,134 $1,310,525 $1,714,067 $(1,687,667) $2,158,059
$ —  § 31§ 328 % — 3 359
— 11,427 29,839 — 41,266
1,016 139,808 125,870 (5,250) 261,444
1,016 151,266 156,037 (5,250) 303,069
(504,151) 404,268 99,883 — —
— 342,325 1,662 — 343,987
— (29,469) 195,958 — 166,489
— 10,795 9,450 — 20,245
1,324,269 431,340 1,251,077 (1,682,417) 1,324,269
$ 821,134 3$1,310,525 $1,714,067 = $(1,687,667) $2,158,059
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets

March 31, 2004
Parent
Company Subsidiary
Guarantor Issuer ' Non-Guarantor
-(THC) (THUSA) Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents . . ... ... $ 126,120 $ 137,523 $ 150905 $ — - $ 414,548
Short-term investments . . ......... — —_ 27,533 ‘ —_ 27,533
Accounts receivable ............. — 25,534 167,638 —_ 193,172
Inventories .................... — 33,337 175,146 (1,181) 207,302
Deferred tax assets ........ e . —_ 23,812 15,297 — 39,109
Other current assets ............. 1,418 - 9,352 23,500 — 34,270
Total current assets . ..... PR 127,538 229,558 560,019 (1,181). 015,934
Property, plant and equipment, at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and -
amortization ..................... — 116,811 124,866 — 241,677
Intangible assets, subject to :
amortization ............ ... ..., — —_ 7,749 —_— 7,749
Intangible assets, not subject to ‘ :
amortization ............ e —_ —_ 634,920 — 634,920
Goodwill .......................... — — 238,148 — 238,148
Investment in subsidiaries ............ 558,018 1,088,567 206,178 (1,852,763) —
Otherassets . ................ R - _ 4,273 5213 — 9,486
Total Assets ................. $ 685,556 $1,439,209 $1,777,093  $(1,853,944) $2,047,914
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities :
Current portion of long-term debt .. $ — % 176§ 562 $ — $ 738
Accounts payable ............... — 6,697 26,021 — 32,718
Accrued expenses and other current :
liabilities .......... e 9,304 90,592 138,627 (5,250). 233,273
Total current liabilities ......... 9,304 97,465 165,210 (5,250) 266,729
Intercompany payable (receivable) .. ... (530,919) 481,737 = . 49,182 — —
Long-termdebt ..................... _— 349,830 1,644 ) — 351,474
Deferred tax liability ................ — (11,462) 217,137 — . 205,675
Other liabilities ..................... —_ 10,049 6,816 _ 16,865
Shareholders’ equity . ................ 1,207,171 511,590 1,337,104 (1,848,694) 1,207,171
Total Liabilities and ‘
Shareholders’ Equity ........ $ 685,556 $1,439,209 $1,777,093 .- $(1,853,944) $2,047,914
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended March 31, 2005

Parent
Company Subsidiary
Guarantor Issuer Non-Guarantor
(THC) (TH USA) Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Cash flows from operating activities
Netincome (loss) ..............o..... " $ 85,651 $ (80,249) §$ 120,148 $(39,899) $ 85,651
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization .. ... .. — 18,596 62,035 — . 80,631
Deferredtaxes .................... — (26,153) (27,728) — (53,881)
Non cash activity in investments in
subsidiaries .................... (45,797) 5,451 — 40,346 —
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities . ..................... 44,450 19,691 33,384 (447) 97,078
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities .............. 84,304 (62,664) 187,839 —_— 209,479
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment . . . . . . — (31,997) (57,102) — (89,099)
Purchase of short-term investments ....... — —_ (13,117) — 13,117)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash
acquired .. ....... ... — — (35,996) — (35,996)
Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities .............. — (31,997) (106,215) — (138,212)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payments on long-termdebt . ............ — (7,867) 422) — (8,289)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock
OPUONS . . vt 5,102 — — — 5,102
Net cash provided by. (used in) .
financing activities .............. 5,102 (7,867) (422) — (3,187)
Effect of exchange ratesoncash ..... — —_— (1,641) — (1,641)
Net increase (decrease) incash ....... 89,406  (102,528) 79,561 — 66,439
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
period . ... ... ... 126,120 137,523 150,905 — 414,548
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . .. $215,526 $ 34,995 $ 230,466 $ — $ 480,987
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended March 31, 2004

Parent
Company  Subsidiary
Guarantor Issuer Non-Guarantor

(THC) (THUSA) Subsidiaries Eliminations Total

Cash flows from operating activities
Netincome (loss) ..................... $130,820 $516,175  $172,098  $(688,273) $ 130,820
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net

cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization ....... —_— 32,446 54,991 _ 87,437
Deferredtaxes .................... — 5,792 (7,203) — (1,411)
Non cash activity in investments in - :
subsidiaries .................... (81,480) (102,867) — 184,347 —
Changes in operating assets and .
liabilities .......... ...t (93,985) (178,324) 305,784 5,474). 28,001
Net cash provided by (used in) : '
operating activities .............. (44,645)‘ 273,222 525,670 (509,400) 244,847
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment . .. . .. — (12,935) (47,861) — - (60,796)
Purchase of short-term investments ....... — — (27,596) — (27,596)
Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities .............. — (12,935) (75,457) — (88,392)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payments on long-termdebt ............. — (151,257) 927) — (152,184)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock :
OPHONS  « vt v e et e 8,190 — — — 8,190
Repayments of short-term bank borrowings,
1<) P — — (20,894) — (20,894)
Intercompany dividends (paid) ........... e — (509,400) 509,400 —
Net cash provided by (used in) ‘
financing activities .............. 8,190 (151,257) (531,221) 509,400  (164,888)
Effect of exchange ratesoncash ..... — — 2,155 — 2,155
Net increase (decrease) incash ... .... (36,455) 109,030 (78,853) — (6,278)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of
period ... 162,575 28,493 229,758 — 420,826
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period .. ... $126,120 $ 137,523 $ 150,905 $ —  $414,548
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended March 31, 2003

Parent
Company Subsidiary
Guarantor Issuer Non-Guarantor
(THO) (TH USA) Subsidiaries Eliminations Total
Cash flows from operating activities '
Netincome (10ss) ... ...coovvion. $(518,788) $(619,388) $(487,313) $ 1,106,701 $(518,788)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to
net cash provided by operating
activities
Cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle ........... — — 430,026 — 430,026
Goodwill impairment ............ — — 150,612 — 150,612
Depreciation and amortization .. ... — 20,984 124,234 —_ 145,218
Deferredtaxes .................. — 22,295 (25,040) — (2,745)
Non cash activity in investments in
subsidiaries .................. 592,033 514,662 — (1,106,695) —
Changes in operating assets and
liabilities .................... (34,222) 45,996 11,088 (6) 22,856
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities ............ 39,023 (15,451) 203,607 — 227,179
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment . . .. — (18,249) (54,322) — (72,571)
Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities ............. — (18,249) (54,322) — (72,571)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payments on long-term debt ........... — (73,536) (805) — (74,341)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock
options .. ............ i 7,177 _ — — 7,177
Repayments of short-term bank
borrowings, net . ..... S — —_— (53,910) — (53,910)
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities ............ 7,177 (73,536) (54,715) — (121,074)
Effect of exchange ratesoncash .... . — — 45 — 45
Net increase (decrease) in cash ... .. 46,200  (107,236) 94,615 — 33,579
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of :
period . ... 116,375 135,729 135,143 — 387,247
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ... $ 162,575 § 28,493  $229,758 § —  $420,826
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Note 18—Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

" First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2005 ‘
Net revenue as reported ... ...... e e $328,647 $534,171 $430,748 $487,004
Adjustments . . ... ... e 200 — — —
Netrevenue asrestated ............... e $328,847 $534,171 $430,748 $487,004
Grossprofitasreported ........... ... ... .. ... 145,204 255,261 193,873 228,974
Adjustments . . ... ... 194 — — —
Gross profitasrestated .......... ... ..., $145,398 $255,261 $193,873 $228,974
Net income (loss)asreported ..............c.cociiiunann.. (7,606) 60,178 20,193 13,992
AdJjustments . . .....oo i (1,106) — _ —_
Net income as restated . . . . . .. N R $ (8,712) $ 60,178 $ 20,193 §$ 13,992
Basic earnings per share asreported . .......... ... ... ....... (0.08) 0.66 0.22 0.15
AdJUSEMENES . . ..\ttt 0©.02) = — — —
Basic earnings per share asrestated . ....................... (0.10) 0.66 0.22 0.15
Diluted earnings per share asreported ...................... (0.08) 0.65 022 0.15
Adjustments . . ...t e (0.02) —_ — —
Diluted earnings per share asrestated ....................... (0.10) 0.65 0.22 0.15
2004 ‘ ‘ A ,
Netrevenne asreported ... ...ttt $367,208 $547,947 $450,592 $510,050
Adjustments . ............ e 275 275 275 275
Net TEVENUE a5 TESEALEd . . . v\ o v s et oo e $367,483 $548,222 $450,867 $510,325
Gross profit as reported . . . .. e e 168,485 257,355 200,229 237,572
AdJuStments . ... ..ot 275 275 275 275
Gross profitasrestated ............. ..ot $168,760 $257,630 $200,504 $237.847
Net incomeasreported .. ....... .. 16,954 64,688 23,633 26,377
Adjustments . ... ... e (512) (1,043) (66) - 289
Netincome asrtestated .. ... .ottt $ 16442 $ 63,645 $ 23567 $ 27,166
Basic earnings per share as reported . .. ... e e 0.19 071 0.26 - 0.30
AdJustments . .. ... e e 0.01) (0.01) — —
Basic earnings per share asrestated ................. SRR . 0.18 0.70 0.26 0.30
Diluted earnings per share asreported ...................... 0.19 07 0.26 0.29
AdUSIMENTS . . oLt e (0.01) (0.01) —_ . 0.01
Diluted earnings per share asrestated . ...................... 0.18 0.70 - 026 030

The quarterly financial data for the years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 are unaudited. All quarters for fiscal
2004 and the first quarter of fiscal 2005 have been restated as a result of the corrections identified in Note 2. The
first quarter of fiscal 2005 and 2004 have been presented on a restated basis in the Company’s amended quarterly
filing on Form 10-Q/A for the quarter ended June 30, 2005. The second and third quarters of fiscal 2004 have been
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presented on a restated basis in the Company’s quarterly filings on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended September 30,
2005 and December 31, 2003, respectively. In the opinion of the Company, the interim data as restated includes all
adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments necessary to present such data fairly.

Note 19—Subsequent Events
Acquisition of Italian Distributor

In April 2005, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, TH Europe B.V., acquired the rights to
full distribution and management of the Tommy Hilfiger brand and products in Italy at a purchase price of
approximately $22,000. The transaction includes the purchase of these rights from the existing unrelated
distributor, Fincom SPA, and marks a transition whereby the Company will directly own and operate all Tommy
Hilfiger business in Italy. The Company plans to expand the business in Italy through its International Wholesale
and Retail segments. This opportunity provides the Company with greater direct control and impact over all areas
of the business in Italy, including operations, sales and marketing.

New Credit Facility

As more fully described in Note 8, on April 20, 2005, the company terminated its existing credit facility,
and entered into a new $150,000 cash-collateralized, 364-day, letter of credit facility to be used for normal trade
financing and other general purposes.

Sale of Buildings

In May 2005, the Company sold its office building at 485 Fifth Avenue in New York City for net proceeds
of $45,900. The net book value of the building was $43,580 resulting in a pretax gain on the sale of $2,320.

In August 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its office building at 25 West 39t Street in
New York City for net proceeds of approximately $50,000. The net book value of this building is approximately
$30,000, which is expected to result in a pretax gain on the sale of approximately $20,000. Although this
transaction is expected to close during the third quarter of fiscal 2006, the timing of the recognition of the gain
will depend upon the Company’s continuing involvement in the building and is not expected to be recognized
until the first quarter of fiscal 2007.

Amended Tax Returns

As more fully described in Note 11, on August 22, 20053, the Company filed amended U.S. Federal income
tax returns for fiscal years 2001 through 2004, as required in connection with the resolution of the USAO
investigation. Included with the amended returns was payment of $18,100 for additional taxes and related
interest.

Hurricane Katrina

In August 2005, Hurricane Katrina struck the Gulf coast of the U.S. The Company’s retail outlet store in
Gulfport, Mississippi was impacted by this storm. The outlet center experienced roof damage and water
intrusion, which resulted in damage to the store fixed assets and inventory. The landlord has begun clean up and
refurbishment of the facility. The reopening date of the center has not yet been determined. The net book value of
the fixed assets and inventory were $11 and $218, respectively. The net sales of the Gulfport store were $2,329 in
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fiscal 2005. The Company has property and business interruption insurance, hence does not expect to recognize a
significant impact from these damages.

U.S. Wholesale Restructuring

During October 2005, the Company completed a review of its U.S. Wholesale organization and determined
that activities were required to streamline the structure and more effectively support the current level of business.
On October 6, 2005, the Company announced a series of actions to accomplish these goals. In order to achieve
operating efficiencies, the Company terminated 135 employees. These actions are expected to result in a pretax
charge to earnings in the third quarter of fiscal 2006 of approximately $5,000 primarily related to severance
payments to the affected employees. This streamlining along with associated expense reductions is expected to
result in annual cost savings beginning in the fourth quarter of the current fiscal year.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in its reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is processed,
recorded, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of
achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), the Company carried out an evaluat1on under the supervision and with
the participation of management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of the
end of the period covered by this Annual Report. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of March 31, 2005, at the reasonable
assurance level, because of the material weakness described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting. -

As more fully described in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and in Note 2 and Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in connection with an
investigation by a regulatory agency, the Company performed a.comprehensive review of its income tax
accounting. As a result-of the findings of the review, and the analysis of other accounting matters, the Company
has restated its audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, and its
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements for the first quarter of 2005 and all quarters in 2004.

Notwithstanding the existence of the material weakness described below, management has concluded that
the consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K fairly present, in all material respects, the Company’s
financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim and annual periods presented.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management-of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is
a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s Chief Executive-Officer and Chief Financial
Officer and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and
includes those policies and procedures that: ’

»  Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly represent the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company,

* Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
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expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the Board of
Directors of the Company, and

* Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies and procedures may deteriorate.

Management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2005 utilizing the
criteria described in the Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Commlttee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”).

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than
a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected. As of March 31, 2005, the Company did not maintain effective controls over the
accounting for income taxes, including the determination and reporting of income taxes payable, deferred income
tax assets and liabilities and the related income tax provision. Specifically, the Company did not have adequate
personnel to enable the Company to properly consider and apply generally accepted accounting principles for
taxes, ensure that the rationale for certain tax positions was adequately documented and appropriately
communicated and ensure that effective oversight of the work performed by its outside tax advisors was
exercised. Additionally, the Company did not maintain effective controls to review and monitor the accuracy of
the components of the income tax provision calculations and the related deferred income taxes, and income taxes
payable, including monitoring the differences between the tax basis and the financial reporting basis of assets and
liabilities to effectively reconcile the deferred tax balances. Furthermore, the Company did not have effective
controls to identify, evaluate and accurately record provisions for profits tax in Hong Kong. This control
deficiency resulted in the restatement of the annual consolidated financial statements for 2004 and 2003, the
interim consolidated financial statements for the first quarter of 2005 and all quarters in 2004, as well as audit
adjustments to the 2005 consolidated financial statements. Additionally, this control deficiency could result in the
misstatement of income taxes payable, deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the related income tax
provision, that would result in a material misstatement to annual or interim consolidated financial statements that
would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency
constitutes a material weakness.

As aresult of the material weakness described above, the Company’s management has concluded that, as of
March 31, 2005, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective based on the criteria in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as
of March 31, 2005 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an mdependent registered pubhc
accounting firm, as stated in their report, which appears herein.

Management’s C‘onsideration of the Restatement

Management concluded that certain of the lease restatement items, including the accounting for rent holiday
periods and classification of landlord incentives disclosed in Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements included in this Form 10-K, were effectively remediated as of March 31, 2005.

In coming to the conclusion that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective as
of March 31, 2005, management considered the income tax restatement and material weakness described above.
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In addition, management considered among other things, the restatement related to EITF 97-10, “The Effect of
Lessee Involvement in Asset Construction”, other accrued liabilities, allowances and inventory reserves as
disclosed in Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K. After
reviewing and analyzing the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 99,
“Materiality,” paragraph 29 of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting,” and
SAB Topic 5F, “Accounting Changes Not Retroactively Applied Due to Immateriality,” and taking into
consideration (i) that these restatément adjustments did not have a material impact on the financial statements of
prior interim or annual periods taken as a whole; (ii) that the cumulative impact of these restatement adjustments
on shareholders’ equity were not material on the financial statements of prior interim or annual periods; and

(i11) that the Company decided to restate its previously issued financial statements solely because the cumulative
impact of these adjustments, if recorded in the current period, would have been material to the current year’s
reported net income, management concluded that these matters individually or in the aggregate did not constitute
a material weakness.

Remediation
The Company has taken and is taking the following actions to address the material weakness in its tax function:

» Increased the Company’s internal tax resources by hiring a Vice President of Taxation and a Tax
Manager into newly created positions;

« Retained new tax advisors and increased the level of involvement of outside external tax advisers
pertaining to, among other things, the adequacy and design of the Company’s tax strategies and entity
structure;

* Retained a tax consultant with significant experience in managing corporate tax functions to review and
complete documentation of critical procedures within the corporate tax department, specifically
including documentation requirements, in order to strengthen the reliability and timeliness of the
Company’s tax accounting and to prepare for internal control audits; and

* Increased the level of review and discussion of significant tax matters and supporting documentation

with senior finance management.

Notwithstanding the existence of the material weakness described above, management has concluded that
the consolidated financial statements in this Form 10-K fairly present, in all material respects, the Company’s
financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim and annual periods presented.

Chémges in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the quarter ended March 31, 2005, that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to affect the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

“None
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PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Directors and Executive Officers

Name v : é& Present Position
- Thomas J. Hiifiger ......... 54 Honorary Chairman of the Board, Principal Designer and Director
DavidE.Dyer ............. 56 Chief Executive Officer, President and Director '
MarioL.Baeza ............ 54  Director .
JerriL.DeVard ............ 47 Director
Clinton V. Silver ........... 76  Director
Robert TT.Sze ............ 64 Director
Robert Rosenblatt .......... 47  Chief Operating Officer
James Gallagher ......... .. 47 Executive Vice President—General Counsel
Theophlius (Theo) Killion ... 54 Executive Vice President—Human Resources
Joseph Scirocco .. ........ .. 49  Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President and Treasurer
Quentin Walsh ............ 52  Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller

Thomas J. Hilfiger has been a Director and Principal Designer of the Company since 1992 and Honorary
Chairman of the Board of the Company since 1994. Mr. Hilfiger served as Chairman of the Board of the
Company from October 2002 to February 2003. Mr. Hilfiger was Vice Chairman of the Board of the Company
and its predecessors from 1989 to 1994, and President of Tommy Hilfiger, Inc. from 1982 to 1989. Mr. Hilfiger
has been designing clothes under the Tommy Hilfiger trademarks since 1984.

David F. Dyer has served as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, President and Director since August
2003. From June 2002 until August 2003, Mr. Dyer served as Executive Vice President and General Manager of
the Customer Direct business of Sears, Roebuck & Co., a broadline retailer. From 1998 until June 2002 (when
Sears, Roebuck & Co. acquired Lands’ End Inc.), Mr. Dyer served as President and Chief Executive Officer of
Lands’ End Inc., an apparel company. Mr. Dyer began his career with Burdines, a division of Federated
Department Stores, Inc. and held various merchandising and marketing posts during his 17 years there. He later
served as President and Chief Operating Officer of Home Shopping Network and was Acting President of J.
Crew Catalog, as a consultant for Texas Pacific Group, from 1997 to 1998. Mr. Dyer is also a Director of ADVO,
Inc., a direct mail marketing services company listed on the New York Stock Exchange.

Mario L. Baeza has been a Director of the Company since February 2004. Mr. Baeza is the founder and
controlling shareholder of Bacza & Co. as well as Chairman of TCW/Latin America Partners, L.L.C. Baeza &
Co. was formed in 1995 to create the first U.S. Hispanic-owned merchant banking firm focusing on the
Pan-Hispanic region. In 1996, Baeza & Co. entered into a partnership with Trust Company of the West for the
purpose of forming TCW/Latin America Partners, L.L.C. (“TCW/LAP”). Mr. Baeza served as Chairman and
CEO of TCW/LAP from its inception in 1996. In 2003, Mr. Baeza relinquished day-to-day operating control of
TCW/LAP in order to form The Baeza Group. The Baeza Group, controlled by Baeza & Co., is a Hispanic-
owned alternative investment firm specializing in the management and distribution of private equity and hedge
fund products. Prior to forming TCW/Latin America Partners in 1996, Mr. Baeza served as President of
Wasserstein Perella International Limited and Chairman and CEO of Grupo Wasserstein Perella, the Latin
American Division of the firm; and until 1994, was a partner at the law firm of Debevoise & Plimpton where,
among other practices, he founded and headed the firm’s Latin America Group. Mr. Baeza is a director of Air
Products and Chemicals, Inc., Ariel Mutual Fund Group, AusAm Biotechnologies, Inc. and Urban America LLC.
The Board has appointed Mr. Baeza as Lead Director of the Board, effective October 31, 2005.

Jerri DeVard has been a Director of the Company since February 2004. Since January 2003, Ms. DeVard
has served as the Senior Vice President of Brand Management and Marketing Communications for Verizon

Communications (“Verizon™), a telecommunications company. Prior to joining Verizon, from March 1998 to
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December 2002, Ms. DeVard held several executive positions in marketing and business development at
Citigroup, a financial services firm, with the most recent position being that of the Chief Marketing Officer,
where she was responsible for the overall marketing, sales and integration of Citigroup’s e-commerce division as
well as development and execution of the advertising and marketing for the AOL and Microsoft Partnerships.
Ms. DeVard began her career with the Pillsbury Company where she spent ten years marketing a portfolio of
brands before moving on to work for the NFL/Minnesota Vikings Football Club, Harrah’s Entertainment and
Revlon.

Clinton V. Silver has been a Director of the Company since 1994. Mr. Silver served as Deputy Chairman of
Marks & Spencer plc, an international retailer based in London, from 1991 t0 1994 and as a consultant from 1994
" to 1999. In addition, Mr. Silver served as a director of Marks & Spencer plc from 1974 to 1994 and as Joint
Managing Director from 1990 to 1994. Mr. Silver also served as Chairman of the British Fashion Council from
1994 to 1997.

Robert T.T. Sze was appointed as a Director of the Company in September 2002. Mr. Sze currently serves
as a director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of a number of public companies in Hong Kong, including
Asia Satellite Telecommunications Holdings Limited, which is also listed on the New York Stock Exchange.
Previously, Mr. Sze served as a Partner of Price Waterhouse Hong Kong for over 20 years. Mr. Sze is a fellow of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Robert Rosenblatt has served as Chief Operating Officer of the Company since November 2004. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Rosenblatt held various senior executive positions with the Home Shopping Network
since 1997, including most recently as President of the U.S. Division of the Home Shopping Network from
March 2001 to February 2004. From February 2004 until joining the Company, Mr. Rosenblatt served as a
consultant for the retail industry. '

James Gallagher has served as Executive Vice President—General Counsel of the Company since January
2005. From November 2004 to January 2005, Mr. Gallagher served as the acting General Counsel of Intellirisk
Management Corporation, a customer management solutions provider specializing in collections, accounts
receivable management and customer retention. From November 2002 through November 2004, Mr. Gallagher
served as a legal consultant. From October 1996 to November 2002, Mr. Gallagher served as the Executive Vice
President and General Counsel of the Home Shopping Network.

Theo Killion has served as Executive Vice President-——Human Resources of the Company since January
2005 and as the Executive Vice President—Human Resources of the Company’s U.S. subsidiary, Tommy
Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc., since March 2004, From January 1996 until March 2004, Mr. Killion served as the Vice
President of Human Resources of The Limited, an apparel company and broadline retailer.

Joseph Scirocco is Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President and Treasurer of the Company.
Mr. Scirocco has been an Executive Vice President of the Company since January 2005. Mr. Scirocco has been
Chief Financial Officer since October 2002 and has held the title of Senior Vice President and Treasurer since
1997.

Quentin Walsh has served as Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller since January 2005. Prior to
joining the Company, from November 1997 until January 2005, Mr. Walsh was the Controller of COACH, Inc.,
an apparel and accessories company whose shares are traded on the New York Stock Exchange.

Each Executive Officer of the Company also serves as an officer of one or more of the Company’s
subsidiaries. A .

As previously announced, effective as of the close of business of October 31, 2005, Joel J. Horowitz retired ‘
as a Director and Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors. In addition, David Tang has also resigned
from the Board effective that date in order to more closely attend to other commitments.
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Terms of Directors

The Company’s Board of Directors currently consists of six members and is divided into three classes with
staggered three-year terms. At each Annual Meeting of Shareholders, the successors of the class of directors
whose terms expire at such meeting are elected for three-year terms. The term of Ms. DeVard, and Messrs.
Hilfiger, and S;g: expiré in 2005; the terms of Messrs. Dyer and Silver expire in 2006; and the term of Mr. Baeza
expires in 2007. ' ‘

Attendance at Annual Meeting

_ "The ‘Co'mpg‘ny’s 2004 Annual Meetiﬁg of Shareholders was held on November 1, 2004. Each of the
Company’s Directors (then in ofﬁce_) was in attendance.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company’s officers and directors, and certain persons who
own more than 10% of a registered class of the Company’s equity securities (collectively, “Reporting Persons”),
to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership (“Section 16 Reports™) with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "‘SEC’-’) and the New York Stock Exchange. Reporting Persons are required by the SEC to
furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16 Reports they file.

Based solely on its review of the copies of such Section 16 Reports received by it, or wriiten representations
received from certain Reporting Persons, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to the Company’s
Reporting Persons during and with respect to the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 have been complied with on a
timely basis. ' ' ’

Commiittees of the Board of Directors

The Company’s Board of Directors maintains three standing committees: the Audit Committee, the
Compensation Committee and the Nominating & Governance Committee (the “Standing Committees™). All three
committees are composed entirely of independent directors. Each Committee operates under a written charter
adopted by the Board of Directors. Each committee charter is available on our website, www.tommy.com (under
the “Corpo_rate Governance” caption). ‘

The Audit Committee has been established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)A of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended. The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s financial reporting process on behalf of
the Board of Directors, appoints the accounting firm to serve as the Company’s Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm, approves services provided to the Company by the Company’s independent auditors and
reviews transactions among the Company and its affiliates. The Audit Committee consists of Mr. Sze, who is the
Chairman, Mr. Baeza and Mr. Silver, each of whom meets the standards for independence for audit committee
members under SEC rules and New York Stock Exchange listing standards. Each Audit Committee member is
financially literate, as required of audit committee members by the New York Stock Exchange. The Board of
Directors has determined that Mr. Sze is an audit committee financial expert (as defined by SEC rules) and is
independent (as defined by SEC rules).

The Compensation Committee is responsible for supervising the Company’s compensation policies,
administering the employee stock incentive plans, reviewing officers’ salaries and bonuses, approving significant
changes in employee benefits and recommending to the Board of Directors such other forms of remuneration as
it deems appropriate. The Compensation Committee consists of Ms. DeVard, who is the Chair, Mr. Baeza and
Mr. Sze. - : : . '

The Nominating & Governance Committee is responsible for (i) assisting the Board of Directors by
identifying individuals qualified to become Board members, consistent with the criteria approved by the Board,
and to select or recommend that the Board select, the director nominees for the next annual meeting of -
shareholders; (ii) to recommend to the Board the corporate governance guidelines applicable to the Company;
(iii) to lead the Board in its annual review of the Board and management’s performance; and (iv) to recommend
to the Board director nominees for each committee. The Nominating & Governance Committee consists of
Mr. Silver, who is the Chairman, Mr. Baeza, Ms. DeVard and Mr. Sze. ‘
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In October 2004, the Board of Directors of the Company formed a Special Committee of independent
directors (the “Special Committee”), consisting of Clinton Silver, Mario Baeza, and Jerri DeVard, to conduct an
independent investigation into matters arising out of the investigation by the U.S. Attorney of the Southern
District of New York (“USAQ”) regarding buying office commission rates. On August 10, 2005, the Company
announced that it had resolved the investigation by executlng anon- prosecutlon agreement with the USAO.
Mz. Silver is Chairman of the Special Committee.

Identifying and Evaluating Nominees for Director

The Company’s Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing the qualifications and
independence of the members of the Board and its various committees on a periodic basis as well as the
composition of the Board as a whole. This assessment will include members’ qualification as independent, as. .
well as consideration of diversity, age, skills, and experience in the context of the needs of the Board. Nominees
for directorship will be recommended to the Board by the Nominating & Governance Committee in accordance
with the policies and principles in its charter. The invitation to join the Board is extended by the Board 1tse1f by
the Chairman of the Nominating & Governance Committee and the Chairman of the Board. "

When the Nominating & Governance Committee or another Board member identifies the need to add a new
Board member with specific qualifications or to fill a vacancy on the Board, the Nominating & Governance
Committee initiates a search and seeks input from Board members, as well as other advisors, and may hire a
search ﬁrm if necessary, to assist in the seaxch process

In evaluating candidates, regardless of how recommended, the Nominating & Governance Committee
considers, among other things, the following criteria: (i) whether the candidate is prepared and qualified to
represent the best interests of the Company’s shareholders; (ii) whether the candidate’s skills and experiences
would benefit the Board in rendering its service to'the Company; (iii) whether the candidate’s personal and”
professional values and ethics are consistent with those of the Company; and (iv) whether the candidate is
committed to spending the necessary time and effort in fulfilling his or her Board related duties. The
Nominating & Governance Committee does not intend to change the manner in which it evaluates candidates;
including the minimum criteria set forth above, based on whether the candidate was recommended by a
shareholder or not. :

The Nominating & Governance Committee keeps the full Board informally informed of the search process .
and may have the candidate interview with the full Board. Once the Nominating & Governance Committee
considers and approves the final candidate, it then recommends such nominee to the full Board for its approval.

These guidelines were implemented in J une 2004. No new directors were nommated after these new
guidelines were implementéd. :

Shareholder Nominees

As provided in the Company’s Nomindting & Governance Committee Charter, the Company will consider
director candidates recommended by shareholders. Shareholders who wish to make such a recommendation
should send the recommendation to Tommy Hilfiger Corporation, Attention: Secretary, c/o Tommy Hilfiger
U.S.A., Inc., 601 W. 26t Street, New York, NY 10001; with a copy to the same address, Attention: Vice
President of Corporate Affairs. The envelope must contain a clear notation that the enclosed letter is a “Director ~
Nominee Recommendation.” The letter must identify the author as a shareholder, provide a brief summary of the
candidate’s qualifications and history and must be accompanied by evidence of the sender’s stock ownership.
Any director recommendations will be reviewed by the Company’s Secretary and forwarded to the Chairman of
the Nominating & Governance Committee for further review and evaluation. If the Chairman of the
Nominating & Governance Committee believes that the candidate fits the criteria of a director described above,
the recommendation will be shared with the entire Board.
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Communications with the Board or the Presiding Director

The independent directors have selected Clinton Silver as Presiding Director. Among other things, the
Presiding Director chairs executive sessions of non-management directors, held at least three times a year. You
can contact the Company’s Board of Directors, non-management directors as a group, the Presiding Director or
any other director by writing to the Board, the Company’s non-management directors as a group, or such director
c/o Secretary, Tommy Hilfiger Corporation, ¢/o Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc., 601 W, 26t Street, New York, NY
10001; with a copy to the same address, Attention: Vice President of Corporate Affairs. The Secretary will
promptly forward any communication unaltered to the Board, non-management directors as a group or such
director.

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Board of Directors has adopted corporate governance principles to provide guidelines for the Board to
ensure effective corporate governance. The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines are available at the
Company’s website, www.tommy.com (under the “Company Info” caption followed by the “Corporate
Governance” caption).

Code of Ethics

The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and a Code of Ethics for the CEO and
Senior Financial Officers that applies to its principal executive officer, its principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller and other persons performing similar functions. Both codes are posted on the
Company’s website, www.tommy.com, (under the “Company Info” caption, followed by the “Corporate
Governance” caption) and are also available in print to any shareholder who requests it by written request
addressed to Tommy Hilfiger Corporation, Attention: Secretary, ¢/o Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc., 601 W. 26®
Street, New York, NY 10001; with a copy to the same address, Attention: Vice President of Corporate Affairs.
The Company intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement regarding any amendment to, or a waiver of, a
provision of the Code of Ethics for CEO and Senior Financial Officers by posting such information on our
website. In addition, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer submitted his most recent annual certification to the
NYSE under Section 303A.12 of the NYSE Listing Standards on February 2, 2005.

Director Compensation

Directors who are officers or employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries receive no additional
compensation for their service on the Board of Directors and its Committees. For the fiscal year ended March 31,
2005, all Non-Employee Directors receive the following retainers: $40,000 per annum for members of the Board
of Directors; $5,000 per annum for members of standing committees; and $3,000 per annum for Chairmen of
standing committees. The Non-Employee Directors also receive $2,000 for attendance at each meeting of the
Board of Directors or a committee. In addition, the Non-Employee Directors participate in the Tommy Hilfiger
Corporation Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan and the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2003 Incentive
Compensation Plan. See “Stock-Based Plans.” In August 2003, the Board of Directors approved the
recommendation of the Nominating and Goverance Committee to increase the amount paid to the Chairman of
the Board Committees as follows: Chairman of the Audit Committee, $10,000 per annum, Chairman of the
Compensation Committee, $5,000 per annum and the Chairman of the Nominating and Governance Committee,
$5,000 per annum. ‘




Each member of the Special Committee is paid $2,000 for each meeting of the Special Committee which he
or she attends, as well as $250 per hour for each day or significant portion thereof devoted to reviewing any
Special Committee related matters. The Chairman of the Special Committee also receives $3,000 per annum.

In consideration for his sgrvfces aé Non-Executive Chairman of the Board from April 1, 2005 to Octéber 31,

2005, the Company paid Mr. Horowitz at a rate of $40,000 per year, plus benefits. Mr. Horowitz received $5,000
for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company during such period.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the compensation paid and accrued by the Company and its subsidiaries for
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 to the Company’s chief executive officer during such
periods and the five other most highly compensated executive officers (the “Named Executive Officers”).

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, Mr. Horowitz served as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and President and continued to hold such positions until August 2003. In August 2003, Mr. Dyer became Chief
Executive Officer and President of the Company.

Annual Compensation Long-Term Compensation
Awards
Securities
Underlying
Name and Principal Fiscal Other Annual Restricted Stock Stock All Other
Position Year Salary ($) Bonus (§) Compensation  Awards ($) Options (# Compensation ($)
Joel J. Horowitz ........ 2005 1,000,000 250,000 219,244M —_— — 4,250
Former Non-Executive 2004 676,595 8,209,000 — — — 6,150@
Chairman of the Board, 2003 662,678 7,645,000 —_ — — 6,000
and former
Chief Executive
Officer and President
Thomas J. Hilfiger ... ... 2005 14,546,000® — — — — 6,300
Honorary Chairman of 2004 18,344,000t — —_ — — 6,150
the Board and Principal 2003 20,563,000 — — — — 6,000@
Designer
David F.Dyer ......... 2005 1,250,000 187,500  464,701® — 500,000 2,100
Chief Executive Officer 2004 833,333® 2,500,000  164,385M — 500,000 206,082®
and President 2003 — — — — — —
Robert Rosenblatt . ..... 2005 309,626  350,00010 — 224,2504D 225,000 22,5231
Chief Operating Officer 2004 — — — — — —
2003 — — — — — —
Joel H. Newman ....... 2005 609,95003) 634,000 — — — —
Former Executive 2004 950,000 950,000 —_ — — 16,15004
Vice President— 2003 850,000 567,000 — — 50,000 16,400(14)
Finance and Operations
Theo Killion ... ........ 2005 500,000 56,250 — — 50,000 —
Executive 2004 3,6400%  175,00006) — — 100,000 —
Vice President— 2003 — — — — — —

Human Resources

M Amount représents imputed value in the amount shown for personal travel on private aircraft, paid for by the Company,
based on the Company’s aggregate incremental cost. '

@ Amount represents employer matching contribution under the Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the
“401(k) Plan™).

®  Pursuant to an incentive plan approved by shareholders of the Company, Mr. Horowitz received an annual bonus equal to
5% of the Company’s earnings.

@ Pursuant to an employment agreement entered into prior to the Company’s initial public offering, Mr. Hilfiger receives
annual salary payments equal to $900,000 plus 1.5% of the net sales (as defined in the agreement) of TH USA and its
subsidiaries over $48,333,333. See “Certain Employment Agreements.”

) On August 10, 2005, the Company and Mr. Dyer entered into an agreement at Mr. Dyer’s initiative that waived $125,000
of his bonus for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 that he was otherwise entitled to receive under his employment
agreement so that his bonus payout aligned and was consistent with the percentage of target payouts of other employees
of the Company. See “Certain Employment Agreements.”

®  For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, Mr. Dyer’s annual base salary was $1,250,000. The amount listed represents
the payment of Mr. Dyer’s salary from the commencement of his employment until the end of the Company’s fiscal year.
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Amount includes a bonus of $1,000,000 paid to Mr. Dyer upon commencement of his employment.

Amount primarily includes (i) payment of relocation related expenses in the amount of $49,549 in connection with

Mr. Dyer’s employment with the Company; and (ii) payment of legal fees in the amount of $154,075 in connection with
the preparation of Mr. Dyer’s employment agreement.

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, Mr. Rosenblatt’s annual base salary was $750,000. The amount listed
represents the payment of Mr. Rosenblatt’s salary from the commencement of his employment until the end of the
Company’s fiscal year.

Amount represents a bonus of $350,000 paid to Mr. Rosenblatt upon commencement of his employment.

Amount represents 25,000 restricted stock units granted to Mr. Rosenblatt at a value of $8.97 per share. These restricted
stock units vest three years from the date of grant.

Amount primarily includes reimbursed expenses related to relocation and temporary living costs.

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, Mr. Newman's annual base salary was $950,000. The amount listed represents
the payment of Mr. Newman’s salary from the commencement of the fiscal year until his retirement from the Company
in November 2004.

Amount represents employer matching contribution under the 401(k) Plan plus reimbursement for supplemental term life
insurance premium paymeiits of $10,000.

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, Mr. Killion’s annual base salary was $475,000. The amount listed represents the
payment of Mr. Killion’s salary from the commencement of his employment until the end of the Company’s fiscal year.
Amount represents a bonus paid to Mr. Killion upon commencement of his employment.

Stock Option Grants

The following table sets forth information regardmg grants of stock options during fiscal year 2005 to the

Named Executive Ofﬁcers

Stock Option Grants In Last Fiscal Year

Individual Grants Grant Date Value
' Number of % of Total
Securities Options Granted to  Exercise
: Underlying Employees in Fiscal Price Expiration Grant Date
Name Options Granted Year $/Share Date Present Value ($)
Thomas J. Hilfiger .............. — — — — -
Joel J. Horowitz ........... oL — — — — —
DavidF.Dyer ................. 500,000 _ 20.1 $17.195  4/1/2014 $3,287,650®
Robert Rosenblatt .............. 225,000 9.0 $ 8.975 11/4/2014 $ 751,050
JoelH.Newman ............... — — — — —_

Theo Killion . .................. 50,000 2.0 $ 11.68 3/31/2015  § 212,015

n

@

3

@

(5)

The stock options granted to Mr. Dyer on April 1, 2004, were non-qualified options granted pursuant to the
Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. Such options become exercisable at a rate of 33
and 1/3% on each anniversary of the grant date.

The fair value of these options on the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following assumptions: volatility of 52%; risk-free interest rate of 2.57%, expected life of 3
years; and no future dividends. The dollar amount in this column is not intended to forecast potential future
appreciation, if any, of the Company’s Ordinary Shares.

The stock options were non-qualified options granted pursuant to the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2003
Incentive Compensation Plan. Such options become exercisable at a rate of 25%, 25% and 50% on each of
the first 3 anniversaries of the grant date.

The fair value of these options on the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following assumptions: volatility of 49%; risk-free interest rate of 3.09%, expected life of 3
years; and no future dividends. The dollar amount in this column is ot intended to forecast potential future
appreciation, if any, of the Company’s Ordinary Shares.

The fair value of these options on the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following assumptions: volatility of 48%; risk-free interest rate of 3.91%, expected life of 3 -
years; and no future dividends. The dollar amount in this column is not intended to forecast potential future
appreciation, if any, of the Company’s Ordinary Shares.
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Aggregated Option Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option Values

The followfng table sets forth information regarding stock option exercises during the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2005 by the Named Executive Officers, and the values of such officer’s unexercised options as of
March 31, 2005.

Number of Securities Value of Unexercised

Underlying Unexercised In-the-Money
Stock Options at Fiscal Stock Options at
Shares Year-End (#) Fiscal Year-End ($)
Acquired on Value Exercisable/ Exercisable/

Name ' Exercise (#) Realized ($) Unexercisable Unexercisable
Thomas J. Hilfiger .................. — — — —
Joell. Horowitz .................... — — — . —
DavidF.Dyer...................... —_ — 166,667 / 833,000  $255,001 / $509,999
Robert Rosenblatt . .................. — — 0/225,000 . 0/8%613,125
JoelH.Newman ............... S — — — —
TheoKillion ....................... — ‘ — 25,000/ 125,000 ‘ 0/%1,000

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

The Company maintains the Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (the
“SERP”), a nonqualified unfunded plan, to provide retirement benefits to senior executives designated by the
Chief Executive'Officer of TH USA. As of March 31, 2005, Mr. Newman, who retired from the Company in
November 2004, was the only named Executive Officer receiving payments under the SERP.

Pension Plan Table. The following table.shows the estimated hypothetical annual benefit payable under the
SERP to participants retiring at age 65 based on the specified final average compensation and years of service.

Years of Service

Final Average

Base Salary 15 20 25 30 35
$ 250,000...... $ 75,000 $100,000 $125,000 $125,060 $125,000
300,000 .. ... 90,000 120,000 150,000 150,000 150,000
350,000 ...... 105,000 140,000 175,000 ‘ 175,000 175,000
400,000 ... ... 120,000 160,000 200,000 200,000 200,000
450,000 ...... 135,000 180,000 225,000 225,000 225,000
500,000 ... ... 150,000 200,000 250,000 250,000 250,000
750,000 ...... 225,000 300,000 375,000 375,000 375,000
1,000,000 . ..... 300,000 400,000 500,000 500,000 ‘ 500,000
1,250,000 . ... .. 375,000 500,000 ~ 625,000 625,000 625,000

The benefit payable under the SERP is a lifetime annuity equal to 2% of the participant’s average base
salary for the last three full calendar years of employment multiplied by the participant’s years of service (up to a
maximum of 25 years). Payments to vested participants’commence after termination of employment and upon the
earlier of (i) the attainment of age 65 or (ii) the request of the participant at any time after the attainment of age
55 (in which case the annual amount is reduced by 5% per year for each year it is paid before the participant’s
attainment of age 65). Participants become vested under the SERP upon the earliest of (a) the completion of 10
years of service, (b) the attainment of age 40 and completion of five years of service or (c) the attainment of age
65; provided, however, that TH USA may from time to time in its sole discretion determine that participants
become vested at such earlier time as TH USA by action of the Board of Directors so determines; provided that a
participant wha is terminated for “cause” (as defined in the SERP) will forfeit all rights to the SERP benefit
(whether or not vested). Payments under the SERP are subject to any applicable Social Security or other taxes
required to be withheld by law.




On October 22, 2004, the President signed the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “AJCA”), which
changes the tax laws governing the operation of deferred compensation plans such as the SERP. Although the
AJCA imposes numerous requirements on deferred compensation plans, these new requirements do not apply to
benefits accrued and vested as of December 31, 2004 (unless the plan is “materially modified” thereafter).

In order to preserve the favorable tax treatment with respect to grandfathered SERP benefits and to ensure
the SERP is not materially modified, the Company recently proposed amendments to the SERP that “froze” the
SERP effective as of December 31, 2004. This means that, effective as of January 1, 2005, participants will no
longer earn or accrue any additional benefits under the SERP and any future salary increases will not be taken
into account under the SERP benefit formula. This freezing of the SERP in no way impacts or reduces the SERP
benefit accrued as of December 31, 2004. Participants. will be entitled to receive a distribution of their SERP
benefit accrued as of December 31, 2004 at such time or times a distribution is permitted under the terms of the
SERP in effect prior to 2005. :

For purposes of the SERP, the amount specified in the Annual Compensation portion of the Summary
Compensation Table under the heading “Salary” would constitute “base salary.” As of March 31, 2005,
Mr. Newman completed 12 years of service and was vested under the SERP. Mr. Newman currently receives
monthly payments under the SERP in the amount of $16,200. Mr. Dyer was scheduled to become vested under
the SERP in August 2006 (following three years of service to TH USA). However, owing to the freeze of the
SERP described above, Mr. Dyer will not accrue any benefit under this program.

Certain Employment Agreements

The Company (including its subsidiaries) had employment agreements with Messrs. Hilfiger, Horowitz,
Dyer and Newman during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005. The Company (including its subsidiaries) had
letter agreements with Messrs. Rosenblatt and Killion during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003.

Thomas J. Hilfiger

The employment agreement with Mr. Hilfiger, the Company’s Honorary Chairman of the Board and
Principal Designer, provides for his employment as the designer of all products carrying the Tommy Hilfiger
trademarks until his death, disability or incompetence. Mr.-Hilfiger receives an annual base salary of $900,000,
subject to adjustments. If net sales (as defined in the agreement) of TH USA and its subsidiaries are less than
$48,333,333 in any year, Mr. Hilfiger’s base salary for such year is reduced by 1.5% of such shortfall, to not less
than $500,000. If net sales are greater than $48,333,333 in any fiscal year, Mr. Hilfiger receives an additional
payment equal to 1.5% of such excess. If Mr. Hilfiger terminates his employment without the consent of TH
USA other than by reason of his death, disability or incompetence, TH USA will have no further obligations
under the agreement. The agreement provides that TH USA and its subsidiaries cannot enter into any line of
business without the consent of Mr. Hilfiger if he shall reasonably determine that such line of business would be
detrimental to the Tommy Hilfiger trademarks.

Joel J. Horowitz

As previously announced, effective as of the close of business on October 31, 2005, Mr. Horowitz retired as
a Director and Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors. On April 1, 2004, the Company and TH USA
entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Horowitz (the “FY 2005 Agreement”). Under this agreement,
Mr. Horowitz served as the Executive Chairman of the Company and TH USA for a term ending March 31,
2005. Mr. Horowitz’s agreement provided for him to receive base salary of $1,000,000 for the fiscal year ending
March 31, 2005. He is also eligible for an annual cash bonus based upon achieving specified revenue and net
income goals, with a target bonus of 100% of his base salary and a maximum bonus of 200% of his base salary.
Under this agreement, Mr. Horowitz is not entitled to receive any stock options, restricted stock or other long
term incentive compensation. If the Company terminated Mr. Horowitz’s employment without cause or he
resigned for good reason, he would be entitled to a lump sum payment of his base salary through the term of the
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agreement, plus any payment of his bonus for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2005 based on actual performance
for the year. Mr. Horowitz has agreed in his employment agreement to abide by covenants regarding Company
ownership of his work product, confidentiality of Company information, non-competition, and non-solicitation of
Company employees, and to cooperate with the Company and its affiliates after termination of his employment
in litigations and governmental investigations. The FY 2005 Agreement expired on March 31, 2005.

From April 1, 2005 to October 31, 2005, Mr. Horowitz served as the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board
of the Company. In consideration for his services as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board, the Company paid
Mr. Horowitz at a rate of $40,000 per year, plus benefits. Mr. Horowitz also received $5,000 for attendance at
each meeting of the Board of Directors of the Company during such period. Mr. Horowitz retired from the
Company at the Board of Directors’ meeting held on October 31, 2005.

Prior to entering into the FY 2005 Agreement, Mr. Horowitz had an employment agreement which
originally provided for his employment as Chief Executive Officer of TH USA until March 31, 2004, and which
was revised upon the appointment of Mr. Dyer in August 2003 to provide for Mr. Horowitz’s employment as
Executive Chairman of the Company and TH USA. The agreement provided for an annual base salary, which in
fiscal 2004 was $676,595, with increases from the prior year by the average percentage increase for all
employees of TH USA. . ;

The Company is subject to Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (““Section
162 (m)”), under which public companies are not permitted to deduct for federal income tax purposes annual
compensation paid to certain executive officers in excess of $1,000,000 per executive, unless such excess is paid
pursuant to an arrangement based upon performance and approved by shareholders and provided that the other
requirements set forth in Section 162 (m) and related regulations are met. Payments required to be made pursuant
to the aforementioned employment agreement with Mr. Hilfiger, which was entered into prior to the effective
date of Section 162(m), are not subject to such restrictions.

On August 6, 1998, the Company’s Compensation Committee approved and the Board of Directors adopted,
and on November 2, 1998, the shareholders approved, the renewal of the Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A., Inc.
Supplemental Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (the “SEIC Plan”), which was scheduled to terminate on
April 1, 1999, for each of the five fiscal years in the period ending March 31, 2004. The purpose of the SEIC.
Plan was to provide a significant and flexible economic opportunity to Mr. Horowitz, in an effort to reward his
contribution to the Company and its subsidiaries. The SEIC Plan was administered by the Company’s
Compensation Committee and provided for a cash award to Mr. Horowitz equal to 5% of the Company’s
consolidated earnings before depreciation, interest on financing of fixed :assets, non-operating expenses and taxes
(“operating earnings”). Awards under the plan were calculated and paid quarterly based on 3.75% of operating
earnings for the first three fiscal quarters, with the remaining amount of the bonus (based on the 5% rate) paid at
the end of the fiscal year. The amount of the award was reduced by the amount of any other bonuses paid or
payable under any employment or bonus agreement between the Company or TH USA and Mr. Horowitz. The
SEIC Plan did not contain any cap on the maximum amount of the bonus payable thereunder. While the
Company believes that compensation payable pursuant to the SEIC Plan will be deductible for federal income tax
purposes pursuant to Section 162(m), there can be no assurance in this regard. The SEIC Plan expired on
March 31, 2004.

The employment agreement with Mr. Hilfiger, and Mr. Horowitz’s prior employment agreement, also
provide that such executives are eligible to receive additional annual bonuses at the discretion of TH USA’s .
Board of Directors or Compensation Committee. If, however, compensation is awarded based on an arrangement
that does not satisfy the requirements of Section 162(m), the Company would not be allowed to deduct for tax
purposes any payments in excess of the $1,000,000 limitation. No discretionary bonuses were paid to these
executives with respect to the Company’s last three fiscal years.

On June 29, 2001, the Company and Tommy Hilfiger (Eastern Hemisphere) Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company (“THEH"”) entered into a stock purchase agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”) with TH Europe
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Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of AIHL (*'TH Europe Holdings™), pursuant to which THEH agreed to acquire
from TH Europe Holdings all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of TH International N.V.
(“THNV?”), the owner of Tommy Hilfiger Europe B.V. (*'TH Europe”), the Company’s European licensee, for a
cash-purchase price of $200,000,000 plus acquisition related costs of $6,789,000 and assumed debt of .
$42,629,000. Also on-June 29, 2001, AIHL executed a guarantee of the performance by TH Europe Holdings of
its obligations under the Stock Purchase Agreement. The TH Europe Acquisition was completed on July 5, 2001,

Messrs. Hilfiger and Horowitz have agreed to waive any additional compensation attributable to the net
sales and operating earnings of the Company’s acquired European licensee to which they might otherwise be
contractually entitled under their existing (and in Mr. Horowitz’s case, his prior) employment arrangements.

David F. Dyer ‘

On August 3, 2003 the Company and TH USA entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Dyer for,
him to serve as Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company and TH USA for an initial term ending
March 31, 2007 Mr. Dyer’s agreement prov1des for him to receive a base salary of at least $1,250,000 per year,
with annual increases at least equal to the average annual base salary increases provided TH USA’s corporate |
employees generally in the annual review process. He is also eligible for an annual cash bonus based upon
achieving specified revenue and net income goals, with a target bonus of 100% of his base salary and a
maximum bonus of 200% of his base salary. He also received a cash signing bonus of $1,000,000.

Mr. Dyer was granted an option to purchase 500,000 ordinary shares under the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation
2001 Stock Incentive Plan on the effective date of his agreement. The Company has also agreed to make
additional 500,000 share optlon grants on April 1, 2004 and April 1, 2005 (Sllb_]CCt to adjustment in the event of
any stock splits or other changes in capitalization or corporate transactions). Mr. Dyer’s option grants will vest in
three equal annual installments. However, upon a change of control of the Company, the options will vest on an
accelerated basis and will remain exercisable for their full remaining terms notwithstanding any subsequent
termination of his employment other than for cause.

If the Company terminated Mr. Dyer’s employment without cause or he resigns for good reason, he would
be entitled to be paid cash severance equal to his annual base salary plus his target annual bonus, times a
multiplier that varies depending on the circumstances, as explained below. He would also be paid a pro-rata
annual bonus for the fiscal year of termination, based on actual performance for the year. If a termination of
employment were to occur in anticipation of, or within the period of 24 months following, a change of control, he
would receive a lump sum severance payment with a multiplier of three. In all other cases, the multiplier would
be two, and the cash severance would be paid as salary continuation over 24 months. In addition, if Mr. Dyer
resigned voluntarily without good reason during the 30-day period beginning on the first anniversary of a change
of control; he would be entitled to a Jump sum severance benefit, with a'multiplier of one. The employment
agreement provides that Mr. Dyer will be reimbursed for legal fees incurred in connection with entering into his
employment agreement and for any federal excise taxes imposed on payments that are contingent on a change of
control.

Mr. Dyer has agreed in his employment agreement to abide by covenants regarding Company ownership of
his work product, confidentiality of Company information, non-comnipetition, and non-solicitation of Company
employees, and to cooperate with the Company and its affiliates after termination of his employment in
liti gatlons and governmental mvest1gat1ons ‘ :

On August 10, 2005 the Company, TH USA and Mr. Dyer entered into an agreement, at Mr. Dyer’s
initiative, that waives certain bonus payments and salary increases he would otherwise have been contractually .
entitled to receive under his August 2003 employment agreement. Mr. Dyer had initiated discussions with the
Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors last year about his request for these waivers in
order to better align with the Company’s emiployee compensation structure in view of what he believed was good
management practice at a time of corporate repositioning.
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To that end, under the terms of the waiver, Mr. Dyer (i) acknowledges his waiver of $125,000 of his bonus
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 that he was otherwise entitled to receive under the employment
agreement so that his bonus payout aligned and was consistent with the percentage of target payouts of other
employees of the Company; (ii) acknowledges his waiver of the $37,500 increase in his annual base salary that
was to have taken effect pursuant to his employment agreement beginning on October 1, 2004; and (iii) waives
the additional $51,500 increase in his annual base salary that would otherwise take effect pursuant to his
employment agreement on October 1, 2005, which was not, in fact, waived. In addition, Mr. Dyer, in his sole
discretion, may waive the increase in his base salary that will be due on October 1, 2006 as well as portions of
any bonus for the fiscal years ending March 31, 2006 and 2007 that may be payable under the bonus calculation
formula in his employment agreement. ‘ .

The waiver stipulates that the waived amounts will not be repaid, with the only exception being if
Mr. Dyer’s employment were to be terminated by the Company prior to the March 31, 2007 term of his
employment agreement without cause or by Mr. Dyer for good reason (as such terms are defined in his
employment agreement). However, in no event will the waived amounts be paid if Mr. Dyer’s employment is
terminated following or in connection with a change of control (as defined in the employment agreement). Solely
for purposes of calculation the amount of any severance payments payable to Mr. Dyer under the employment
agreement following termination of his employment, he will be treated as if his annual base salary rate were the
amount that would have been payable to him under the employment agreement in the absence of his waivers.

Robert Rosenblatt

On November 4, 2004, TH USA entered into a letter agreement with Mr. Rosenblatt, providing for his
employment as Group President and Chief Operating Officer of TH USA and Chief Operating Officer of the
Company. ‘

Under the terms of the letter agreement, Mr. Rosenblatt will receive an annual base salary of $750,000,
subject to annual review, and will be eligible to participate in the Company’s Incentive Compensation Plan
beginning in fiscal 2006, with incentive levels set at 100% of his base salary. Mr. Rosenblatt will participate in
all benefit plans and programs the Company provides to all employees in accordance with their terms and
conditions as they may be modified by the Company from time to time. The letter agreement further provides
that Mr. Rosenblatt will be reimbursed for up to seven months of temporary housing (up to $50,000) and
reasonable relocation expenses. \

Mr. Rosenblatt also received a signing bonus of $350,000 in connection with the execution of the letter
agreement. In the event that Mr. Rosenblatt resigns or his employment is terminated by the Company for cause
(as defined in the letter agreement) within the first year of his employment with the Company, he is required to
repay the Company within 30 days of his resignation or termination a proportionate amount of such signing
bonus.

On the date of execution of his letter agreement, Mr. Rosenblatt was granted 225,000 options to purchase
shares of the Company’s ordinary stock subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2003 Incentive
Compensation Plan (the “2003 Plan”) and 25,000 shares of restricted stock subject to the terms and conditions of
the Company’s 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the letter agreement, on each of
April 1, 2005 and April 1, 2006, Mr. Rosenblatt will be granted either (a) 175,000 stock options or (b) at the
discretion of the Company, such other award other than stock options (including, but not limited to, cash, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock or restricted stock units) comparable in value to the grant of 175,000 stock
options. On April 1, 2005, Mr. Rosenblatt was granted 175,000 stock options. Any stock options granted
pursuant to the letter agreement will have an exercise price equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in the
2003 Plan) of the Company’s ordinary shares on the grant date. Each stock option grant under the letter
agreement will vest 25%, 25% and 50%, respectively, on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant date for
each grant. The restricted stock granted under the letter agreement shall vest in full on the third anniversary of the
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letter agreement. In the event of a Change in Control (as defined in the 2003 Plan), all outstanding stock options,
restricted stock or other such stock awards granted to Mr. Rosenblatt under the letter agreement shall become
fully vested and exercisable. :

If Mr Rosenblatt is terminated for any reason other than his death, disability, resignation or Cause (as
defined in the letter agreement), and if Mr. Rosenblatt executes a release and separation agreement satisfactory to
the Company, Mr. Rosenblatt will receive base salary continuation for 12 months from the date his employment
terminates. Such salary continuation will be offset by any compensation and benefits Mr. Rosenblatt is entitled to
receive from other employment (inciuding self employment) during the salary continuation period. Following
such termination, Mr. Rosenblatt will not be entitled to any bonus not already paid or any other benefits provided
by the letter agreement. \

Mr. Rosenblatt has agreed in his employment agreement to ablde by covenants regardmg confidentiality of
Company 1nf0rmanon non-competition, and non-solicitation of Company employees.

Joel H. Newman

Mr. Newman retired from the Company in November 2004. The employment agreement, as amended, with
Mr. Newman, the Company’s former Executive Vice President—Finance and Operations, provided for his
employment with TH USA until March 31, 2005, provided, however, that Mr. Newman had the right to terminate
his employment volnntarily before March 31, 2005 on at least 60 days’ advance notice to TH USA provided that the
date of termination is after November 30, 2004 (an “Elective Terrmnatlon ). The agreement provided for an annual
base salary of $950,000 in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005. Under the agreement, Mr. Newman was entitled to receive a
minimum bonus of $634,000 in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005; prov1ded that if the Company achieves or exceeds its
annual budget for a specified fiscal year, the minimum bonus will be 100% of the base salary for such year.

If Mr. Newman’s employment was terminated by the Company without “cause” (as defined in the
agreement) or by Mr. Newman with “good reason” (as defined in the agreement), or when the agreement
terminates on March 31, 2005, Mr. Newman would have generally, subject to certain conditions, be entitled to
receive (1) base salary continnation until the end of the then current term plus one year (subject to mitigation
from compensation and benefits received from other employment (the “Mitigation™)), (i) any unpaid bonus for a
fiscal year that ended on or before the date of termination, (jii) for a termination occurring on March 31, 2005,
his full bonus for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005, and (iv) for a termination occurring after March 31,
2004, but before March 31, 2005, a pro-rated annual bonus for the fiscal year 1n which the termination occurs. If
Mr. Newman elected to terminate his employment before March 31, 2005 on 60 days notice, he was entitled to
receive any unpaid bonus for a fiscal year that has ended and, subject to certain conditions, base salary
continuation for the one-year period beginning on the date of termination, plus a pro-rated portion of his annual
bonus (if any) that otherwise would have been payable to Mr. Newman in respect of the fiscal year in which the
date of termination occurs.

In addition, if Mr. Newman’s employment was terminated during calendar year 2004 by the Company
without cause or by Mr. Newman with good reason or if there is an Elective Termination, he would have '
received a full year’s credited service for 2004 under the SERP. Finally, if Mr. Newman’s employment was ‘
terminated by the Company without cause or by Mr. Newman with good reason within two years after a change
of control, his salary continuation payments would not be subject to the Mitigation.

~ Mr. Newman has agreed in his employment agreement and his separation agreement to abide by covenants
regardmg confidentiality of Company information, non-competition, and non-solicitation of Company employees.

Theo Killion

On March 26, 2004, TH USA entered into a letter agreement with Mr. Killion, prov1d1ng for his
employment as Executive Vice President—Human Resources of TH USA. In January 2005, Mr. Killion was
appointed as Executive Vice President—Human Resources of the Company.

58




Under the terms of the letter agreement, Mr. Killion will receive an annual base salary of $475,000, subject
to annual increases not to exceed the average increase of salaried employees for TH USA. During fiscal year
2005, Mr. Killion’s base salary was increased to $500,000. Mr. Killion is eligible to participate in the Company’s
Incentive Compensation Plan, with incentive levels set at 75% of his base salary and a maximum of 200%.

Mr. Killion will participate in all benefit plans and programs the Company provides to all employees and those in
a similar executive capacity, in accordance with their terms and conditions as they may be modified by the
Company from time to time. The letter agreement further provides that Mr. Killion will be reimbursed for all
usual and customary moving and relocation expenses, including up to 120 days of temporary housing.

Mr. Killion also received a signing bonus of $175,000 in connection with the execution of the letter agreement.

Pursuant to the letter agreement, on March 30, 2004, Mr. Killion was granted 100,000 options to purchase
shares of the Company’s ordinary stock subject to the terms and conditions of the 2003 Plan. In addition,
pursuant to the terms of the letter agreement, on March 31, 2005, Mr. Killion was granted 50,000 stock options.
Stock options granted pursuant to the letter agreement have an exercise price equal to the Fair Market Value (as
defined in the 2003 Plan) of the Company’s ordinary shares on the grant date. Each stock option grant under the
letter agreement will vest 25%, 25% and 50%, respectlvely, on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant
date for each grant.

If Mr. Killion is terminated without Cause (as defined in the 2003 Plan) or there is a Change in Control (as
defined in the 2003 Plan), and if Mr. Killion executes a release and separation agreement satisfactory to the
Company, Mr. Killion will receive (i) base salary continuation for 12 months from the date his employment
terminates; (ii) his earned bonus (according to the Company’s plan and performance); and (iii) reimbursement for
the cost of his COBRA coverage (provided he elects for COBRA).

Mr. Killion has agreed in his employment agreement to abide by covenants regarding confidentiality of
Company information, non-competition, and non-solicitation of Company employees.

Performance Awards

As described above, the Company is subject to Section 162(m), under which public companies are not
permitted to deduct for federal income tax purposes annual compensation paid to certain executive officers in
excess of $1,000,000 per executive, unless such excess is paid pursuant to an arrangement based upon
performance and approved by shareholders and provided that the other requirements set forth in Section 162
(m) and related regulations are met.

On September 16, 2003, the Company’s Compensation Committee approved and the Board of Directors
adopted, and on November 3, 2003, the shareholders of the Company approved, the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation
2003 Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2003 Plan”). The purpose of the 2003 Plan is to enable the Company
and its subsidiaries to continue to attract, retain and motivate officers, employees and non-employee directors by
providing incentives directly linked to the profitability of the Company’s businesses and increases in shareholder
value by providing the Company with the ability to grant stock options and stock appreciation rights to
employees, to pay performance-based annual bonuses to employees, and to make automatic grants of stock
options to non-employee directors.

As explained above, Mr. Dyer’s employment agreement provides for annual bonuses. The annual bonuses
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005 and subsequent fiscal years will be payable under the 2003 Plan.
Generally, under Mr. Dyer’s employment agreement, his annual bonus is payable only if minimum goals for net
revenue and income before taxes of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the fiscal year as
compared to the budgeted amount approved by the Company’s Board of Directors are met. Assuming that the
applicable minimum goals for a fiscal year are met, the annual bonus will equal a percentage of Mr. Dyer’s base
salary for the year, ranging between 25% and 200%, based upon the achievement of income before taxes and, for
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2004, and March 31, 2005, only, the achievement of net revenue, in each case as
compared to the budgeted amount.
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Each bonus under the 2003 Plan other than those provided for under Mr. Dyer’s employment agreement, as
described above, will be conditioned upon the attainment of pre-established performance goals measured over a
performance period designated by the Company’s Compensation Committee. A performance period may be one or
more periods of time over which the attainment of one or more performance goals will be measured for the purposes
of determining a participant’s right to payment in respect of a bonus under the 2003 Plan. The performance goals
applicable to a performance period must.be established in writing by the Compensation-Committee no later than the
earlier of (i) 90 days after the start of the performance period or (ii) the date upon which 25% of the performance
period has elapsed. The performance goals will be determined by reference to one or more of the following
performance measures, as selected by the Compensation Committee and as applicable to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of their respective divisions or business units: net revenues; gross profit; income before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization; income from operations; income before taxes; net income; basic or diluted
earnings per share; reduction of debt or similar obligations; unit volume; change in working capital; Company stock
price; return on capital; and return on investment; each as determined in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles as consistently applied by the Company, and if so determined by the Compensation
Committee, adjusted to omit the effects of extraordinary items of gain or loss on the disposal of a business segment,
unusual or infrequently occurring events and transactions and cumulative effects of changes in accounting
principles; provided that such an adjustment may only be made if the Compensation Committee has so provided
before the end of the period described above for estabhshmg performance goals, and then only to the extent
permitted under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. Performance measures may vary from performance
period to performance period and from participant to participant.

Generally, a participant may receive a bonus only to the extent that the Compensation Committee certifies
that the applicable performance goals have been achieved. The Compensation Committee has the discretion to
reduce or eliminate, but cannot increase, any amounts otherwise payable in respect of bonuses under the 2003
Plan. In addition, in order to receive a bonus, a pa.rt1c1pant will be réquired to remain employed by the Company
or one of its subsidiaries on the date of payment, unless otherwise provided in the applicable award schedule.

Any bonuses that are paid will be paid in the form of cash, Ordinary Shares, or a combination thereof, as the
Committee may determme in its sole dlscrenon except to the extent otherwise providéd in the apphcable award
schedule .

Awards under the 2003 Plan to ofﬁcers and :employees in the form of non-qualified stock options, incentive
stock options, stock appreciation rights and bonuses are intended to qualify as “performance based .
compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Currently, the bonuses
for Messrs. Horowitz.and Newman for fiscal 2005 are based on the requirements of the 2003 Plan.

Indemnification Agreements

Under the law of the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), where the Company is incorporated, and the law of
Delaware, where the Company’s principal U.S. subsidiary, TH USA is incorporated, a corporation has the power
to provide mandatory indemnification against certain liabilities and expenses incurred by its officers and
directors if they meet the apphcable statutory standard of conduct.

’ In the case of officers and dlrectors of TH USA, TH USA’s by-laws, as permitted by Delaware law, provide
that TH USA shall indemnify any person who is or was a party or threatened to be a party to any threatened,
pending or completed proceedings by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director or officer of TH USA,
if such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the
best interests of TH USA. TH USA’s by-laws also require TH USA to advance expenses incurred in defending or
investigating a threatened or pending proceeding upon receipt by TH USA of an undertaking by the director or
officer to repay such amount 1f itis ultlmatcly determined that such person is not entltled to be indemnified.

In the case of ofﬁcers and directors of the Company, the Company s Articles of Association permit the
Company to indemnify any person who is or was a party or threaténed to be made a party to any threatened,
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pending or completed proceedings by reason of the fact that the person is or was a director or officer of the
Company, if such person acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company.

On March 31, 2005, as permitted by BVI law, the Company began entering into indemnification agreements
with its current officers and directors, including Messrs. Horowitz, Hilfiger, Dyer, Rosenblatt and Killion,
following the prior authorization of such agreements by the unanimous vote of the Company’s independent
directors. These indemnification agreements provide mandatory indemnification and advancement of expenses
for the Company’s current officers and directors, subject to meeting the applicable standard of conduct under
BVI law, that is generally comparable to the mandatory indemnification and advancement of expenses provided
to TH USA’s officers and directors under TH USA’s by-laws.

The indemnification agreements require the Company to indemnify its officers and directors to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable law if, by reason of their serving or having served as officers or directors of the
Company or, at the request of the Company, in any capacity at another entity, they are made or threatened to be
made a party to or a participant in any proceeding, against costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’
fees, and any losses, judgments or amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection
with such proceeding, if the officer or director acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of
the Company. The indemnification agreements also require the Company to pay in advance of the final
disposition of a proceeding all reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection
with such proceeding, subject to an undertaking by the officer or director to repay any advance if it is ultimately
determined that the officer or director is not entitled to be indemnified against such expenses.

The rights under the indemnification agreement to receive indemnification and advancement of expenses are
not exclusive of any other rights that the director or officer may have under applicable law, the Company’s
Articles of Association, a vote of stockholders or a resolution of directors, director and officer liability insurance
policies or otherwise. ‘

The Company is not required by the indemnification agreements to indemnify the directors and officers
against fines and penalties or with respect to claims (i) for an accounting of profits made from the purchase or
sale of the Company’s securities under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, (ii) resulting from the
person’s knowingly fraudulent, dishonest or willful misconduct, or (iii) for which the payment of expenses or
losses under the indemnification agreement is not permitted by applicable law. The indemnification agreements
require the officer or director (i) to cooperate fully with the Company in responding to any proceeding, (ii) to
provide all required information and documents, and (iii) to be available for testimony, in each case as
reasonably requested by the Company. A determination regarding a person’s entitlement to indemnification may
be made by either independent counsel selected by the Board of Directors of the Company or by the disinterested
directors of the Company.

The indemnification agreements also provide that the Company shall use its best efforts to continue to
maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies for the benefit of the persons executing the
indemnification agreements having at least the same liability coverage amounts as the Company’s current
directors” and officers’ liability insurance policies; provided that the Company is not obligated to pay premiums
for such insurance that are, in the good faith determination of the Board of Directors of the Company,
unreasonable for the Company to undertake.

Stock-Based Plans

Employee Stock Incentive Plans. At the Company’s 2003 annual meeting, the shareholders approved the
2003 Plan, which was subsequently amended in February 2004. The purpose of the 2003 Plan is to enable the
Company and its subsidiaries to continue to attract, retain and motivate officers, employees and non-employee
directors by providing incentives directly linked to the profitability of the Company’s businesses and increases in
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shareholder value by providing the Company with the ability to grant stock options and stock appreciation rights
to employees, to pay performance-based annual bonuses to employees, and to make automatic grants of stock
options to non-employee directors.

Currently, the Company grants options under the 2003 Plan and under the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation
2001 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2001 Stock Incentive Plan”), which was approved by the Company’s
shareholders at the Company’s 2001 annual meeting. Following such approval, no further grants may be made
under the Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A. and Tommy Hilfiger (Eastern Hemisphere) Limited 1992 Stock Incentive
Plans (the “1992 Stock Incentive Plans”; and together with the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2003 Plan, the
“Employee Stock Incentive Plans”). Grants previously made under the 1992 Stock Incentive Plans remain
outstanding in accordance with their terms. The Company expects to continue to make grants under its 2001
Stock Incentive Plan while Ordinary Shares remain available thereunder.

The 2001 Stock Incentive Plan authorizes the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights related to
stock options and restricted stock to officers, employees and directors of the Company and its subsidiaries with
respect to up to 3,500,000 Ordinary Shares (subject to certain adjustments as provided in the plan); provided that
no more than 350,000 of those shares may be awarded pursuant to grants of restricted stock. No participant under
the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan may be granted awards covering in excess of 700,000 Ordinary Shares in any
fiscal year of the Company. '

The 2001 Stock Incentive Plan is administered by the Company’s Compensation Committee. Awards under
the plan are subject to such terms and conditions as may be determined by the Compensation Committee and
specified in the applicable award agreement; provided that any stock option or related stock appreciation right
must have an exercise price of not less than fair market value at, and may not be exercisable more than 10 years
after, the date of grant. An award agreement may provide for acceleration or immediate vesting in the event of a
change of control of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Mr. Hilfiger is not eligible for grants under the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan.

The 2003 Plan authorizes the grant of stock options and stock appreciation rights related to stock options to
officers, employees and non-employee directors of the Company and its subsidiaries with respect to up to
3,500,000 Ordinary Shares (subject to certain adjustments as provided in the plan). No participant under the 2003
Plan may be granted awards covering in excess of 700,000 Ordinary Shares in any fiscal year of the Company.

The 2003 Plan is administered by the Company’s Compensation Committee. Awards under the plan are
subject to such terms and conditions as may be determined by the Compensation Committee and specified in the
applicable award agreement; provided that any stock option or related stock appreciation right must have an
exercise price of not less than fair market value at, and may not be exercisable more than 10 years after, the date
of grant. Under the 2003 Plan, in the event of a change of control of the Company, unless otherwise provided in
the applicable award agreement or another agreement with a particular participant, unvested stock options and
stock appreciation rights will vest in full and, if the participant’s employment terminates, other than for cause,
within two years following the change of control, his or her vested stock options and stock appreciation rights
will remain exercisable for at least two years or, if shorter, the remainder of their original terms.

Mr. Hilfiger is eligible for grants under the 2003 Plan.

Currently, over half of the full-time émployees of the Company and its subsidiaries are participants in the
Employee Stock Incentive Plans.

Directors Option Plan. In August 1994, the shareholders of the Company approved the Tommy Hilfiger
Corporation Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, which was amended in February 2004 (the “Directors
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Option Plan”). Options for up to 400,000 Ordinary Shares (subject to certain adjustments as provided in the plan)
may be granted under the Directors Option Plan. Each director who is not an officer or employee of the Company
or any subsidiary of the Company (a “Non-Employee Director”) receives an initial stock option to purchase
20,000 Ordinary Shares, and subsequent annual grants of options to purchase 4,000 Ordinary Shares (the
“Annual Option Grant”), in each case at an exercise price equal to the fair market value at the date of grant.

The Directors Option Plan is administered by the Company’s Compensation Committee. However, grants of
stock options to participants under the Directors Option Plan and the amount, nature and timing of the grants are
not subject to.the determination of such committee.

The term of each stock option granted under the Directors Option Plan is 10 years unless earlier terminated by
termination of the director status of a Non-Employee Director, and the stock options granted prior to February 2,
2004, are exercisable in equal installments over five years from the date of grant. Grants made under the Directors
Option Plan on or after February 2, 2004, are fully exercisable on the anniversary of the date of grant.

The Directors Option Plan expired on December 31, 2004. Following the expiration of the Directors Option
Plan, stock options will be granted to Non-Employee Directors under the 2003 Plan. Under the 2003 Plan, each
Non-Employee Director receives an initial stock option to purchase 20,000 Ordinary Shares, and subsequent
annual grants of options to purchase 4,000 Ordinary Shares, in each case at an exercise price equal to the fair
market value at the date of grant.

The 2003 Plan is administered by the Company’s Compensation Committee. Hovx‘/ever, grants of stock
options to Non-Employee Directors under the 2003 Plan and the amount, nature and timing of the grants are not
subject to the determination of such committee. ‘

The term of each stock option granted under the 2003 Plan is 10 years unless earher terminated by
termination of the director status of a Non-Employee Director, and the stock options granted are fully exercisable
on the anniversary of the date of grant. The 2003 Plan expires in December 31, 2013,

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
The Company’s Compensation Commmee consists of Ms. DeVard who is the Chmr Mr. Baeza and
Mr. Sze.

ATHL-Pepe Limited, a BVI corporation (collectively with its predecessors and certain of its affiliates,
“AIHL”), is owned 22.5% by Mr. Hilfiger, Honorary Chairman of the Board, Principal Designer and'a Director
of the Company, and 7.5% by Mr. Horowitz, formerly Non-Executive Chalrman of the Board and a Director of

the Company.

During the Company’s last fiscal year, Messts. Hiifiger and Horowitz were executlve ofﬁcers and/or
directors of ATHL (whlch has no Compensation Committee).

See “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.”

63




ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth data as of November 1, 2005 concerning the beneficial ownership of Ordinary
Shares by (i) the persons known to the Company to beneficially own more than 5% of the outstanding Ordinary
Shares, (ii) all directors and nominees and each Named Executive Officer and (iii) all directors and executive
officers as a group.

Amount Percent of
Beneficially Owned  Class ()

Brandes Investment Partners, LP. @ .. .o . 5,238,867 5.7%

11988 El Camino Real, Suite 500

San Diego, CA 92130
FMR Corp. @ .. i 9,621,080 10.5%

- 82 Devonshire Street :

Boston, MA 02109
Iridian Asset Management LLC® . ............ ... .. .. ..., e 4,629,600 5.0%

276 Post Road West ' ' o

Wesport, CT 06680-4704 . _ ) ‘
Lord, Abbett & Co. O L .. i e e 11,037,487 12.2%

90 Hudson Street

Jersey Street, NJ 07302 o ~
Ziff Asset Management, LP.©® ... ... ... . 5,674,730 6.2%

283 Greenwich Avenue : '

Greenwich, CT 06830
Directors and Named Executive Offiéeyrs: v ‘ ,
Thomas T HIIGEr ..o vttt e S 3,968,548 43%
Joel J. Horowitz ........ T AU 516,182 *
David F. Dyer ... ... SR S 500,001 *
Mario L. Baeza . ... i e e [ 20,000® *
JerriL.DeVard . ... e R 20,000® - ¥
Clinton V. Silver ..............c.cv... P 16,400® *
RObert T T, SzZ€ . oot i e e e e e e 16,800® *
Robert Rosenblatt . ............coovvereennnn... e 56,2506 *
Theo KiON oottt e e . 25,0000 *
Joel H. Newman ... .. e e e 409,00001 *
All directors and executive officers as a group (13 persons) ................... . 5,773,18109 6.3%

*  Lessthan 1%. ' , :
(M Shares outstanding with respect to each person includes the right to acquire beneficial ownership of ‘
. Ordinary Shares pursuant to currently exercisable stock options, if any, held by such person under Company
stock option plans. See footnotes, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 12. For purposes of this table, “currently exercisable”
stock options includes options becoming vested and exercisable within 60 days from November 1, 2005.

@  Information based on Schedule 13G, dated May 18, 2005, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) by Brandes Investment Partners, L.P (“Brandes”) and certain of its contro! person
affiliates. According to the Schedule 13G, Brandes, an investment adviser, had shared dispositive power
over 5,238,867 of the shares and shared voting power over 4,960,669 of the shares.
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®  Information based on Amendment No. 5 to Schedule 13G, dated February 14, 2005, filed with the SEC by
FMR Corp. (“FMR”). According to the Schedule 13G, FMR, a parent holding company, had sole dispositive
power over all of the shares and sole voting power over none of the shares.

4 Information based on Schedule 13G, dated February 8, 2005, filed with the SEC by and on behalf of Iridian
Asset Management LLC, The Governor and Company of the Bank of Ireland, IBI Interfunding,
Banclreland/First Financial, Inc., and BIAM (US) Inc. (collectively, the “Reporting Persons”). According to
the Schedule 13G, the Reporting Persons had shared dispositive power and shared voting power over all of
the shares.

®  Information based on Amendment No. 2 to Schedule 13G, dated February 2, 20035, filed with the SEC by -
Lord, Abbett. & Co. (“Lord, Abbett”). According to the Schedule 13G, Lord, Abbett, an investment adviser,
had sole dispositive power and sole voting power over all of the shares.

®  Information based on Schedule 13G, dated September 13, 2005, filed with the SEC by and on behalf of Ziff
Asset Management, L. P., PBK Holdings, Inc. and Philip B. Korsant (collectively, the “reporting persons”).
According to the Schedule 13G, the reporting persons had shared dispositive power and shared voting
power over all of the shares. ‘

(M Issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options under the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation
2001 Stock Incentive Plan and the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2003 Incentive Compensation Plan.

®  TIssuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options under the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation
Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan and the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2003 Incentive
Compensation Plan.

®  Issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options under the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation
2003 Incentive Compensation Plan.

10 Issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options under the Tommy Hllflger Corporauon
2001 Stock Incentive Plan.

(L Issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options under the Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A. and
Tommy Hilfiger (Eastern Hemisphere) Limited 1992 Stock Incentive Plans and the Tommy Hilfiger
Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive Plan.

(2 Includes 1,288,451 Ordinary Shares issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable stock options held
by all directors and executive officers under the Tommy Hilfiger U.S.A. and Tommy Hilfiger (Eastern
Hemisphere) Limited 1992 Stock Incentive Plans, the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2001 Stock Incentive
Plan, the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2003 Incentive Compensation Plan, and the Tommy Hilfiger
Corporation Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Certain relationships and transactions between the Company and certain directors and executive officers of
the Company and certain of their affiliates are described below. See “Executive Compensation—Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” for a complete description of the interests and relationships of
such directors and executive officers in and with these affiliates.

THLI is party to a geographic license agreement for Japan with Tommy Hilfiger Japan Corporation
(“THJC”). Messts. Hilfiger and Horowitz indirectly own a minority equity interest in THJC. Under the license
agreement, THIC pays THLI a royalty based on a percentage of the value of licensed products sold by it. Subject
to certain exceptions, alil products sold by or through THJC must be purchased through THEH or TH USA
pursuant to buying agency agreements. Under these agreements, THEH and TH USA are paid a buying agency
commission based on a percentage of the cost of products sourced through them. Pursuant to these arrangements,
royalties and buying agency commissions totaled $6,310,000 during fiscal 2005.

Messrs. Hilfiger and Horowitz indirectly hold a minority equity interest in Pepe Jeans SL, which serves as
TH Europe’s sales and collection agent in Spain. In fiscal 2005, commissions and fees paid by TH Europe
pursuant to these arrangements totaled $11,184,000. :

Pursuant to the indemnification provisions of the applicable Articles of Association and by-laws of the
Company and its subsidiaries, as well as indemnification agreements entered into between THC and its officers
and directors, the Company has been paying the legal fees and expenses of certain officers and directors of the
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Company and its subsidiaries that are incurred in connection with the USAO investigation and related class
action lawsuits, subject to undertakings by the individuals to reimburse such amounts in the event it is ultimately
determined that they are not entitled to indemnification. The following 1s a list of the Company’s directors and

- officers that have received advancement of their legal fees in excess of $60,000 for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2005 and the amount advanced as of such date: (i) Mr. Hilfiger: $150 220; (ii) Mr. Horowitz:
$115,387; (iil) Mr. Dyer: $161,008; (iv) Mr. Scirocco: $ 243,216. As a condition to the payment by TH USA of -
such expenses (including attorneys’ fees), each director and officer receiving such advances, has signed an
undertaking to repay to TH USA any amounts advanced to him/her if it shall ultimately be determined that they
are not entitled to be indemnified by TH USA or that the amount advanced to them exceeds the indemnification
to which they are entitled as authorized by the By-Laws of TH USA or under applicable law. These amounts
have been expensed and are included in SG&A expenses.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors reviews transactions between the Company and its affiliates
to seek to provide that such transactions are on terms which are no less favorable as a whole to the Company than
could be obtained from unaffiliated parties. :

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Set forth below are the (i) audit fees, (ii) audit-related fees, (iii) tax fees, and @iv) ali other fees billed to the
Company by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”), the Company’s independent auditor, for professional
services for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

2005 2004
Audit Fees (0 ..o oo $4.278,600  $727,317
Audit Related Fees @ ... ... $ 561,500 $ 33,242
Tax Fees® ...... PR TR $1,359,900  $968,519

AllOtherFees ... ... ... i . —_ —_

(M Includes fees billed by PwC in connection with the audit of the Company’s financial statements, the review
of the financial statements included in the Company s Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Sarbanes-Oxley
compliance testing.

@ Includes fees billed by PwC for certain due diligence procedures for the years ended March 31, 2005 and
2004.

©®  Tax fees consist of fees for tax consultation and tax compliance services. These fees 1nclude tax filing and
comphance fees of $1,100,000 for the year ended March 31, 2005 and $792,873 for the year ended
March 31, 2004.

The Audit Committee’s charter provides that the Audit Committee shall pre-approve all auditing services
and permitted non-audit services (including the fees and terms thereof) to be performed for the Company by its
independent auditors, subject to the de minimis exceptions for non-audit services described in
Section 10A®)(1)(B) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 which are approved by the Audit Committee prior
to completion of the audit. The Audit Committee may form and delegate authority to subcommittees consisting
of one or more members when appropriate, including the authority to grant pre-approvals of audit and permitted
non-audit services, provided that decisions of such subcommittee to grant pre-approvals shall be presented to the
full Audit Committee at the next scheduled Audit Committee meeting. In the fiscal year ended March 31, 2005,
100% of the audit-related fees, tax fees and all other fees were approved by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee considered whether the provision of non-audit services by PwC is compatible thh
maintaining PwC’s independence with respect to the Company and determined that to be the case.
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PART v

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Index to Financial Statements and Financial S_tatement_Schedules
(a).1. Financial Stettements | :
The followmg consolidated financial statements of the Company are included in Item 8:
’Consohdated Statements of Operatrons for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
. Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 2005 and 2004
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders Equity for the fiscal years ended March 31,
2005,-2004 and 2003

Notes:to Consolidated Financial Statements

(a) 2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
All other schedules have been omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they are required

or because the required information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto. -

(a) 3. Exhibits’ ~

Exhibit
Number ' _Dﬂri_m ‘
3. — ' Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association of THC, as amended (previously filed
as Exhibit 3 to THC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004
o and incorporated hereln by reference).
31 — . Amendment to the Artrc]es of Association of THC (prevrously filed as Exhibit 3 to THC’s

Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2003 and incorporated
herein by reference). -

41 — | Indenture, dated as of May 1, 1998, among TH USA, as Issuer, THC, as Guarantor, and The
Chase Manhattan Bank as Trustee (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to THC’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

42 — Forms of TH USA 6.50% Note due 2003 and 6.85% Note due 2008 (previously filed as Exhibit
: 4.2 to THC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference). :

43 —  Form of TH USA 9% Bond due 2031 (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to THC’s Current Report
‘ on Form 8-K dated November 28, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).

44 — . Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance, dated January 31, 2005, by and
‘ among THUSA; JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as resigning Trustee, and Wilmington Trust
Company, as successor Trustee. :

*10.1 — TH USA 1992 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
Registration No 1333-96011 and incorporated herein by reference)

*10.2 — THEH 1992 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (previously ﬂled as Exhrblt 42to .
Registration No. 333-96011 and incorporated herein by reference).

*103  — THC 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (previously filed as Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy
Statement dated September 21, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference).
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Exhibit
Number

*10.4

*10.5

*10.6

*10.7

*10.8

*¥10.9

*10.10

*10.11

#10.12

*10.13

*10.14

*10.15

*10.16

*10.17

*10.18

Description

THC Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to
Registration No. 33-88906 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment No.1 to the THC Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to THC’s Quarterly Report on Form.10-Q for the quarterly period ended
December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

The Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2003 Incentive Compensation Plan (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to THC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment No. 1 to the Tommy Hilfiger Corporation 2003 Incentive Compensation Plan
{(previously filed as Exhibit A to THC’s Proxy Statement dated September 24, 2003 and
incorporated herein by reference).

TH USA Supplemental Executive Incentive Compensation Plan (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.8 to THC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004
and incorporated herein by reference).

TH USA Voluntary Deferred Compensatioﬁ Plan, amended and restated as of January 1, 2003
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.6 to THC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

TH USA Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, amended and restated as of January 1, 2003,
as amended (previously filed as Exhibit 10.7 to THC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment No. 2 to the TH USA Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, amended and
restated as of January 1, 2003, as amended (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by
reference).

Amendment No. 3, dated October 31,2005, to the THUSA Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan, as amended and restated as of January 1, 2003, as amended.

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1992, between TH USA
and Thomas J. Hilfiger (previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Reglstratlon No. 33-48587 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Waivér of Certain Payments, dated as of June 29, 2001, by Thomas J. Hilfiger (previously filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to THC’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 6, 2001 and incorporated
herein by reference).

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1992, between TH USA
and Joel J. Horowitz (the “Horowitz Employment Agreement”) (previously filed as Exhibit 10.4
to Registration No. 33-48587 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment, dated as of March 8, 1994, to the Horowitz Employment Agreement (previously
filed as Exhibit 7 to THC’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended March 31,
1994 and incorporated herein by reference).

Amendment No. 2, dated as of August 7, 1998, to the Horowitz Employment Agreement
(previously filed as Exhibit 10(b) to THC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended September 30, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).

Waiver of Certain Payments, dated as of June 29, 2001, by Joel J. Horowitz (previously filed as
Exhibit 10.4 to THC’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 6, 2001 and incorporated herein
by reference).
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Exhibit
Number

*10.19

*10.20
*10.21
*10.22

*10.23

*10.24
*10.25
*10.26

*10.27
*10.28

10.29

*10.30

*10.31

*10.32

Description

Arﬁendment dated August 3, 2003, to the Horowitz Employment Agreement (previously filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to THC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly penod ended
June 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement betwc:en THC, TH USA and Joel Horowitz, dated April 1, 2004
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 5, 2004 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement between THC, TH USA and David F. Dyer, dated August 3, 2003
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to THC’s Quarterly Report on From 10-Q for the quarterly

- period ended June 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Waiver of Certain Payments Under Employment Agreement, by and among THC, THUSA and
David F. Dyer, dated August 10, 2005 (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated August 12, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2000, between TH USA and Joel H. Newman (the
“Newman Employment Agreement”) (previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to THC’s Annual

- Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001 and incorporated herein by

reference).

Amendment No. 1, dated May 7, 2003, to the Newman Employment Agreement (previously

. filed as Exhibit 10.15 to THC’s- Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
- March 31, 2003 and mcorporated herein by reference).-

Amendment No. 2, dated December 11, 2003, to the Newman Employment Agreement
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended December 31, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Letter Agreement by and between Robert Rosenblatt and THUSA, dated November 4, 2004
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended December 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

Letter Agreement by and between Theo Killion and THUSA, dated March 26, 2004.

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between THC and its officers and directors
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 6, 2005 and
incorporated herein by reference).

Credit Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2002 (the “Credit Agreement”), among THC, as
Guarantor, TH USA, as Borrower, the several Lenders from time to time parties thereto, Fleet

National Bank, as Syndication Agent, Wachovia Bank National Association and HSBC Bank
USA, as Documentation Agents, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent (previously

filed as Exhibit 10 to THC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June

30, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference).
First Amendment and Waiver of the Credit Agreement, dated as of November 16, 2004, by and

f among THC, THUSA the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to
time as parties thereto (the “Lenders”), and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent

(previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to THC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly

period ended December 31, 2004 and incorporated herein by reference).

Restated First Amendment and Waiver of the Credit Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2005,
by and among THC, THUSA, the Lenders, and IPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative
Agent.

Second Restated Amendment and Waiver of the Credit Agreement, dated March 9, 2005, by and
among THC, THUSA, the Lenders, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Administrative Agent.
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Exhibit
Number

*10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

11.
12.1
21.

23.
31.1

31.2

321
322

Description

$150,000,000 Credit Agreement, dated April 19, 2003, by and among THC, as Guarantor;
THUSA, as Borrower; the several lenders from time to time party thereto; Wachovia Bank,
National Association, as Syndication Agent; Fleet National Bank, as Documentation Agent; and
JPMorgan Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 22, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).
Trademark Agreement, dated June 30, 1992, between Thomas J. Hilfiger and Tommy Hilfiger,
Inc. (previously filed as Exhibit 10.15 to Registration No. 33-48587 and incorporated herein by
reference).

License Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2001, between THLI and THIC (portions of this
exhibit, which have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission, have -
been omitted pursuant to an order of the Commission granting confidential treatment)
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.19 to THC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2001 and incorporated heiein by reference). '

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2001, by and among THC, THEH and TH
Europe Holdings (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
July 6, 2001 and incorporated herein by reference) :

Guarantee, dated as of June 29, 2001, by ATHL in favor of THC and THEH (previously filed as

. Exhibit 10.2 to THC’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 6, 2001 and incorporated herein

by reference).

Contract, dated July 14, 2004, by and between Tommy Hilfiger 485 Fifth, Inc., as Seller and
Park & 5% Property LL.C, as Purchaser (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s Quarterly

- Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2004 and incorporated

herein by reference).

Sale-Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2005, by and between THUSA, as Seller, and
25 West 39th Street Realty, LLC, as Purchaser (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to THC’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 25, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference).

Statement re: Computation of Per Share Earnings.
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Subsidiaries of THC.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 (a) or Rule 15d-14 (a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™).

Certification of the principal financial officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 (a) or Rule 15d-14 (a) of
the Exchange Act.

Certification of the principal executive officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
Certification of the principal financial officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

*  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

During the quarter ended March 31, 2005, the Company submitted the following Current Reports on Form §-K
with the Securities and Exchange Commission:

(1) The Company submitted a Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 2, 2005, describing its preliminary
pretax financial results for the third quarter ended December 31, 2004.

(2) The Company submitted a Current Report on Form 8-K, dated February 3, 2005, announcing the
appointment of Quentin Walsh as Senior Vice President-Corporate Controller (principal accounting officer)
of the Company.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION
/s/ DaviDF. DYER

David F. Dyer
Chief Executive Officer and President

November 18, 2005

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

/s/  Taomas J. HILFIGER Honorary Chairman of the Board, November 18, 2005
(Thomas J. Hilfiger) Principal Designer and Director ’
/s/ DaviDp F. DYER Chief Executive Officer, President and November 18, 2005
{David F. Dyer) Director (principal executive
‘ officer)
/s/  MAaRIO L. BAEZA Director November 18, 2005

(Mario L. Baeza)

/s/ JERRI L. DEVARD ' Director November 18, 2005
(Jerri L. DeVard)

/s{ CLINTON V. SILVER Director November 18, 2005
(Clinton V. Silver)

/s/ ROBERT T.T. SZE Director November 18, 2005
(Robert T.T. Sze)

/s/ JOSEPH SCIROCCO Chief Financial Officer, Executive November 18, 2005
(Joseph Scirocco) Vice President and Treasurer
(principal financial officer)

/s/  QUENTIN WALsi{ Senior Vice President and Corporate November 18, 2005
(Quentin Walsh) Controller (principal accounting
officer)
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TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

~A COL.B COL.C COL.D COL.E
ADDITIONS -
1 )]
Balance at Chargedto Charged to Cumulative Balance at
Beginning  Costs and Other Translation End of
ription of Period Expenses Accounts  Deductions Adjustment Period
<al year ended March 31, 2005
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts{a) ................ 2,330 603 8 262 97 2,777
AllowanceforReturns .............ccvvieieven .. 11,757 9,796 4,500 15,976 248 10,325
Tax Valuation AJOWANCES . . ..o vtet i iieienenn 48,048 (16,187) — — — 31,861
:¢cal year ended March 31, 2004
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts{a) ................ 1,929 494 8 270 168 2,330
AllowanceforReturns . ........... ... .. it 22,777 3,284 3,998 18,806 504 11,757
Tax Valuation Allowances .. .............coovuen... 48,014 34 —_ — —_ 48,048
scal year ended March 31, 2003
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts{a) ................ 2,373 (180) — 584 320 1,929
Allowance forRetuIns . ......c.oviiniiiinennns 6,458 25,656 3,383 13,391 671 22,777
Tax Valuation Allowances .................... e 11,000 37,014 — — —_ 48,014

) As restated, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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TOMMY HILFIGER CORPORATION
COMPUTATION OF NET INCOME PER ORDINARY SHARE
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

EXHIBIT 11

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
March 31, March 31, March 31,
2005 2004 2003
(as restated) (as restated)
VANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION
WSIC
eighted average shares outstanding ... ... ottt e 91,683 90,692 90,387
AANCOME (L0SS) .« ..ottt $85,651  $130,820 $(518,788)
I Share AmOUNt L . .. o e $ 093 $ 144 $ (574
iLUTED
‘eighted average shares outstanding . ... ... i e 91,683 50,692 90,387
et effect of dilutive stock options based on the treasury stock method using average market
5] (oL P 582 637 —
otal L. e e 92,265 91,329 90,387
etincome (I0SS) ... it e e $85,651 $130,820 $(518,788)
ErShare AmMOUNL . . . ... ittt et e e e e $ 093 $ 143 $ (574
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EXHIBIT 12.1

Tommy Hilfiger Corporation
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(000's, except for ratios)

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
: (a) (a) (@) ()
roings ,
Income before income taxes and change in accounting principle ... .. 89,585 169,742 . (71,905) 155,322 171,158
Add fixed charges (asperbelow) ............. ... ... .. ... .. 46,812 47,190 58,569 52,007 48,718
justed Earnings ........... . ... oo A $136,397 $216,932 $(13,336) $207,329 $219,876
:ed Charges
Interest expense (b) ......... e 29,201 32,361 44,277 41,265 41,412
+ Interest portion of rentexpense (€} .. ........... il 17,611 14,829 14,292 10,742 7,306
tal Fixed Charges .. ...ttt e $ 46,812 $ 47,190 $ 58,569 $ 52,007 $ 48,718

:tio of Earnings to Fixed Charges .............................. 291 4.60 0.23)d) 399 451

) As restated, see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

) Interest expense includes interest on long term debt, short term borrowings and amortization of capitalized loan costs.
) One-third of ail rent expense is deemed to be the interest portion.

)} Infiscal 2003, earnings were insufficient to cover fixed charges by $71,905.
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